Public Document Pack

James Ellis
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

MEETING : DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
VENUE : COUNCIL CHAMBER, WALLFIELDS, HERTFORD
DATE : WEDNESDAY 23 OCTOBER 2024

TIME : 7.00 PM

PLEASE NOTE TIME AND VENUE

This meeting will be live streamed on the Council’s Youtube page:
https://www.youtube.com/user/EastHertsDistrict

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE

Councillor S Watson (Chair)

Councillors R Buckmaster, V Burt, R Carter, S Copley, | Devonshire,
J Dunlop, Y Estop, G Hill, A Holt, S Marlow and T Stowe

Substitutes

Conservative Group: Councillors S Bull and T Deffley
Green: Councillors M Connolly and V Smith
Liberal Democrat: Councillor M Adams

Labour: Councillor C Redfern

(Note: Substitution arrangements must be notified by the absent Member
to the Committee Chairman or the Executive Member for Planning and
Growth, who, in turn, will notify the Committee service at least 7 hours
before commencement of the meeting.)

CONTACT OFFICER: PETER MANNINGS
01279 502174
PETER.MANNINGS@EASTHERTS.GOV.UK

This agenda has been printed using 100% recycled paper

www.eastherts.gov.uk


https://www.youtube.com/user/EastHertsDistrict
mailto:peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

A Member, present at a meeting of the Authority, or any committee, sub-
committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the Authority, with a
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) in any matter to be considered or
being considered at a meeting:

o must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the
meeting;

o must not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the
meeting;

) must disclose the interest to the meeting, whether registered or
not, subject to the provisions of section 32 of the Localism Act
2011;

o if the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending
notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within
28 days;

o must leave the room while any discussion or voting takes place.

Public Attendance

East Herts Council welcomes public attendance at its meetings and
meetings will continue to be live streamed and

webcasted. For further information, please email
democraticservices@eastherts.gov.uk or call the Council on 01279
655261 and ask to speak to Democratic Services.

The Council operates a paperless policy in respect of agendas at
committee meetings and the Council will no longer be providing spare
copies of Agendas for the Public at Committee Meetings. The mod.gov
app is available to download for free from app stores for electronic
devices. You can use the mod.gov app to access, annotate and keep all
committee paperwork on your mobile device.

Visit https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/article/35542/Political-

Structure for details.




Audio/Visual Recording of meetings

Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its
Committees using whatever, non-disruptive, methods you think are
suitable, which may include social media of any kind, such as tweeting,
blogging or Facebook. However, oral reporting or commentary is
prohibited. If you have any questions about this please contact
Democratic Services (members of the press should contact the Press
Office). Please note that the Chairman of the meeting has the discretion
to halt any recording for a number of reasons, including disruption
caused by the filming or the nature of the business being conducted.
Anyone filming a meeting should focus only on those actively
participating and be sensitive to the rights of minors, vulnerable adults
and those members of the public who have not consented to being
filmed.




AGENDA

1. Apologies
To receive apologies for absence.

2. Chairman's Announcements

3. Declarations of Interest

To receive any Members' declarations of interest.

4. Minutes - 18 September 2024 (Pages 5 - 9)

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on
Wednesday 18 September 2024.

5. Planning Applications for Consideration by the Committee
(Pages 10 - 12)

(A) 3/24/0824/HH - Rear Outhouse at 1 Mangrove Drive, Hertford,
Hertfordshire, SG13 8AW _(Pages 13 - 30)

Recommended for Approval.

6. Items for Reporting and Noting (Pages 31 - 168)

(A) Appeals against refusal of Planning Permission/ non-determination.
(B) Planning Appeals Lodged.
(C) Planning Appeals: Inquiry and Informal Hearing Dates.

(D) Planning Statistics.

7. Urgent Business

To consider such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of
the meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration and is not
likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information.



DM

Agenda Item 4

DM

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER,
WALLFIELDS, HERTFORD ON WEDNESDAY
18 SEPTEMBER 2024, AT 7.00 PM

PRESENT: Councillor S Watson (Chair)
Councillors R Buckmaster, M Adams, V Burt,
R Carter, S Copley, I Devonshire, J Dunlop,
Y Estop, A Holt and T Stowe

ALSO PRESENT:

Councillors D Andrews, N Clements,
B Crystall, A Daar, T Deffley, V Glover-Ward

and V Smith

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE:

Jackie Bruce

Neil Button

Steve Fraser-Lim
Peter Mannings

James Mead
Kay Mead

Martin Plummer

Section 106
Programme
Manager

Team Leader
(Strategic
Applications -
Development
Management)
Principal Planning
Officer
Committee Support
Officer

Planning Officer
Principal Planning
Officer

Service Manager
(Development
Management and
Enforcement)

Page 5



DM

145

146

147

148

DM

Sara Saunders - Head of Planning
and Building
Control

Victoria Wilders - Legal Services
Manager

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:

Matthew Armstrong - HCC Highways

APOLOGIES

Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillors
Hill and Marlow. It was noted that Councillor Adams was
substituting for Councillor Marlow.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Chairman welcomed everyone present at the meeting
and those that there watching online. He introduced the
Officers and reminded everyone to use the microphones
for the webcast.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES - 19 JUNE 2024

Councillor Devonshire proposed and Councillor Dunlop
seconded, a motion that the Minutes of the meeting held
on 19 June 2024 be confirmed as a correct record and
signed by the Chair.

After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the
motion was declared CARRIED.

Page 6



DM

149

DM

RESOLVED - that the Minutes of the meeting
held on 19 June 2024, be confirmed as a correct
record and signed by the Chair.

3/23/1642/FUL - ERECTION OF 118 DWELLINGS, INCLUDING
ACCESS ROADS, CYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN ROUTES, CYCLE
AND CAR PARKING, PUBLIC OPEN SPACE, LANDSCAPING,
TREE PROTECTION MEASURES, SUSTAINABLE URBAN
DRAINAGE SYSTEM (SUDS) AND ASSOCIATED ANCILLARY
STRUCTURES AT LAND WEST OF WADESMILL ROAD
(HERT4), HERTFORD

The Head of Planning and Building Control recommended
that in respect of application 3/23/1642/FUL, planning
permission be granted subject to a Section 106 legal
agreement and subject to the conditions set out at the
end of the report.

The planning case officer summarised the application and
set out in detail the key issues for Members to consider.
He referred in particular to the HERT4 policy and
commented on the masterplan adoption framework. He
detailed the planning history of the site and referred
Members to the late representations.

Veronica Fraser and John Howson addressed the
Committee in objection to the application. Kim Rickards
spoke for the application as the applicant. Councillors
Crystall, Daar and Smith addressed the committee as the
East Herts local ward Members.

The Committee debated the application and asked
questions of the planning officers and the HCC highways
officer. The officers responded to the questions raised.

Councillor Watson (Chair) proposed, and Councillor

Devonshire seconded, a motion for a 5-minute
adjournment from 21:25 to 21:30. After being put to the

Page 7



DM

DM

meeting and a vote taken, the motion was declared
CARRIED.

The Legal Services Manager reminded Members that they
should not discuss the application with anyone during the
5-minute adjournment period.

RESOLVED - that the meeting be adjourned for 5
minutes from 21:25 to 21:30.

The Committee continued to debate the application and
asked further questions of the planning officers and the
HCC highways officer.

At 21:46, Councillor Watson (chair) proposed, and
Councillor Copley seconded, a motion that the meeting
would continue beyond 10 pm and until the agenda was
concluded.

After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the
motion was declared CARRIED.

RESOLVED - that the meeting continue beyond
10 pm and until the agenda was concluded.

Councillor Estop proposed, and Councillor Adams
seconded, a motion that application 3/23/1642/FUL be
granted planning permission, subject to a section 106
legal agreement and the conditions set out at the end of
the report, and also subject to the changes to conditions
and the Section 106 agreement that had been raised
during the meeting.

After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the
motion was declared CARRIED.

RESOLVED - that application 3/23/1642/FUL be
granted planning permission, subject to a section
106 legal agreement and the conditions set out at

Page 8



DM DM

the end of the report, and also subject to the
changes to conditions and the Section 106
agreement that had been raised during the
meeting.

150  ITEMS FOR REPORTING AND NOTING

RESOLVED - that the following reports be noted:

(A) Appeals against refusal of planning permission
/ non-determination;

(B) Planning Appeals lodged;

(C) Planning Appeals: Inquiry and Informal
Hearing Dates; and

(D) Planning Statistics.

151 URGENT BUSINESS

There was no urgent business.

The meeting closed at 9.52 pm

(@1 g 111 1271 o TR

D 1)

Page 9



Agenda ltem 5

East Herts Council Report
Development Management Committee

Date of Meeting: 23 October 2024

Report by: Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building
Control
Report title: Planning Applications for Consideration by the
Committee

Ward(s) affected: All

Summary

° This report is to enable planning and related applications and
unauthorised development matters to be considered and
determined by the Committee, as appropriate, or as set out for
each agenda item.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE:

A recommendation is detailed separately for each application
and determined by the Committee, as appropriate, or as set out
for each agenda item.

1.0 Proposal(s)

1.1  The proposals are set out in detail in the individual reports.

2.0 Background

2.1 The background in relation to each planning application and
enforcement matter included in this agenda is set out in the
individual reports.

3.0 Reason(s)

3.1 No.

Page 10



4.0 Options

4.1  As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are
appropriate.

5.0 Risks

5.1 As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are
appropriate.

6.0 Implications/Consultations

6.1 As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are
appropriate.

Community Safety
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate.

Data Protection
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate.

Equalities
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate.

Environmental Sustainability
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate.

Financial
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate.

Health and Safety
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate.

Human Resources
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate.

Human Rights
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate.

Legal
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate.

Page 11



Specific Wards
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate.

7.0

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

Background papers, appendices and other relevant
material

The papers which comprise each application/ unauthorised
development file. In addition, the East of England Plan,
Hertfordshire County Council’s Minerals and Waste documents,
the East Hertfordshire Local Plan and, where appropriate, the
saved policies from the Hertfordshire County Structure Plan,

comprise background papers where the provisions of the
Development Plan are material planning issues.

Display of Plans

Plans for consideration at this meeting are available online. An Officer
will be present from 6.30 pm to advise on any plans relating to
schemes on strategic sites. A selection of plans will be displayed
electronically at the meeting. Members are reminded that those
displayed do not constitute the full range of plans submitted for each
matter and they should ensure they view the full range of plans online
prior to the meeting.

All of the plans and associated documents on any of the planning
applications included in the agenda can be viewed at:
https://publicaccess.eastherts.gov.uk/online-applications/

Contact Member Councillor Vicky Glover-Ward, Executive Member

for Planning and Growth
vicky.glover-ward@eastherts.gov.uk

Contact Officer Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building

Control, Tel: 01992 531656
sara.saunders@eastherts.gov.uk

Report Author Peter Mannings, Committee Support Officer,

Page 12

Tel: 01279 502174
peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk



https://publicaccess.eastherts.gov.uk/online-applications/
mailto:jan.goodeve@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:sara.saunders@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk

Agenda Item 5a
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT

Application | 3/24/0824/HH
Number
Proposal Rear outhouse
Location 1 Mangrove Drive, Hertford, Hertfordshire, SG13 8AW
Parish Hertford Town Council
Ward Hertford Castle
Date of Registration of 29 April 2024
Application
Reason for Committee Application has been called in by councillor
Report Rachel Carter due to the size of the
proposed development being extremely
large, that the outbuilding cannot be
described as an extension due to its
location, that the proposal is overbearing to
neighbours, that there is no proposed
planting and there would be a net loss of
biodiversity, that neighbouring trees are
possibly at risk due to potential foundations
and that the proposal is out of character
with the surrounding parkland character of
the area.
Case Officer Lewis Grant
RECOMMENDATION

That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the conditions set out at the
end of this report.

1.0 Summary of Proposal and Main Issues

1.1 The proposal seeks planning permission for the erection of an
outbuilding at the base of the garden.

1.2  The application has been amended from that originally submitted. This
has been done to address comments received from third parties in the
first round of consultation. The revisions altered the roof form of the
proposed development, reduced the overall height, width, and depth,
and altered the fenestration. Third parties have been re-consulted and
comments are summarised later in this report.

1.3  The main considerations for the proposal are:

e Principle of development
Page 13



1.4

1.5

1.6

2.0

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Page 14

Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

e Impact on the character and appearance of the application
dwellinghouse and surrounding area.

e Neighbour amenity including noise impacts.

e Impact on surrounding landscaping.

e  Other matters

The main issue for consideration is whether the proposed
development is appropriate at this site having regard to policies in
the East Herts District Plan 2018 and the National Planning Policy
Framework.

The application is supported by the following plans:

o 2022/1542/2/ Rev 2
o 2022/1542/1/ Rev 2
e Arboricultural Impact Assessment 101949.

All of the plans and documents submitted with the application have
been considered in the preparation of this committee report.

Site Description

The application site is located within the settlement of Hertford and is
occupied by a two-storey detached dwelling with associated garden
space. The dwelling has a long and narrow rear garden which tapers to
the rear and includes a ‘dog leg’ projection forming an ‘L-type’ shape.
There is vehicular parking available on an area of hard standing to the
front of the dwelling. The application site and surrounding area features
several trees, none of which are protected by tree preservation order or
by Conservation Area designation.

Within the garden space to the southeast is a small garage/storage
outbuilding. The Officer site visit confirmed the area of garden, as
outlined in red in the application drawings, contains garden
paraphernalia.

As noted, the application site is not located within the Hertford
Conservation Area and there are also not any listed buildings in the
vicinity. The application site is not included in any Neighbourhood Plan
catchment areas. The site is included in an area designated as a
‘Hertford Green Finger'.

The planning history of the site reveals the property has benefitted from
single storey front and rear extensions as well as a side-facing dormer
window. The officer site visit confirmed that these have been



Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

constructed. In addition, there has recently been a planning application
approved with conditions under reference 3/24/1243/HH for the
‘demolition of the rear study, the erection of 1st floor side and two
storey rear extensions. Construction of front open porch. Installation of
rear Juliet balcony. Alteration to roof form and alterations to
fenestration’.

3.0 Planning History

The following planning history is of relevance to this proposal:
Application Proposal Decision Date
Number

Single storey front and Approved
3/01/2085/FP rear extensions and subjectto | 15.02.2002
dormer window to side. conditions
3/22/0724/CLPO | Erection of outbuilding | ~euse | 01.06.2022
3/23/0500/CLPO | Eréction of garden Refuse | 16.05.2023
outbuilding
3/23/2187/CLPO | New garden building Refuse 16.01.2024
Demolition of rear study.
Erection of 1st floor side
and two storey rear
extensions. Construction | Grant Plan
3/24/1243/HH of front open porch. Permission | 14.08.2024
Installation of rear Juliet | w Conds
balcony. Alteration to roof
form and alterations to
fenestration.

3.1 It should be noted that under permitted development rights under
Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E of The Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015,
outbuildings within the residential curtilage of a dwellinghouse
forming a use incidental to the enjoyment of a dwelling can be
constructed without the need to submit a planning application.

3.2 However, from the above planning history, Members will note that

applications for a certificate of lawfulness have previously been
refused under references 3/22/0724/CLPO, 3/23/0500/CLPO, and
3/23/2187/CLPO. These applications were all for outbuildings in a
similar location and of similar scale to that proposed in this
application. All three applications for a certificate of lawfulness were

refused solely on the basis that the proposed outbuilding was not
Page 15



4.0

4.1

4.2

5.0

5.1

5.2

Page 16

Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

considered to be within the residential curtilage of the application
dwellinghouse.

Main Policy Issues

The following policies in the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) and the adopted East Herts District Plan 2018 (DP) are
considered relevant.

Main Issue NPPF DP
policy
Principle of Development | Section2 | HOU11
Character and Section 12 | HOU11,
Appearance DES4
Neighbour amenity Section 12 | HOU11,
DES4
Trees and Landscaping Section 12 | DES2,
DES3

Other relevant issues are referred to in the ‘Consideration of Issues’
section below.

Summary of Consultee Responses

EHDC Arboricultural/Landscape Advisor

It is advised that the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment has
sufficiently considered the impacts to trees and green infrastructure, in
compliance with policies DES3, NE3 and NE4 of the Local
Development Plan. It is advised that the Arboricultural Report has
assessed the impact of the proposed outbuilding on both on and off-site
trees and outlines that there would be a very minor encroachment of
the nominal Root Protection Areas (RPAs) of 2 off-site trees. The
degree of encroachment is minor and would have a very low impact,
providing the Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) and Tree
Protection Plan (TPP) within the report are adhered to.

Following comments received from a neighbouring property about the
location of tree T7 being incorrect the arboricultural advisor was re-
consulted. It was advised that the temporary scaffolding with planked
ground protection would need to be extended. It was advised that the
construction of the building is proposed to bear on mini-piled



6.0

6.1

7.0

71

7.2

7.3

Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

foundations throughout the design and as such the report shows
sufficient details for foundations with regards to the altered position of
T7.

Hertford Town Council Representations

Objection: Committee objected to this application as they felt that the
scale and size of the building would be overdevelopment of the site. It
was felt that the outhouse is not subservient to the main dwelling and
Committee expressed concern that it could be intended to be sold as a
separate dwelling. Committee also felt that the net loss of biodiversity
due to the loss of garden has not been mitigated.

Summary of Other Representations

The application has been advertised by neighbour consultation with
letters sent to adjacent residents. A press notice and site notice were
also issued.

There were two rounds of consultation for the proposed development.
The second round of consultation following amendments to the scale
and design of the proposed development.

There have been 33 representations received across both rounds of
consultation — 19 in objection, 14 in support. The maijority of objections
are from adjacent neighbours whereas the supporters are from a wider
area. The main reasons for objections across both rounds of
consultation are summarised below:

Size of the proposed development.

Use/Future use of proposed outbuilding.

Noise/Nuisance emanating from the proposed outbuilding.
Overbearing effect to neighbours.

Overlooking opportunities towards neighbours.

Concern over justification of the proposed outbuilding.
Emergency access.

Landscaping/harm to trees.

Concern over separate planning application (3/24/1243/HH).
No Biodiversity Net Gain.

Limited access for the delivery of goods.

Crime and security concerns.

Questions surrounding the accuracy of Arboricultural report due to
position of Silver Birch T7 in 7 Mangrove Drive being inaccurate.

Page 17



Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

7.4  The comments made in support of the proposed development can be
summarised as follows:

Supporting a young athlete’s development.

Small scale of outbuilding with no negative impacts.
Impacts on neighbouring properties has been exaggerated.
The submitted amendments lessen the obtrusiveness of the
proposed outbuilding.

7.5 Councillor Sarah Hopewell:

e The intended location is tucked away and would not obstruct views
from any neighbouring properties.

e The garden is enclosed with no access other than through the main
property.

e The placement of a small shed in the same parcel of land suggests
planning was permitted in the past.

e The purpose of the outbuilding to facilitate a young person’s
sporting career is supported.

Councillor Rachel Carter:

e Size of the proposed development is extremely large.

e The proposed outbuilding cannot be described as an extension due
to its location.

e Overbearing to neighbours.

e No proposed planting and there would be a net loss of biodiversity.

e Neighbouring trees are possibly at risk due to potential
foundations.

e  Out of character with the surrounding parkland character of the
area.

All of the above representations have been taken into account
and considered in the preparation of this report.

8.0 Consideration of Issues

Principle of Development

8.1 The site is located within a residential area of Hertford and therefore the
principle of householder development is acceptable.

8.2  Policies HOU11 and DES4 of the East Herts District Plan 2018 are
most relevant which relate to character, design, and neighbour amenity.
Page 18 In addition, attention must be had to policies DES2 and DES3 which



8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

relate to the impacts on the landscape and landscape features within
and surrounding the application site.

Impact on the character and appearance of the application
dwellinghouse and surrounding area.

The application site is occupied by a two-storey detached
dwellinghouse with associated garden land. There is an area to the
front of the property utilised for the parking of personal vehicles as well
as a rear garden with a long, thin portion and a ‘dog leg’ section to the
end.

The surrounding area on Mangrove Drive and Mangrove Road is
comprised of two-storey detached and semi-detached dwellinghouses
with associated front and rear garden land. Those properties on
Mangrove Road generally benefit from larger front gardens
incorporating driveways and parking areas for several personal
vehicles. The properties on Mangrove Drive, including the application
site, generally have smaller areas to the front, although they still benefit
from areas to park vehicles. Properties on both Mangrove Drive and
Mangrove Road benefit from deep, linear rear gardens.

The area to the south of the application site is known as Oak Grove and
was first developed in the 1970s (LPA reference 3/74/0976/FP) as a
site for 24 detached dwellinghouses with associated amenity areas.
The rear garden areas of these properties, especially those adjoining
the application site are shallower than those on Mangrove Road and
Mangrove Drive. In addition, these properties generally benefit from
boundary treatments in the form of landscaping and close-boarded
fencing which screen the properties from those surrounding them.

The surrounding area benefits from several trees lining the boundaries
of the properties and being dotted throughout the sites. These provide
screening - limiting intervisibility - and contribute to the character and
appearance of the area.

The application site is noted as being within Landscape Character Area
63 “Bayfordbury, Brickendonbury, and Balls Parklands”. The only
reference to the area hosting the application site within the document
(published in 2004) is “some influence along the northern edge from
Hertford’s urban fringe.” The Landscape Character Area’s northern
edge is Mangrove Drive, a small portion of the relatively large area
which strays from the standard of “gently undulating parkland and
estate farmland with large mansions now used for institutional

Page 19



8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

Page 20

Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

purposes”. These features are later described in the same document as
the “Distinctive Features” of Landscape Character Area 63.

The proposed outbuilding would be located to the southwest of the
application site toward the end of a ‘dog leg’ extension to the garden.
The proposed development has a footprint of 54 square metres and
would be situated approximately 2m from the western boundary and
approximately 2.43m from both the northern and southern boundaries.

The proposed development would have a maximum height of 3.7m with
a height of 2.5m at the eaves. Furthermore, the proposed outbuilding
would incorporate hipped ends. The plans indicate the proposal will be
constructed from Wienerberger red facing brickwork, cedar roof
shingles, and would have dark grey aluminium casement windows.

Policy HOU11 of the East Herts District Plan 2018 outlines that
residential outbuildings should be of a size, scale, siting, and design
appropriate to the character, appearance and setting of the existing
dwellinghouse and/or surrounding area. Policy DES4 of the East Herts
District Plan 2018 echoes this and expands upon the point that
development proposals must be of a high standard of design and layout
to reflect and promote local distinctiveness. This would be done through
making the best possible use of available land while respecting or
improving upon the character of the site and acknowledging the design
opportunities and constraints of a site.

There has been concern raised over the size of the proposed
outbuilding with regards to the impact on the character and appearance
of the application site and surrounding area.

The location of the proposed outbuilding is such that it is not visible
from any public land. The siting of the proposed development is
surrounded by residential gardens. The applicant has responded to the
concerns raised by seeking to mitigate the visual impact of the
proposed outbuilding by reducing its scale and using materials similar
to those found in the surrounding area. These amended plans have
been subject to further consultation and concerns remain from third
parties.

Whilst officers acknowledge and have carefully considered the
representations received, having regard to the overall proportions of the
proposed development and the siting in a residential area where
outbuildings are to be expected, the proposed development is not
considered to have any significant impacts on the character and
appearance of the surrounding area.



8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

It is worth noting that a planning application for extensions to the main
dwellinghouse (described above) has been submitted and subsequently
approved throughout the course of the present application. The
cumulative impacts of both proposed developments are not considered
to detrimentally effect the host dwellinghouse or surrounding area.
Taken together, both the proposed outbuilding and proposed
extensions to the main dwellinghouse would not result in the
overdevelopment of the application site.

The development is therefore considered to comply with policies DES4
and HOU11 of the East Herts District Plan 2018 and section 12 of the
NPPF.

Neighbour amenity including noise impacts.

Policy DES4 of the District Plan seeks that proposals do not result in
detrimental impacts to the amenity of future occupiers or neighbouring
residents. As noted above, representations have been received from
neighbouring properties which raise concerns with the impact of the
proposed development on their living conditions. Those representations
have been considered carefully.

62 - 74 Mangrove Road

These properties are located to the east of the application site and are
oriented perpendicular to the long, linear section of rear garden land
belonging to 1 Mangrove Drive. Amongst these properties, it is
considered that only numbers 70, 72, and 74 would have visibility
toward the proposed outbuilding. The building lines of these three
properties is approximately 50-55 metres from the proposed outbuilding
and there are trees, hedging, and fencing situated between. A site visit
confirmed that intervisibility between the location for proposed
development and these neighbouring properties was limited. Therefore,
having regard to the existing boundary treatments and screening,
together with the distances between the proposed development and
these neighbouring properties, there is not considered to be any
significant impacts in terms of overbearing effects, overlooking,
overshadowing, or loss of light to these neighbours.

3,5, and 7 Mangrove Drive

Page 21



8.18

8.19

8.20

8.21

8.22

8.23

Page 22

Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

These properties are situated along the same road (Mangrove Drive) as
the application site and benefit from long, linear rear gardens running
parallel to that of the application site. These gardens directly adjoin the
‘dog leg’ portion of the application site where the proposed building is to
be sited. There are several trees in this area which provide screening,
as well as close-boarded boundary fences. The proposed outbuilding
would be situated approximately 33 metres from the rear building line of
these properties. In addition, the proposed development will be set
away from the boundary with these neighbours with a hipped roof
sloping away from the boundary. A high level window faces the
northern boundary and will be obscure glazed and non-opening below
1.7 metres.

Having regard to those considerations, the proposed development is
not considered to result in any significant overbearing effects,
overlooking, overshadowing, or loss of light to these neighbours.

20 Oak Grove

This property is located to the south of the application site and would be
the closest in proximity to the proposed development. There would be
approximately 16.5 metres distance between the flank building line of
the proposed development and the rear elevation of this neighbouring
dwellinghouse. There is currently a 1.7m close-boarded boundary fence
situated between the sites. It is worth noting that the applicant has
advised of the intention to plant additional planting along the boundary
with numbers 18 and 20 Oak Grove to further increase the screening
between the sites.

The outbuilding would be situated approximately 2.43m from the
common boundary with this neighbour which, together with the hipped
roof, will reduce the visual impact of the proposed building from this
neighbour.

It should be noted that, during the course of the Officer site visit,
landscape features along the northern boundary of 20 Oak Grove were
being removed.

Whilst Officers acknowledge that the proposed outbuilding will be
visible from this neighbouring dwelling, having regard to the height,
form and siting of the proposed building in relation to the boundary, the
degree of impact is not considered to result in a significant or harmful
overbearing impact or loss of outlook such that would warrant the
refusal of planning permission.



8.24

8.25

8.26

8.27

8.28

8.29

Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

As the application site is located to the north of this neighbour, and the
proposed building includes a hipped roof and is set away from the
boundary there are not considered to be any significant impact in terms
of loss of light or overshadowing impact.

The proposed outbuilding contains one side-facing window oriented
toward this neighbouring dwelling which, from the plans available,
would appear to sit slightly above the fence line. However, the
proposed window is at high level only and is proposed to be obscurely
glazed and unopenable below 1.7m from finished floor level.

18 and 22 Oak Grove

These properties are located to the south of the application site and are
situated on either side of 20 Oak Grove — the closest in proximity to the
proposed development. There would be approximately 19 metres
between the building lines of the proposed outbuilding and the rear
elevations of these neighbours at the closest point. There are currently
1.7m close-boarded boundary fences situated between the sites as well
as screening in the form of landscaping.

The outbuilding would not be situated along the borders of these
neighbouring properties. Furthermore, the proposed outbuilding would
be set back from the site boundary by approximately 2.43 metres and
would have a hipped roof. The proposed development will not, in officer
opinion, result in a harmful overbearing impact.

Furthermore, as the application site is located to the north of these
neighbours, there is not considered to be significant concerns regarding
an overshadowing or loss of light to either of these properties.

Noise-related concerns

There have been several concerns raised within neighbour letters
regarding potential noise from the proposed outbuilding. As the
proposed outbuilding would be for a use ancillary to the main
dwellinghouse, the same restrictions would apply as for other
residential garden use. There has been concern raised regarding the
distance of the proposed outbuilding from the application
dwellinghouse. It must be noted that if residential noise levels are
excessive, this would be a matter for the neighbouring properties to
raise with the Council’'s Environmental Health department who would
have powers to investigate this.

Summary of neighbouring amenity

Page 23



Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

8.30 Overall, for the reasons outlined above, the proposed development is

8.31

8.32

8.33

8.34

Page 24

not considered to cause any unacceptable impacts on the amenity of
neighbouring properties and the proposed development is not
considered to conflict with policy DES4 of the East Herts District Plan
2018.

Impact on Surrounding Landscaping

Concern has been raised surrounding potential impacts the proposed
outbuilding could have on surrounding trees - especially those located
in neighbouring properties. In response to this, an Arboricultural Impact
Assessment was requested by the Local Planning Authority and the
Council’s Arboricultural advisor was consulted on this.

Following this, further concerns were raised within a neighbour letter
over the accuracy of the originally submitted Arboricultural report.
Questions were raised as to whether the position of Silver Birch T7 in 7
Mangrove Drive was accurate. Following the receipt of this neighbour
letter the applicant was contacted and a revised arboricultural report
received. This moves the location of T7 to the position advised in the
neighbour letter, being 4.4 metres from the boundary of 1 Mangrove
Drive. As a result of this repositioning the tree protection measures
identified in the report were also updated.

The Arboricultural Impact Assessment concludes that the outbuilding
can be completed in line with the submitted Arboricultural Method
Statement without (A) harming or removing any sound trees or (B)
having an adverse Root Protection Area impact on existing on/off-site
tree roots. The Arboricultural Impact Assessment was reviewed by the
Council’s Arboricultural advisor who concluded that the proposed
development has sufficiently considered the impacts to trees and green
infrastructure, in compliance with policies DES3, NE3 and NE4 of the
Local Development Plan.

The Council’s Arboricultural advisor acknowledges the very minor
encroachment on the nominal RPAs of off-site trees. It is advised that
the encroachment is minor and would have very low impacts, providing
the Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan are
adhered to. This would include the foundations of the proposed
outbuilding being completed with mini-piles and an above ground floor
slab which would require exploratory excavations to determine the
presence of significant roots.



8.35

8.36

8.37

8.38

8.39

8.40

Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

The Council’s Arboricultural advisor assessed the logistical
requirements of the proposed development in terms of scaffolding
placement, ground protection for access, barrier protection, and the
provision of an above-ground armoured electric cable requiring no
excavations. These were concluded to be suitably addressed within the
Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan.

The Arboricultural advisor has recommended a condition to be attached
to the decision requiring adherence to the Arboricultural Method
Statement and Arboricultural Impact Assessment, including the Tree
Protection Plan.

There is one tree being lopped and topped during the proposed
development (T11-Orchard Apple). This tree has been noted as having
a dead central leader and trunk decay and would not be a material
constraint on development. Furthermore, as noted previously, this tree
is not protected. Whilst the works to the tree is considered to be
acceptable, given the information provided on the plans regarding
proposed landscaping, it is reasonable for further details to be provided
in respect of those landscape details.

In conclusion, subject to the above-mentioned conditions, the proposed
outbuilding is not considered to have any significant impacts on the
existing trees both on and off-site and is not considered to cause any
significant impacts on the arboreal character of the application site or
surrounding area. There is not therefore considered to be conflict with
policies DES2 and DES3 of the East Herts District Plan 2018.

Other Matters

As discussed earlier in this report the land on which the development is
proposed was not, for the purposes of permitted development,
considered to fall within the curtilage of the application site. For the
avoidance of doubt this does not mean that the land is not part of the
residential garden of the application site. This land does form part of the
residential garden of 1 Mangrove Drive and as such the development
can be considered under a householder planning application.

Concern has been raised within neighbour letters over the proposed
outbuilding being contrary to policy DES5 of the East Herts District Plan
due to no natural surveillance of the site. Policy DESS5 is relevant to
developments for new residential or commercial development as
clarified in paragraph 17.8.2 of the preamble to policy DES5, and as
such is not a consideration in the assessment of householder
applications. In any case the proposed development is located in an

Page 25



8.41

8.42

8.43

9.0

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

Page 26

Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

area where it is surrounded by other residential properties and benefits
from natural surveillance.

Concern has also been raised within neighbour letters surrounding
access for emergency vehicles and access during construction. All
access would be through the existing dwellinghouse/site.

Further concern was raised from neighbouring properties and the Town
Council regarding potential loss of biodiversity on the application site
and a degradation of the landscaped character of the surrounding area.
The site is not subject to any Tree Preservation Order and is not within
a Conservation Area, and there are no other constraints on what the
homeowner could do with the trees on their land. Due to the scale of
the current proposal, statutory Biodiversity Net Gain is not required. A
landscaping condition is attached to secure replacement planting on the
site.

Letters from neighbouring properties and the Town Council raised
concerns with the intended and future use of the proposed outbuilding.
The proposed development is for a residential outbuilding to be used for
purposes ancillary to the dwelling. The submitted plans indicate that the
building would be used predominantly as a simulation area for skeet
shooting training. Any future material change of use to the outbuilding
would require planning permission.

Planning Balance and Conclusion

The site is within a built-up residential area of Hertford and in principle,
is an acceptable form of development.

The proposed development would not result in any visual harm to the
character and appearance of either the application dwellinghouse or
surrounding area. This is due to the location of the proposed
development, along with its acceptable scale, and use of materials
similar to those found elsewhere on the application site and in the
surrounding area.

There are not considered to be any unacceptable impacts on
neighbouring amenity from overbearing impacts, loss of outlook,
overshadowing, or loss of privacy. Furthermore, the proposal is for a
residential outbuilding, and it is not considered to result in unacceptable
concerns with regards to the noise impact of the development.

With regard to potential impacts to the on and off-site trees and other
landscaping, subject to the inclusion of the above-mentioned



Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

conditions, there are not considered to be any significant detrimental
impacts.

9.5 Accordingly, it is considered that the proposal accords with the relevant
policies and sections of the East Herts District Plan 2018 (as noted in
this report) and the NPPF. No material planning considerations are
presented which indicate that planning permission should be refused,
and it is therefore recommended that conditional planning permission
be granted.

RECOMMENDATION

That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the conditions set out
below.

Conditions:

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun within
a period of three years commencing on the date of this notice.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 (As Amended).

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved plans listed at the end of this Decision Notice.

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with
the approved plans, drawings and specifications.

3. The exterior of the development hereby approved shall be constructed
in the materials specified on drawing number 2022/1542/2 Rev 2
Received 10/10/24.

Reason: In the interests of good design in accordance with Policy
DES4 of the East Herts District Plan 2018.

4. The proposed side-facing windows and rear-facing windows on the
southern, northern, and western elevations of the outbuilding hereby
approved and as shown on drawing number 2022/1542/2 Rev 2
received 10/10/24 shall be fitted with obscured glass and shall be fixed
shut below 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in which the window
is installed and shall be permanently retained in that condition.

Reason: In the interests of neighbour amenity in accordance with
Policy DES4 of the East Herts District Plan 2018.

Page 27



Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

The proposed development shall be undertaken in full accordance with
the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment with Arboricultural
Method Statement by Arbol EuroConsulting (ref. 101 949 updated
10/10/24).

Reason: To ensure that damage to vegetation identified for retention is
avoided and to comply with the duties indicated in Section 197 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and policies DES3, NE3 and NE4
of the Local Development Plan.

Prior to first use of the development hereby approved, details of
landscaping shall be submitted and approved in writing and shall
include full details of both hard and soft landscape proposals, planting
plans, schedules of plants, species, planting sizes, density of planting
and implementation timetable and thereafter the development shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the provision of amenity afforded by appropriate
landscape design in accordance with Policies DES3 and DES4 of the
East Herts District Plan 2018.

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved details. Any trees or plants that, within a period of
five years after planting, are removed, die or become, in the opinion of
the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of species,
size and number as originally approved, unless the Local Planning
Authority gives its written consent to any variation.

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a
reasonable standard of landscaping in accordance with the approved
designs, in accordance with policies DES3 and DES4 of the East Herts
District Plan 2018.

Informatives

1.

Page 28

East Herts Council has considered the applicant's proposal in a
positive and proactive manner with regard to the policies of the
Development Plan and any relevant material considerations. The
balance of the considerations is that permission should be granted.

This permission does not convey any consent which may be
required under any legislation other than the Town and Country
Planning Acts. Any permission required under the Building



Application Number: 3/24/0824/HH

Regulations or under any other Act, must be obtained from the
relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health and Safety
Executive, Environment Agency (Water Interest) etc. Neither does
this permission negate or override any private covenants which
may affect the land.

Plans for Approval

Plan Ref Version Received
2022/1542/2 Rev 2 10t October 2024
2022/1542/1/ Rev 2 10t October 2024

Page 29



to third parties in any form

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey AC0000805256

You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data

Herts

Council

East Herts Council
Wallfields

Pegs Lane
Hertford

SG13 8EQ

Tel: 01279 655261

ADDRESS

1 Mangrove Drive
Hertford
Hertfordshire
SG13 8AW

PLANTITLE

3/24/0824/HH

PROIECT REF

SITE AREA

DATE OF PRINT

seALE 1:1250@A4




EAST HERTS COUNCIL

Agenda Iltem 6

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

ITEMS FOR REPORT AND NOTING
AUGUST-SEPTEMBER 2024

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal
Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal
Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

3/22/2159/FUL

Refused

Delegated

Eden House21A Knight StreetSawbridgeworth CM21 9AT

Mr And Mrs P Passfield

Garage conversion to 1 bedroom detached two storey dwelling. Insertion of ground floor windows. Instillation of
air source heat pump and photovoltaic roof panels.

Allowed

3/23/0542/HH

Refused

Delegated

16 Pishiobury DriveSawbridgeworth CM21 0AE

James Parker

Installation of Air Source Heat pump and additional solar PV panels
Allowed

3/23/0641/FUL

Refused

Delegated

Land Adjacent To Hunsdon House LodgeChurch LaneHunsdonWare SG12 8PP

Jason Hector

Change of use and conversion of games room/ residential annexe into a three bedroom dwelling; alterations to
fenestration and openings; front open sided porch extension and installation of electric vehicle charging point
(part retrospective).

Dismissed

3/23/0690/FUL

Refused

Delegated

Land North East Of Lower RoadGreat Amwell

Mrs Margaret Nolan

Undertake landscaping and building works to a vacant plot of land to create equestrian facilities. The proposals
will include a new hardstanding, stables, riding ring, and grazing land.

Dismissed

3/23/0775/FUL

Refused

Committee

Land To The Rear Of 74, 75 And 76 Magnaville RoadBishops Stortford CM23 4DW

Edmunds, Banks and Munro

Change of use of land to residential curtilage and erection of a 1.8 metre height fence (set in by 1.5 metre) and
with managed peripheral landscaping.

Dismissed

3/23/0803/FUL

Refused

Delegated

Morley HallWaresideWare SG12 7QP
Ms Anne Audibert

Subdivision of house to create 2 flats (whilst retaining the remainder of the property). Replace the garage door
with windows and a door. Creation of new private gardens for the 2 properties and off-street car parking spaces.

Allowed

3/23/0958/FUL

Refused

Delegated

Land Opp 44 - 58 Chapel LaneLetty GreenHertford SG14 2PA

Ms Vivienne Naylor

Construction of a new house, garage and driveway with new landscape planting
Dismissed

Page 31



Application Number 3/23/1447/0UT

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address Land East Of The A10Buntingford
Appellant

Outline planning application (with all matters reserved except for access) for up to 350 dwellings, up to 4,400
sgm of commercial and services floorspace (Use Class E and B8), and up to 500 sgm of retail floorspace (Use

pcposss Classes E) and other associated works including drainage, access into the site from the A10 and Luynes Rise
(but not access within the site), allotments, public open space and landscaping
Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/23/1786/HH

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address Elm CottageGravesendAlburyWare SG11 2LW
Appellant Miss Heather Brooks

Proposal Single storey side extension

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/23/1787/LBC

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address Elm CottageGravesendAlburyWare SG11 2LW
Appellant Miss Heather Brooks

Proposal Single storey side extension

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/23/2074/HH

Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address 48 Chapel LanelLetty Green SG14 2PA
Appellant Mrs Michelle White
Two storey rear extension. Insert 1 new first floor side window, 1 new side door and replace a ground floor rear
Proposal . A
window with bi-fold doors.
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/23/2214/HH

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address 8 MoatsideAnstey SG9 0DD

Appellant Mr C Bullen

Proposal Removal of rear canopy roof. Proposed loft conversion with 2 rear dormer windows and proposed bi-fold doors
to rear elevation.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/23/2260/HH

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address Bluebell Cottage Hare Street SG9 0DY
Appellant Mr James Gladding

Demolition of existing conservatory and chimney. Erection of a part single, part two storey rear extension
incorporating roof lantern, rear roof lights and terrace at first floor. Alteration of roof to include insertion of

ST dormer windows to front and rear. Alterations and insertion of fenestration. Construction of boundary walls,
raised rear patio and external steps, and associated landscaping.
Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/23/2275/HH

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address 9 High StreetWalkern SG2 7PD

Appellant Mr lain Budge

Proposal Part retrospective for the erection of car port/storage incorporating electric charging points
Appeal Decision Dismissed

ApplicatPag@e32 3/23/2276/HH



Decsn

Level of Decision
Address
Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal
Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Refused

Delegated

4 Thorley HighThorleyBishops Stortford CM23 4AR
Mr Michael Fisher

Demolition of side garage, rear conservatory and the detached utility annex building. Construction of two storey
side extension and single storey rear extension. New front door.
Dismissed

3/23/2284/FUL

Refused

Delegated

Major Barclay FarmsBeeches ManorBrent Pelham SG9 0HJ

Ross Mayger

Erection of an agricultural straw barn with associated hardstanding
Allowed with Costs

3/23/2409/HH

Refused

Delegated

High TreesGreat Hormead SG9 ONR

Mr Dale Stacey

Construction of single storey side extension, two storey rear extension, two storey front porch addition to first
floor windows and a gable roof feature, 1 new first floor side window and alteration to 1 first floor side window.
New rear patio, external steps and retaining wall.

Allowed

3/23/2427/HH

Refused

Delegated

56 St Andrew StreetHertford SG14 1JA

Mr Andre Rideout

Erection of single storey rear extension. Alterations to fenestration.
Dismissed

3/23/2428/LBC

Refused

Delegated

56 St Andrew StreetHertford SG14 1JA

Mr Andre Rideout

Erection of single storey rear extension. Alterations to fenestration. Demolition and insertion of partition walls
and doorways.

Dismissed

3/23/2460/FUL

Refused

Delegated

59 High StreetWare SG12 9AB

Replacement of windows and doors to front elevation - retrospective
Dismissed

3/23/2461/LBC

Refused

Delegated

59 High StreetWare SG12 9AB

Regularisation of replacement doors to front elevation.
Dismissed

3/23/2482/HH

Refused

Delegated

56 Fanhams RoadWare SG12 7DL

Mr S BAILES

Extension over single storey side/rear extension and erection of front porch
Allowed

Page 33



Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal
Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Application Number
Decsn

Level of Decision
Address

Appellant

Proposal

Appeal Decision

Page 34

3/23/2486/HH

Refused

Delegated

25 Hampden HillWare SG12 7JX

Mr & Mrs Rodrigo

First floor side extension above the garage. Single storey rear extension. Garage conversion, replace garage
door with new front window and brickwork. Brick up side door.

Dismissed

3/24/0043/HH

Refused

Delegated

White Cottage Aspenden RoadBuntingford SG9 9PA

Miss Emma Bennett

Demolition of garage and barn. Erection of two storey rear extension and single storey side extension with 8
rooflights. External alterations and alterations to driveway

Allowed

3/24/0155/HH

Refused

Delegated

8 MoatsideAnstey SG9 0DD

Mr C Bullen

Removal of rear canopy roof and conversion of loft to habitable space with 2 rear dormer windows and 2 front
rooflights.

Dismissed

3/24/0182/HH

Refused

Delegated

Camps Hill Bungalow North RoadHertford SG14 1NE

Ms Georgina McGrath

Removal of chimney. Erection of single storey rear extension and front porch. Increase in roof height to
accommodate loft conversion, incorporating 6 dormer windows and 7 skylight windows. Alterations to
fenestrations.

Allowed

3/24/0567/FUL

Refused

Delegated

102 High StreetWare SG12 9AP

Mr Brett Cabhill

Retrospective application for the erection of 2 external extractor Flues
Withdrawn

3/24/0570/HH

Refused

Delegated

Orchard House Westmill SG9 9LL

Mr Dane Goodson

Demolition of garage. Erection of double garage
Allowed



% The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 29 May 2024
by A Knight BA PG Dip MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 6 August 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/]J1915/W/23/3325473

21A Knight Street, Sawbridgeworth CM21 9AT

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs P Passfield against the decision of East Hertfordshire
District Council.

e The application Ref is 3/22/2159/FUL.

e The development proposed is the conversion of a garage/outbuilding to one 1 bedroom
detached two-storey dwelling, alterations to fenestration and openings, the addition of
new windows and installation of air source heat pump and photovoltaic roof panels.

Decision

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the conversion of a
garage/outbuilding to one 1 bedroom detached two-storey dwelling, alterations
to fenestration and openings, the addition of new windows and installation of air
source heat pump and photovoltaic roof panels at 21A Knight Street,
Sawbridgeworth CM21 9AT in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref
3/22/2159/FUL and the plans submitted with it, subject to the conditions in the
attached schedule.

Main Issues
2. The main issues are the effect of the proposal on:

e the character and appearance of the area, including the Sawbridgeworth
Conservation Area (the CA);

e the living conditions of the occupiers of 33 The Forebury (No 33), 21 Knight
Street (No 21) and The Coach House, with particular regard to privacy; and,

e the living conditions of future occupiers of the proposed development, with
particular regard to outlook and natural light.

Reasons
Character and appearance

3. The appeal site is within the CA. The statutory duty set out in Section 72 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the Act) requires
special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of a conservation area.

4. The CA boundaries encompass the medieval core of Sawbridgeworth,
concentrated on the historic streets and spaces that converge at The Square.
The special interest of the CA lies within its combination of historic buildings,

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate Page 35


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/23/3325473

many of which are listed, its street pattern, and its townscape, which have
evolved over many centuries. The character and appearance of the CA as a
whole is contributed to positively by the rich variety of vernacular buildings,
legibility of historic plot layouts, open spaces, trees and watercourses.

5. The appeal site comprises a relatively narrow, long plot that extends away from
The Forebury, behind properties on Knight Street. The CA boundary runs
alongside the appeal site and excludes the north side of The Forebury beyond it.
The prevailing development pattern on Knight Street is defined by a fairly
regular building line, with dwellings set forward in the plot. The plot rhythm and
development pattern along The Forebury is less well defined and indicative of
the mid-20t" century expansion to the town that is identified within The
Sawbridgeworth Conservation Area Appraisal (2014) (CA Appraisal).

6. The appeal site entrance is opposite a substantial and prominent flat-roofed
school building, running parallel to the pavement, cited within the CA Appraisal
as having a negative effect on the character of the CA. The corner plot between
The Forebury and Knight Street, and adjacent to the appeal site entrance, is
occupied by a relatively modern dwelling. On the opposite side of the appeal
site’s access, and outside of the CA boundary is an electricity substation
enclosed by utilitarian metal security fencing forward of No 33.

7. Therefore, while the appeal site lies within the CA boundaries, it is located
where the built form, street form and legibility of historic plot layouts has been
subject to change in the 20" century. The character and appearance of the area
today is defined by an unfussy, municipal feel entirely distinct from the historic
charm of Knight Street. Therefore, apart from being indicative of the town’s
evolution in the 20" century, the appeal site itself contributes little to the
significance and special interest of the CA as a whole.

8. At the far end of the appeal site is a detached, pitched roof building used as a
domestic garage, store, and office. The extant structure is set well back from
the highway which, along with the modest height and unassuming character,
gives it a discreet presence. Though it is of little architectural interest, within
the wider context of a library, a local hall, and car parking it is not harmfully out
of place in the context of 20t century form and functional use and character.
Therefore, the existing garage makes a neutral contribution to the character
and appearance of the CA as a whole.

9. The appeal proposal would extend the garage building by some five metres,
with the further addition of an entrance porch beyond that. The main body of
the extension would incorporate external timber cladding on the elevations, but
otherwise form a seamless continuation of the existing building in terms of
external materials, height, shape and form.

10.In combination with the continuity of shape and form, the proposed south
elevation would feature ‘crittal’ style fenestration and good quality materials
that would not replicate but respect more traditional buildings in the CA and
retain a modest, unassuming character. Therefore, while the plot width would
be comparatively narrow, the proposed dwelling would not be harmfully out of
place or uncharacteristic in the context of the residential uses found elsewhere
in the locality.

11.The distance between the building and the road would remain significant, and
the extended part of the building would be largely obscured from view by No

Pag@t@@www.qov.uk/planninq—inspectorate 2


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/23/3325473

33, and new boundary fencing. Overall, I do not consider the proposal to result
in an incongruous addition to the area. Rather, the proposal would ensure the
proposed dwelling would maintain a discreet presence as viewed from the
street, be of an appropriate scale, density, and good quality design, and would
preserve the character and appearance of the CA as a whole.

12. Overall, the proposed development would respect and not cause harm to the
character and appearance of the area or the CA. It follows that there would be
no conflict with the statutory presumption under Section 72 of the Act.

13. The proposal also accords with Policies HOU2, DES4 and HA4 of the East Herts
District Plan (2018) (the District Plan). Amongst other things, these policies
seek to ensure new development and extensions to existing buildings in
Conservation Areas will be permitted provided they preserve or enhance the
special interest, character and appearance of the area; requires housing
development make efficient use of land informed by the character of the local
area; and make the best use of the available land by respecting the character
of the site and surrounding area.

14. Whilst not cited in the Council reason for refusal, I have been provided with
District Plan Policy HA1. For the same reasons set out above, the proposal
would accord with this policy, which seeks to ensure development proposals
preserve and where appropriate enhance the historic environment. As I have
not found any harm in respect of the CA as a designated heritage asset, there
would be no conflict with the and the historic environment protection policies of
the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework).

Privacy

15.The proposal incorporates five new windows at ground floor level, each utilising
obscure glazing, along with the retention of two existing rooflights facing
towards No 33.

16.The ground floor windows would partly protrude above the current boundary
fencing, and be visible to occupiers of No 33, No 21 and The Coach House. The
use of obscure glazing in the ground floor windows, as proposed, would prevent
any overlooking of neighbouring properties and no harm would be caused in
that regard, therefore.

17.1 recognise that there may be some perception of overlooking related to the
ground floor windows, particularly when both the windows and the residential
use of the appeal building are new. In the first instance, the perception of being
overlooked would be mitigated by the partial concealment of the windows
behind fencing. Thereafter, casual examination by occupiers of neighbouring
homes would confirm the windows to be obscure glazed, easing any sense of
being overlooked.

18.For these reasons, and as there would be no actual overlooking from the ground
floor windows, I consider that any perception of overlooking would abate over
time and at no point cause harm to the living conditions of occupiers of No 33,
No 21 and The Coach House. The proposals are acceptable in that respect,
therefore.

19.The existing upper floor rooflights serve a comfortable office/storage space,
which has the potential for regular use. The rooflights are top-hung, and
whether opened or not, allow overlooking of the house and garden at No 33.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3 Page 37


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/23/3325473

20. The appeal proposal involves using the upper floor of the appeal property as a
bedroom, which would significantly increase the likelihood and frequency of
overlooking. Rendering the rooflights obscure-glazed and non-opening would
prohibit overlooking and constitute an improvement on the current
arrangement. Subject to the imposition of suitably worded conditions, the
proposed development would not lead to a harmful loss of privacy over and
above the existing situation.

21.For the above reasons, I conclude that the proposals would not have a harmful
effect on living conditions for occupiers of No 33, No 21, and The Coach House,
with particular regard to privacy. Accordingly, I find no conflict with Policy DES4
of the District Plan, which requires development to avoid significant detrimental
impacts on the amenity of occupiers of neighbouring properties and ensure that
their environments are not harmed by inadequate privacy, and no conflict with
the similar aims of the Framework.

Outlook and light

22. The proposed dwelling would incorporate a predominantly glazed, south-facing
facade leading out onto a private garden. Occupiers of the main living areas
would have a pleasant outlook towards the garden which, as a result of the
large, glazed openings, would be constantly visible. This would create a sense
of connection between house and garden, enhanced further by the use of bifold
doors between the two spaces.

23. The south elevation would incorporate substantial first floor windows, level with
the bedroom. The bedroom would be separated from these windows by an
atrium, and then a section of internal glazing; It is not proposed that this be
obscure-glazed or fixed shut, only that it incorporate privacy blinds.

24. This arrangement would provide a pleasant outlook from the bedroom,
affording a raised view of the double-height living area and vaulted ceiling
within the property, as well as a view over the garden, and across treetops
towards the local church spire.

25. The quality of southward vistas would be sufficiently high that views from the
existing first-floor rooflights are not required for the bedroom to have
acceptable levels of outlook, overall. To my mind the proposed development
could be made acceptable if conditions were imposed that ensured these
rooflights were obscure-glazed, and fixed shut to the degree necessary, in the
interests of privacy, therefore.

26.The extent of glazing in the south elevation, combined with the southward
orientation of the building, would result in significant natural light to the main
living areas of the proposed dwelling during the day. The separation distance
between the appeal site and the homes at 21a and 23 Knight Street is such that
the proposed dwelling would enjoy evening sunlight to a significant degree as
well.

27.The parts of the dwelling furthest from the south-facing glazing would receive
less natural light from that source but would be served by new ground floor
windows which would provide adequate natural light to those areas. The ground
floor windows do not provide a view, but this is acceptable given they serve
either bathrooms and storage areas or, in the case of the furthest part of the

Pag@t@.@(www.qov.uk/planninq—inspectorate 4


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/23/3325473

kitchen dining area, a space well-served in terms of outlook by the main glazing
onto the garden.

28.As described above, the rooflights in the upper floor facilitate some overlooking
of No 33 which would likely increase in frequency as a result of the proposed
development. However, if the proposed rooflights were obscure-glazed and
fixed shut as necessary, which could be controlled by suitably worded
conditions, I am satisfied that there would be no harmful loss of privacy for the
occupiers of No 33. Otherwise, the rooflights would assist in providing natural
light to the bedroom, in combination with the internal and south-facing glazing.

29.For the above reasons, I conclude that the proposals would provide acceptable
living conditions for future occupants of the proposed dwelling. Accordingly, I
find no conflict with Policy DES4 of the District Plan, which requires
development to incorporate high standards of design, and no conflict with the
similar aims of the Framework.

Other Matters

30.1 acknowledge concerns raised in response to the planning application as to the
accuracy of the site boundary shown on the submitted plans. Disputes over land
ownership are a private matter and have not formed part of my assessment. My
determination is based on the plans that were before the Council and upon
which it based its decision.

Conditions

31.The Council has suggested a number of conditions in the event that I am
minded to allow the appeal. Notwithstanding the appellants have not raised any
issue with the Council’s conditions, I have considered them against the tests
under paragraph 56 of the Framework, and the Planning Practice Guidance. In
some instances, while I have adopted the suggested conditions, I have made
changes to wording to add clarity as appropriate.

32.Conditions setting out the commencement of the development and the list of
approved plans are required in the interests of providing planning certainty and
clarity. Given the locational circumstances of the appeal site and proximity to
neighbouring occupies, a condition requiring a Construction Method Statement
is necessary; I have sought agreement to the wording and imposition of this
pre-commencement condition.

33.1In the interests of the character and appearance of the area, conditions
requiring further details of external materials, as well as a scheme of hard and
soft landscaping are necessary, proportionate to the scale of development.

34.To ensure adequate privacy to nearby occupiers and future occupiers,
conditions to control the opacity and opening of certain windows, and to
required details of external lighting are reasonably and necessary. Furthermore,
I consider it reasonable and necessary to control permitted development rights
to restrict insertion of any new windows or other openings without permission.
There is no compelling evidence to indicate a particular issue with noise in the
locality that would unacceptably harm the living conditions of future occupiers
and so it would not be reasonable to impose a noise assessment condition.
However, I do consider that a condition requiring a scheme to control noise
emitting from the Air Source Heat Pumps would be necessary ensure potential
harmful noise and disturbance would be suitably mitigated.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 5 Page 39


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/23/3325473

35.As conditions should not be used to control matters that are subject to other
primary legislation, I do not consider it would be reasonable or necessary to
impose conditions requiring minimum standards for gas fired boilers. As details
of soft landscaping would be incorporated with a scheme of landscaping
condition, the proposal includes an ASHP, and the design and materials are
controlled by the approved plans, I do not consider it would be reasonable to
impose a condition requiring further details to control heating or green
infrastructure.

36.1In the interests of biodiversity, I have included a condition requiring details of
bird boxes and their installation. While a condition requiring details of Electric
Vehicle charging points and water saving measures are reasonable in the in the
interests of reducing carbon emissions and minimising the use of mains water.
In the interests of protecting human health and the environment, it is necessary
to impose a condition to monitor and control unexpected land contamination.

Conclusion

37.For the reasons given above the appeal should be allowed.

A Knight

INSPECTOR

Pag@;ﬁ@’www.qov.uk/planninq—inspectorate 6


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/23/3325473

Schedule of Conditions

1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years
from the date of this decision.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans: FGF BLOCKO01, FGF EX01, FGF EX02, FGF
PR0O2, FGF SITEO1 REV B, FGF PRO1 REV.

3. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.

The Statement shall provide for:
i. loading and unloading of plant and materials;

ii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the
development;

iii. wheel washing facilities;

iv. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during
construction;

v. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from
demolition and construction works;

vi. delivery, demolition and construction working hours.

The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to
throughout the construction period for the development.

4. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the ground
floor level rear and side elevation windows and the rooflights at first floor
level have been fitted with obscured glazing and fixed shut, in accordance
with details of obscured glazing that shall first have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No part of those
windows or rooflights shall be capable of being opened, or the obscured
glazing removed.

5. Prior to the installation of any Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) on the
development hereby permitted, a scheme shall first have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority that provides details
of the noise radiating levels and ensures appropriate mitigation to the most
affected habitable rooms in a way which will minimise transmission of
structure-borne sound to the proposed development and neighbouring
properties. Prior to use, the ASHP shall be enclosed with sound-insulating
material and mounted in accordance with the approved details, and retained
thereafter.

6. No construction above ground level of the development hereby approved
shall take place until details of any external lighting have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

7. No development above ground level shall take place until details of the
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved details.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 7 Page 41


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/23/3325473

8. No development shall commence until a scheme of both hard and soft
landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of: all existing trees and
hedgerows on and overhanging the land, identifying those to be retained and
set out measures for their protection throughout the course of development;
all proposed new trees and shrubs. all means of enclosure including
boundary fencing and entrance; hard surfacing materials. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.

9. All new trees and shrubs comprised in the approved details of landscaping
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the
occupation of the dwelling hereby approved or the completion of the
development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or shrubs which within
a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the
next planting season with others of similar size and species.

10.Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no windows or other
openings other than those expressly authorised by this permission shall be
inserted into the external fabric of the building hereby approved.

11.No development above ground level shall take place until details of water
saving measures and equipment have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved details.

12.Notwithstanding the approved plans, no construction above ground level of
the development hereby approved shall take place until details of the Electric
Vehicle (EV) charging point, to include its location, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall
not be occupied until the provision has been made for the EV charging point
in accordance with the approved details, which shall be retained, or
appropriately upgraded, thereafter.

13.Any contamination that is found during the course of construction of the
development hereby permitted that was not previously identified shall be
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the
part of the site affected shall be suspended until a risk assessment has been
carried out and submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. Where unacceptable risks are found, the development shall not
resume or continue until remediation and verification schemes have been
carried out in accordance with details that shall first have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

***End of Schedule***

Pag@;ﬁz/www.qov.uk/planninq—inspectorate 8


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 10 September 2024
By Terrence Kemmann-Lane JP DipTP FRTPI MCMI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 24 September 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/24/3341805

16 Pishiobury Drive, Sawbridgeworth, CM21 OAE

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mr James Parker against the decision of East Hertford District
Council.

e The application Reference is 3/23/0542/HH.
e The development proposed is the installation of an Air Source Heat Pump and additional
solar PV panels.

Decision

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the installation of
an Air Source Heat Pump and additional solar PV panels at 16 Pishiobury Drive,
Sawbridgeworth, CM21 OAE, in accordance with the terms of the application,
Ref. 3/23/0542/HH, subject to the conditions set out in the schedule at the end
of this decision.

Main Issue

2. The main issue in this case is the effect of the noise from the proposed air
source heat pump (ASHP) on the amenity of the living conditions of the
neighbours at 18 Pishiobury Drive.

Reasons

3. The appeal property is a two storey detached dwelling located in a
predominantly residential area of Sawbridgeworth. It is also located within the
setting of the Grade II Registered Park and Garden (RP&G) of Pishiobury Park,
the Grade II listed The Lodge, the Gate Piers next to No. 1 Pishiobury Drive
(Grade II listed), and The Straw Hat Restaurant (near the junction with
Chaseways), also Grade II listed. The council considers that the proposed
development would result in a neutral impact to the setting of the Historic
Garden and listed buildings, and a heritage statement is not considered
necessary. I agree with that assessment.

4. There is considerable background to the appeal proposal that has been
provided to me. I have noted it, but my decision will rest on the relevant
policies and material considerations. Therefore I will not rehears these matters
here. The appeal proposal seeks permission for the installation of an air source

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate Page 43


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3341805

heat pump (ASHP) and additional solar PV panels at the rear elevation. The
solar PV panels are not the subject of a refusal reason.

5. The ASHP would be on the rear elevation of the house and a fixed (cedar wood)
barrier next to the ASHP is proposed to attenuate the sound. The proposed
ASHP model would be either Daikin (3H HT EPRA018DW). or Samsung (EHS
Mono HT AE120BXYDEG), both in a dark colour.

6. The development plan policies that are most relevant to this appeal are Policy
EQ2 and Policy DES4 of the East Herts District Plan adopted in October 2018.
The pertinent text of policy EQ2 *Noise Pollution’ is

“I. Development should be designed and operated in a way that minimises the
direct and cumulative impact of noise on the surrounding environment.
Particular consideration should be given to the proximity of noise sensitive
uses, and in particular, the potential impact of development on human health.

II. Applications should be supported by a Noise Assessment in line with the
Council’s Noise Assessment Planning Guidance Document.

III. Noise sensitive development should be located away from existing noise
generating sources or programmed developments where possible to prevent
prejudicing the continued existing operations. The use of design, layout,
landscaping tools and construction methods should be employed to reduce the
impact of surrounding noise sources.”

7. With regard to item II of Policy EQ2, the council’s Noise Assessment Planning
Guidance Document referred to appears not to have been published. The
decision notice included the statement that “"The proposed Air Source Heat
Pump is predicted to exceed the East Herts District Council's noise criteria
(25dB!?) for residential area in this part of Sawbridgeworth”. There appears to
be no derivation or justification for the figure of 25dB, but I am told that there
is a ‘working policy’ adopted by officers which requires that noise from ASHPs
at the most affected assessment point should be 5dB or more below
background noise level. The council has confirmed in writing the existence of
the working policy. It has further advised that neither the policy itself, nor the
rationale behind it, is published and that the policy has not been subject to
public scrutiny or to scrutiny by elected members?.

8. Taking account of paragraph 48 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF), which deals with the weight to be given to emerging plans that have
been published, since this ‘working policy’ and the considerations behind it are
not published, it must carry less weight than a newly emerging local plan.
Furthermore, this ‘guidance document’ will be subject to regular change and
the council’s position may shift as discussions and the guidance document
develops (see appellant’s Appendix 6 of the grounds of appeal). For these
reasons I can only give it very limited weight.

9. The relevant parts of Policy DES4 ‘Design of Development’ are I (c) and (d).
These require:

L All dB figures are A weighted.
2 See Appendix 6 of the appellant’s Grounds of Appeal.

Pagg:_tzﬂ.sﬁllwww.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 2


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3341805

"(c) Avoid significant detrimental impacts on the amenity of occupiers of
neighbouring properties and land, and ensure that their environments are not
harmed by noise and disturbance or by inadequate daylight, privacy or
overshadowing;

(d) Incorporate high quality innovative design, new technologies and
construction techniques, including zero or low carbon energy and water
efficient, design and sustainable construction methods. Proposals for residential
and commercial development should seek to make appropriate provision for
high speed broadband connectivity, ensuring that Fibre to the Premises (FTTP)
is provided,”

This policy does not provide any guidance as to how its aims are to be achieved
or constraints on the new technologies, etc.

10. However, the council’s Environmental Health team have measured the
background noise level at night in Pishiobury Drive (30dB) and subsequently
agreed that a full noise assessment would not be required for the application,
but rather an absolute value of 25dB should be met. In other words, the noise
level of the proposed ASHP at the nearest sensitive location should not be more
than 25dB. The council’s position is that noise from the proposed ASHP as
proposed on application drawing ref. JP2402, even after the installation of the
fixed barrier, is expected to exceed the background noise level (30dB) by
approximately 3dB at the nearest noise sensitive receptor, and exceeding
EHDC criteria by 8dB. As such, it is said that the proposed ASHP by reason of
the noise level would result in a detriment to neighbour amenity of No.18.

11. This does not sit well with an earlier response from Environmental Health,
quoted in the appellant’s appeal statement, referring to the same ASHP
models. In an email dated 31 January 2023 from Environmental Health to the
planning officer it was stated: “The short version is that their unit would not
meet our planning condition, however due to the absolute level of the unit, the
noise may not be considered likely to cause a nuisance/disturbance. My
standpoint is that they should be allowed to go with either of the units as it
meets the MCS020 standard, and in worst case conditions should not impact
our goals of protecting amenity and preventing a nuisance. I know that this is
an issue due to the decision notice already being given.” This statement of
opinion by Environmental Health was given after the noise level in the vicinity
had been measured.

12. The appellant notes that the policy of requiring 5dB below background, a
relative measure, is in contrast to the recognised national standards which
express requirements as an absolute figure. Before looking at national and
other similar matters, such as permitted development rights, I should note that
the appellant’s appeal statement is lengthy and contains a considerable amount
of technical material. Since that material is known to both parties, it would not
be appropriate to set it out in detail. I will therefore deal with it relatively
briefly.

13. The following is an outline of the appellant’s case in respect of national;
standards:

e British Standard BS8233 sets desirable noise levels for the interior of domestic
buildings. The ‘sleeping level’ between 23:00 to 07:00 is the most severe

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3 Page 45


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3341805

constraint at 30 dB LAeq,8hr. Applying the 15dB correction, as set out in BS
8233, for the attenuating effect of the fabric of the subject building (with
windows in vent position3), this results in a predicted interior level of 18dB,
taking account of the MCS calculation 33dB at 1m in front of the window (see
bullet point 3). This is 12dB below, and thus well within, the ‘desirable’ level for
night time sleeping of 30dB (33dB at 1m form the subject window, minus 15 for
fabric attenuation within the room equals 18, 12 below 30dB).

e Permitted development of ASHPs in the General Permitted Development Order
2015 (as amended), Schedule 2, Part 14, Class G, (d), development is not
permitted (as relevant to the appeal proposal) if: i) it does not comply with MCS
Planning (or equivalent) standards - see 3™ bullet point below; ii) the volume of
the ASHP’s outdoor compressor would exceed 0.6 cubic metres. No other item
in G.2 or in the conditions in G.3 would exempt the appeal ASHPs from being
installed; the proposed ASHPs would not be excluded due to noise constraints,
only due to its volume exceeding 0.6m?3.

e The proposed ASHPs comply with the Microgeneration Certification Scheme
Planning Standards (MCS-020). The MCS-020 allows an air source heat pump to
be approximately 37dB at 1m from the centre of the nearest habitable room
window in any given location. It should be noted that i) there is no stipulation
with respect to areas with low background noise levels; and ii) the table on
drawing No.JP2402 shows the sound level of the ASHP at its rated maximum of
60dB, with a distance from assessment position of 6m giving a reduction for
distance of -17dB, and a solid barrier reduction, shows a sound level at the
assessment position of 33dB*. These Sound Pressure Calculations, in
accordance with MCS020 and created using MCS calculation tool Box 6 give
<=37dB(A) which equals a pass for permitted development.

Conclusions

14. Beginning with the local plan policies set out in paragraphs 6 and 9 above,
policy EQ2 has 3 elements; I consider that these are met. The ASHP has been
sited with regard to proximity of noise sensitive uses, a fixed sound ‘barrier’
has been incorporated, there is unlikely to be any cumulative impact and the
proposal has been supported by a Noise Assessment in the form of the
appellant’s documentation. The third element of the policy is not relevant since
it relates to the location of noise sensitive development.

15. The second element of the policy requires the Noise Assessment to be in line
with the council’s Noise Assessment Planning Guidance Document. There
appears to be no such published document. The only thing that has been
identified as serving the purpose of this Guidance Document is an ‘officer
working document’. This appears to be in the minds of officers since no written
version is available, but it is said to be something that is evolving and may
change. It cannot be considered as serving the purpose of the Guidance
Document having the primacy of a development plan policy, and to the extent

3 It is during the coldest times of the year that ASHPs will be at their noisiest, that is at their specified sound
power.

4 This figure appear is arithmetically wrong on drawing No.JP2402 from the figures included. This is because on
the 5% line, where it shows ‘Barrier (no view) there should be a reduction of 10dB to account for the ‘cedar
barrier’. This 10dB reduction is shown at step 5 on page 21 of the Microgeneration Installation Standard: MCS
020, and if included in the table produces 33dB.

Pagg:_tzﬂ.s@www.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 4


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3341805

that it carries some weight, this is outweighed by the assessment of noise that
is put forward in a tangible form.

16. Turning to the data that has been presented, the 2 alternative ASHPs put
forward by the appellant have specified sound powers that do not exceed 60dB.
Beginning with British Standard BS8233, the calculations shown at the first
bullet point of paragraph 13 predicts an interior level of 18dB within the
nearest noise sensitive location. This is 12dB below, and thus well within, the
‘desirable’ level for night time sleeping.

17. The Microgeneration Certification Scheme Planning Standards (MCS-020)
allows an air source heat pump to be approximately 37dB at 1m from the
centre of the nearest habitable room window in any given location, without any
stipulation with respect to areas with low background noise levels. The table
provided shows a source sound level of 60dB, at 6m from the assessment
position provides a reduction for distance of -17dB, and a reduction for the
cedar barrier of -10dB which provides a sound level at the assessment position
of 33dB; at less that 37dB, this amounts to a pass.

18. I have left the matter of permitted development to last as it is said by the
appellant to be a fallback position that is less favourable than the appeal
proposal.

19. The ASHPs considered for the appeal application were restricted to those with a
Quietmark certification. Quieter ASHPs, such as those with the Quietmark
certification, must accommodate extra sound insulation and/or a larger fan and
thus may tend to be physically larger than louder models and, as in this case,
thereby exceeding the maximum physical dimensions required for permitted
development. There is, however, no technical requirement to limit the design
choice to units with a Quietmark certification, and there are units on the
market which meet both the criteria for permitted development and the
technical requirements of the installation.

20. The appellant cites one such unit as the Mitsubishi Ecodan PUZ-WM-112-VAA.
He also asserts that there are several other manufacturers who also make
suitable units which, appropriately sited within the curtilage, would meet the
requirements of the permitted development rules. For fallback to be a material
consideration, there must be a ‘real’ prospect that the alternative development
would take place, but it does not have to be probable or likely, a possibility will
suffice.

21. I have no reason to doubt the intension of the appellant to reduce the
contribution to climate change by decarbonising his heating, noting that the
uncontentious part of the planning application is additional solar PV panels. I
therefore consider that the fallback position is a real prospect, in the event of a
dismissal of the appeal, that an ASHP that would comply with the permitted
development requirements would be installed. Under permitted development
rights this could result in a noise level up to 4dB higher.

22. I have taken account of all other matters raised, but in the light of the factors
that I have set out above, the proposed ASHPs comply with Policies EQ2 and
DES4, when judged against tangible figures that are published. Therefore the
appeal will be allowed.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 5 Page 47


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3341805

Conditions

23. The statutory condition that provides a time limit on the start of development
must be imposed. In addition, the council has suggested 3 conditions in the
event that the appeal is upheld. I have considered these in the light of Planning
Practice Guidance. The proposed conditions are that materials match the
existing, that the development be carried out in a in accordance with the
approved plans, and that the Air Source Heat Pump and the associated solid
cedar wood screen shall comply with the specification of the 2 ASHPs detailed
within the Design Statement (version 202401) and drawing ref. JP2402 and
shall be retained in this form thereafter.

24. The first of these is not appropriate since the ASHP will not match the existing
materials of the house. But compliance with the plans is necessary for certainty
and avoidance of doubt as to the development permitted, and I will impose it.

25. The third condition is objected to by the appellant on the basis that the
condition would restrict the choice of heat pump to a subset of those set out in
the planning application, and also seeks to impose the additional requirement
that the development ‘shall be retained in this form thereafter’. His point is that
it is certain that, when the unit reaches the end of its natural life (perhaps in
15 years’ time) the restricted range of models specified by the council will no
longer be available. It is likely that this necessary replacement will be a
‘distress purchase’, ie. would follow a failure of the unit during the heating
season, necessitating urgent action, incompatible with the requirement to seek
planning consent. The effect of this condition is thus to frustrate the future
replacement of the sole space heating system for the house, in the most likely
failure scenario. Such a restriction is both unreasonable and unnecessary

26. The appellant has suggested an alternative condition: ‘The Air Source Heat
Pump and the associated solid cedar wood screen hereby approved shall
comply with the specification model Daikin (3H HT EPRA018DW) or Samsung
(EHS Mono HT AE120BXYDEG) or another heat pump meeting the specified
conditions, as detailed in the Design Statement (version 202401) and drawing
ref. JP2402 received 7th February 2024. The specified conditions referred to
are:

e That the pump is QuietMark and MCS certified (or equivalent at the time of
any subsequent replacement);

e That its dimensions are no greater than 1018 (H) x1270 (W) x533 (H) mm

e That its specified sound power does not exceed 60dB(A)

27. 1 am satisfied that the first part of the appellants’ suggested condition would
achieve the council’s aim, whilst allowing the appellant to choose from the
current available ASHP at the time of carrying out the development, bearing in
mind the time that has elapsed since the planning application was made and
that there are continuing model changes. I will adopt this part of the suggested
condition which is necessary to ensure the protection of the neighbour’s
amenity.

28. The second part of the suggested condition appears to be responding to any
replacement pump at the ‘end of life’ point of the installed pump. I do not find
this part of the appellant’s suggestion satisfactory because it is reasonable to
anticipate that, at this date (which might be in 15 years’ time or so), that ASHP
design will have moved on and the desired performance is likely to be more

Pagg:_tz{].s&www.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 6


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3341805

stringent that can currently be specified. At the same time, I can understand
that a replacement at the time when the pump breaks down will likely be a
matter of urgency.

29. I therefore intend to impose a condition that will require any future
replacement pump to meet one of the following: be approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority; or meet the requirements of any permitted
development right current at the time; or that the pump is QuietMark and MCS
certified (or equivalent at the time of the replacement); and that in any event
it shall have dimensions not greater than 1018 (H) x1270 (W) x533 (H) mm
and its specified sound power does not exceed 60dB(A). This condition is also
necessary to ensure the protection of the neighbour’s amenity.

Terrence Kemmann-Lane

INSPECTOR

Schedule of Conditions

1)  The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years
from the date of this decision.

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved plans.

3) The Air Source Heat Pump hereby approved shall comply with the
specification of the model Daikin (3H HT EPRA018DW) or Samsung (EHS
Mono HT AE120BXYDEG) or another heat pump meeting the specified
conditions, as detailed in the Design Statement (version 202401) and
drawings ref. JP2402 received 7th February 2024.

4)  The Air Source Heat Pump hereby approved shall not be replaced at any
time other than with a pump which meets one of the following: be
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; or meets the
requirements of the provisions of permitted development [the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015
(or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without
modification)], current at the time; or that the pump is QuietMark and
MCS certified (or equivalent at the time of the replacement); and that in
any event it shall have dimensions not greater than 1018 (H) x1270 (W)
x533 (H) mm and its specified sound power does not exceed 60dB(A).

End of Schedule

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 7 Page 49


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision

Site visit made on 19 August 2024

by Alison Scott (BA Hons) Dip TP MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 9 September 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3329066
Hunsdon House Lodge, Church Lane, Hunsdon, Hertfordshire SG12 8PP

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 (as amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by W and J Developments Limited against the decision of
East Hertfordshire District Council.

e The application Ref is 3/23/0641/FUL dated 29 March 2023 was refused by
notice dated 7 July 2023.

e The development proposed is Conversion of existing residential games room
annex into a dwelling, alterations to fenestration and addition of an open
sided porch.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters

2. As the site affects works within the setting of statutorily listed buildings, I
am therefore mindful of my statutory duties in respect of section 66(1) of
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act (the Act).

Main Issues
3. The main issues are:

e The effect of the development on the setting of the listed assets of the
Grade II listed Hunsdon House Lodge, and the Grade II listed Parish
Church of St Dunstan, and the Grade I listed Hunsdon House;

e The effect of the development upon the character and appearance of the
local area; and

e The suitability of the site as a location for residential development.
Reasons
Effect on heritage assets

4. The appeal proposal affects the detached annex building associated with
Hunsdon House Lodge which is in residential use and Grade II listed.
However, there are no works proposed to Hunsdon House Lodge. The annex
is @ modern building of the 215t Century and was originally built as an indoor

P agd@ 52U www.qov.uk/planning-inspectorate - null APP/I1915/W/23/3329066



https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

swimming pool and was later converted into a games room for the occupants
of the Lodge and sits within the grounds of the Lodge within very close
quarters. This proposal seeks to convert the annex building and a small
porch extension and exterior alterations to facilitate its use as an
independent C3 residential use.

5. With regards to the listed assets of Hunsdon House Lodge, (List entry
number 1176041, listed 19 September 1984) its significance and special
interest from my observations, is derived from its age and architectural
quality. It is a former gate lodge to Hunsdon House built in the mid-19%
Century to a Gothic style. It is one and a half storeys built from red and
black brick, with tiled roof and bracketed eaves over. It has an elaborate
quality to its design, asymmetrical front with three elaborately bracketed
two-light cusped lucarne windows, each with tiled gable roof with moulded
and pierced barge boards projected on brackets. The large timber porch is
also gabled with elaborate carved and mulded bargeboard and bracketed
uprights. Windows include single-light cusped windows with Venetian-Gothic
gauged arches over, picked out in black. The listing description describes it
as a ‘striking early 19t Century polychrome Gothic lodge’.

6. In addition, the site is close to the listed asset of the Grade I listed Parish
Church of St Dunstan (List entry number 1101973, listed 24 January 1967).
Its significance and special interest, as far as I can tell, derives from its
historic and architectural interest. The church dates from the early 14
Century with later alterations made to its fabric. It is built from flint rubble
with stone dressings and red tiled roof. The north and south chapel and east
part of chancel are built in brick. Reset early 14% Century window in north
chapel, four-bay original 15 Century nave roof, single framed of scissor
braced rafters, collars and ashlar pieces.

7. The church is also group listed as an asset with the Grade I listed Hunsdon
House (List entry number 1347687, listed 4 December 1951). Its
significance and special interest arise from its historic interest and
architectural execution. It was originally built as a brick, tower country house
in the 15 Century with moat. It encompasses wide proportions, three
storeys with large pointed diagonal buttresses at each corner and built to a
castellated form, with later service wing added. The main block has two
parallel hipped slate roofs concealed behind an embattled parapet, 19t
Century windows have plaster surrounds and two-light or three-light
mounded wooden mullioned and transomed windows. Its high Grade I listing
status is thus awarded due to its fragmentary remains of one of the most
important medieval houses in the county and forms a picturesque historic
group with the parish church.

8. The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) defines the setting
of a heritage asset as the surroundings in which a heritage asset is
experienced. The Framework explains that its extent is not fixed and may
change as the asset and its surroundings evolve.

9. Although there are garages between the Lodge and the annex building as
well as timber fencing, and despite the splayed angle of the Lodge and
annex to one another, given its close relationship with Hunsdon House
Lodge, it displays the characteristics of being physically and functionally

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate - null APP/J1915/W/23/3329066 Page 51



https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

associated with the Lodge. It is clearly visually experienced within its setting.
I consider the annex has had some degree of compromising effect upon the
significance of the listed asset of the Lodge.

10. By changing its use to C3 dwellinghouse would significantly change its
character, as well as its appearance due to the requirements to domesticate
its external appearance. It would become a separate entity away from its
close association with the dwelling of the Lodge, within its own separate
curtilage. It would no longer have a subservience to it. The annex is closely
connected to the main dwelling and is unlikely to have generated vehicles
specifically associated with this annex building. Vehicles exclusively
associated with this proposed change of use and other independent domestic
paraphernalia linked to the living operations of a dwelling would arise,
especially as it would be a three bed C3 dwelling.

11. The domestic effects associated with residential living, or a localised
containment of them to avoid sprawl, cannot be reasonably controlled
through the planning system, and can lead to a sense of ‘clutter’ to this
sensitive location. The existing garages and timber boundary fencing would
not act to mitigate the effects of the proposal.

12. In addition, the annex and its grounds would be severed from the Lodge. As
a whole, the Lodge is experienced within a large landscaped setting that
adds positively to how the asset is experienced, despite the modern
buildings and timber boundary treatment. To divide this off would
significantly erode the visual relationship between the asset and this wider
landscape context.

13. I am therefore of the view that a change of use to a C3 dwelling in this
location would not preserve the special interest of the heritage asset.

14. With regards to the effect of the proposal upon the setting of the listed
assets of the Parish Church of St Dunstan and the setting of Hunsdon House,
given the intervening woodland and separation distance, which is some way
from the church, I am not of the view that the proposal would lead to harm
arising to the setting of these heritage assets. Therefore, I consider it would
preserve the special interest of these heritage assets.

Public benefits

15. Paragraph 205 of the Framework states that when considering the impact of
a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset,
great weight should be given to the conservation of designated heritage
asset’s (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should
be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.
Paragraph 206 goes on to say that any harm to, or loss of, the significance
of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from
development within its setting), should require clear and convincing
justification.

16. With reference to Paragraphs 205 and 206 of the Framework, in finding harm
to the significance of designated heritage assets, the magnitude of that harm
should be assessed. Given the type and scale of the proposed development,

P ag® 2 Zwww.qov.uk/planning-inspectorate - null APP/I1915/W/23/3329066



https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

and the degree to which it impacts on the setting of the designated heritage
asset, I find the category of harm in this instance to be ‘less than
substantial’. Paragraph 208 of the Framework advises that this harm should
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where
appropriate, securing the asset’s optimum viable use.

17. The Planning Practice Guidance entitled Historic Environment, advises that
public benefits may follow from many developments and could be anything
that delivers economic, social or environmental objectives as described in
the Framework. Public benefits should flow from the proposed development.
They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the public at large and
not just be a private benefit.

18. The public benefits advanced by the appellant include one electric charging
point, and the building would be converted to a sustainable level to meet
Building Control regulations. In terms of these public benefits, very limited
information on these measures is before and I can therefore only apportion
very limited weight to the sustainability credentials that would arise.

19. The Lodge appeared to be in overall good condition and until recently has
been occupied. There is no substantial evidence before me to convince me
that by not approving a change of use, would threaten the optimum viable
use of the heritage asset.

20. Overall, the weight that I would ascribe to the public benefits that would
accrue from the proposal is not sufficient to outweigh the considerable
importance and weight that I attach to the harm I have found. I am not
persuaded there is clear and convincing justification for the identified harm
to the setting of the heritage asset.

21. On this basis it would not comply with the heritage safeguarding aims of East
Herts District Plan policies HA1, HA7 and the broad design and heritage aims
of Policy HDD6 of the Hunsdon Neighbourhood Plan, or the same heritage
protection aims of the National Planning Policy Framework. Nor would it
meet the requirements of the Act.

Main issue - Suitability of the site

22. The site is not well related to Hunsdon and according to Council policy GBR2
is a ‘Rural Area Beyond the Greenbelt’. Although the appeal site is located
close to other residential uses, it is nevertheless outside the settlement
village of Hunsdon, approximately 1.5km away. There are no public
transport options close to the site and this is a reasonable distance to travel
by foot to Hunsdon. The main road is two-way traffic at 40MPH outside the
site with warning signs to advise drivers of sharp bends close to the site. I
also noticed mirrors located on the opposite sides of private drives along this
part of the road, reinforces its potential danger.

23. As there are no public transport options available for residents to avail from
other than closer to Hunsdon with no footpaths or streetlamps until much
closer to the main settlement, I am not convinced that accessing the local
amenities on foot would be safe for future occupants. These things
considered, it would likely encourage the use of the private car.
Furthermore, there are limited services available within the settlement and

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate - null APP/J1915/W/23/3329066 Page 53



https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

residents of the proposed development are likely to need to travel to other
settlements in order to access all the services and facilities that they may
need on a day-to-day basis.

24. 1 am aware that Council policy TRA1 advocates development within sites that
are accessible by sustainable means of transport. The site is not well
connected to the settlement and the limitations of the location of this site to
public transport options does not weigh in its favour. Therefore, to direct
residential use to this location would deviate from the thrust of the local

policy.

25. Even if the annex building would be capable of conversion to residential use,
that alone does not justify the principle of change of use to residential. Also,
in the Council’s evidence, they have confirmed that they have an up to date
5-year housing land supply. There is nothing before me that contradicts this.

26. Therefore, to conclude on this main issue, the change of use to residential
would represent an unsuitable location for a dwelling. The development, in
this regard, would conflict with the broad sustainability objectives of Policies
DPS2, GBR2 and TRA1 of the District Plan.

Main issue - Character and appearance

27. Local policy GBR2 reinforces the ‘valued countryside resource’. This policy
specifies the types of development in the open countryside that are only
permitted where it is compatible with the character and appearance of the
rural area. The Framework seeks to recognise the intrinsic character and
beauty of the countryside. From my assessment, the character of the locality
is one of a tranquil and open environment with low density of development
surrounded by fields and buildings of historic interest. Even though the
building exists, by changing its use, this proposal would alter its appearance
and subservient characteristics to better reflect the required domestic
characteristics of a dwelling. The resultant comings and goings of vehicles
and domestic paraphernalia arising from an independent residential use
when taken as a whole, would lead to a domesticising of the site and would
erode the distinctive characteristics of the countryside. It would result in an
adverse effect upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area.

28. I therefore conclude on this main issue that the proposed development
would lead to some harmful erosion to the character and appearance of the
surrounding area. The development, in this regard, would conflict with
Policies GBR2, and DES4 of the District Plan that aims to protect character
and distinctiveness. It would also conflict with the National Planning Policy
Framework that seeks to conserve and enhance the natural environment and
to achieve well designed places.

Other Matters

29. The absence of harm to the living conditions of local residents and the fact it
would meet Council car parking standards is neutral in the overall
consideration of things and neither weighs for or against the proposal.

30. The Council refers to other additional designated heritage assets that the
appeal proposal would be experienced within their setting. However, I am

P ag® 24 ww.qov.uk/planning-inspectorate - null APP/I1915/W/23/3329066



https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

not convinced that the proposal would visually affect how these other assets
would be experienced given the relationship between the two.

Conclusion

31. The proposed development would conflict with the development plan. There
are no material considerations which indicate that the decision should be
made other than in accordance with the development plan. Therefore, for
the reasons given, the appeal is dismissed.

Alison Scott

INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate - null APP/J1915/W/23/3329066 Page 55



https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

P ad@ 2B www.qov.uk/planning-inspectorate - null APP/J1915/W,/23/3329066



https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 5 August 2024
by A Hickey MA MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 26 September 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3331655

Land North East of Lower Road, Great Amwell

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mrs Margaret Nolan against the decision of East Hertfordshire
District Council.

e The application Ref is 3/23/0690/FUL.

e The development proposed is described as undertake landscaping and building works to
a vacant plot of land to create equestrian facilities. The proposals will include a new

e hardstanding, stables, riding ring, and grazing land.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters

2. Since the Council issued its decision, a revised National Planning Policy
Framework (the Framework) was published. The main parties have been given
the opportunity to comment on the updates to the Framework during the
appeal process and I have taken these into consideration in my decision.

Main Issues
3. The main issues are:

e whether the development would be inappropriate development in the Green
Belt having regard to the Framework and any relevant development plan
policies, including the effect upon the openness of the Green Belt;

e the effect of the development upon the character and appearance of the
area;

e the effect of the proposed development on the Public Right of Way (PROW);

e whether any other matters weigh significantly either for or against the
development; and

e if the development is inappropriate, whether the harm by reason of
inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other
considerations so as to amount to the very special circumstances necessary
to justify the development.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate Page 57


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3331655

Reasons
Whether Inappropriate Development

4. Policy GBR1 of the East Herts District Plan (DP) states that planning
applications within the Green Belt will be considered in line with the provisions
of the Framework. Paragraph 154 of the Framework indicates that the
construction of new buildings should be regarded as inappropriate in the Green
Belt except in a number of clearly defined circumstances.

5. Relevant to this appeal is the exception at subparagraph b) of paragraph 154.
This relates to the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the
existing use of land or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation,
cemeteries, and burial grounds and allotments; as long as the facilities
preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes
of including land within it. Also relevant to the appeal is Paragraph 155
subparagraph e) that states the material changes in the use of land (such as
changes of use for outdoor sport or recreation) would not be inappropriate
development in the Green Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not
conflict with the purposes of including land within it.

6. The appellant states that recreational equestrian uses are not inappropriate in
the Green Belt. Nonetheless, they are required to preserve the openness of the
Green Belt and not conflict with the purposes of including land within it.
Therefore, whether the proposal would be inappropriate development is
contingent on whether it would preserve the openness of the Green Belt and
would not conflict with the purposes of including land within it.

7. Paragraph 142 of the Framework explains that the fundamental aim of Green
Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the
essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their
permanence. Openness of the Green Belt has a spatial aspect as well as a
visual aspect. Both aspects therefore need to be considered.

8. The proposed development would largely clear the site for grazing and
introduce a modest-sized stable building, riding ring, front gate, and
hardstanding area with an access track into a site that is currently devoid of
any built development. In spatial terms, the footprint and bulk would inevitably
have an impact on the openness of the Green Belt.

9. The stable building would be located to the rear of the proposed access track
behind a new entrance gate. Although a good level of screening would be
provided by the landscaping on the boundaries, which would help to screen
views, it would stand alone where its mass, height and volume would be visible
from public vantage points on the adjacent lane. As such, the increase in built
form, along with its positioning and the introduction of substantial access gates
and hardstanding, would also result in a loss of openness in visual terms,
leading to a fundamental and permanent change to the Green Belt.

10. For these reasons, the proposed development would not preserve the openness
of the Green Belt in both visual and spatial terms. It would therefore comprise
inappropriate development in the Green Belt. The proposed development would
therefore not comply with the Framework or DP Policy GBR1.

Pag t www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3331655

Character and appearance

11. The appellant refers to the site forming part of the Great Amwell Ridge and
Slopes landscape area, which is described as a complex semi-urban area with
two settlements and combined-urban edge and rural land uses.

12. The appeal site consists of a rectangular shaped parcel of land which narrows
in the middle. The appeal site is situated between a lake and a railway line to
the north and northeast. Beyond the railway line lies the River Lea and open
fields, which are accessible by a PROW that runs alongside the appeal site.
Built form including dwellings, is located to the south and southwest. Much of
the development to the south and southwest is set behind a green wedge of
trees and vegetation.

13. The appeal site has a green, undeveloped appearance as it is covered in well-
established trees of varying sizes and substantial vegetation. The appeal site
and frequent mature trees on both sides of the lane form a break from the
surrounding built form on the opposite side of the lane for users of the PROW.
These trees, alongside established surrounding vegetation, including the trees
subject to a Tree Preservation Order at the appeal site, contribute to the rural
verdant feel of the lane on the settlement edge.

14. To accommodate the development, the appeal scheme would see the removal
and cutting back of a number of trees that are protected. The development
would also see large areas of vegetation removed to facilitate the proposed
stables and associated infrastructure.

15. There are no category A trees to be removed from within the site. Nonetheless,
the grouping of these protected trees adds to the visual amenity of the area,
which transitions from the edge of the settlement to the lake and fields beyond
the railway line. The limited proposed compensatory planting would not be
sufficient to address the loss and reduction, particularly as it would open up
much of the site as a paddock. On the basis of the evidence before me, the
scheme would erode the aesthetically pleasing influence that the trees have on
the area at the edge of the settlement.

16. The stable building is relatively modest in size and is to be constructed in
materials not uncommon in rural locations. However, it would be seen
alongside the riding ring, areas of hardstanding and large, overly domestic
front gates. When taken together, these features would be visually intrusive
and incongruous forms of development at odds with the undeveloped character
of the site.

17. The proposed development would therefore fail to accord with DP Policies
DES2, DES3, DES4, NE2, NE3 and CFLR6. These require, amongst other things,
new development to be of a high standard of design that protects and
conserves the character and distinctive features of the district’s landscape
including trees.

Public footpath

18. DP Policy CFLR3 requires new development to not adversely affect any Public
Right of Way and, where possible, should incorporate measures to maintain
and enhance the Rights of Way network.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3 Page 59


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3331655

19.

20.

The PROW runs along the access lane that future vehicles using the stables
would also use. While it is a single track, there are passing places along the
route that provide good visibility for all users. While there would likely be an
increase in vehicular movements, given the scale of the scheme, these
movements would be limited. In this respect, the proposed development would
have no adverse effect upon the PROW.

Moreover, the Council have provided no substantive evidence to demonstrate
the appellant does not have a private vehicle access right over the PROW.
Consequently, the proposal would not have a harmful effect on the PROW and
therefore comply with DP Policy CFLR3.

Other Matters

21.

22.

23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

I have established above the proposal would conflict with DP Policy CFLR6 in so
far as it relates to character and appearance. The Council’s second reason for
refusal also raises concerns with the need for the development including the
size of the stable and the adequacy of the amount of pasture space that would
be available.

As the building would contain two stables, it is likely that the stable would
accommodate two horses. In the absence of any cogent evidence, the
building’s size appears to be no larger than what one would expect for a
building to accommodate two horses and their associated equipment and feed.

With regard to recommendations for grazing land based on the guidance of the
British Horse Society, both parties have referred to a shortfall of 0.1ha per
horse. The shortfall would be minimal, and it is only a recommendation and in
the absence of any substantive evidence to demonstrate otherwise, there
would be adequate pasture to support two horses.

Policy CFLR6 does not explicitly state that structures on other sites must first
be explored or that there is a need to identify where the horses are currently
kept. There are no existing buildings on site to be reused and given that a
stable is proposed, there is a need for the building on site in this location. As
such, I can see no further conflict with the previously mentioned Policy CFLR6,
relating to equine development in so far as it relates to criteria (a)-(g).

The Council's fifth reason for refusal related to biodiversity net gain (BNG) and
climate change and water resource policies. The appellant states that BNG is
unlikely to be achievable given the scale of the development in comparison
with the site area and, therefore, states the requirement of the policy becomes
disproportionate. However, insufficient evidence is before me to conclude that
other feasible and proportionate alternatives have been adequately explored.
As such, the appeal scheme would conflict with DP Policies NE2 and NE3 which
seek to achieve a net gain in biodiversity on site.

In the case of DP Policies on climate change, CC1, CC2 and water efficiency
Policy WAT4, I find that these matters could be dealt with by appropriately
worded conditions. This is because of the limited scale and nature of the
development proposed.

In regard to these other matters, compliance with some DP Policies is a neutral
matter weighing neither for nor against the development. However, the failure
to provide BNG would result in significant harm to biodiversity and weighs
against the proposal.

Paggt@(D{www.gov.uk(planning-inspectorate 4


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3331655

Other Considerations

28. There is no identified harm with respect to the amenities of neighbouring
properties, harm to the PROW, or climate change, which carry no weight in the
overall Green Belt balance.

29. The proposal would provide benefits for the users in terms of health and
recreation through the day-to-day management of caring for the horses. The
evidence before me indicates that these would be purely private benefits.
Planning is concerned with land use in the public interest and, as such, this
holds limited weight in this context.

Conclusion

30. The proposed development would be inappropriate development in the Green
Belt and would harm openness. As such, the Framework establishes that
substantial weight should be given to any harm to the Green Belt. It would also
be harmful to the character and appearance of the area and fail to provide BNG
on site. Very special circumstances will not exist unless the harm to the Green
Belt and any other harm are clearly outweighed by other considerations.

31. Given the substantial weight to be given to Green Belt harm combined with the
other identified harm relative to the limited benefits of the proposed scheme,
the harm is not clearly outweighed by the other considerations. Therefore, the
very special circumstances necessary to justify the proposal do not exist.

32. For the reasons set out above, I conclude that the appeal is dismissed.

A Hickey

INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 5 Page 61


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 22 July 2024

by A. J. Boughton MA (IPSD) Dip.Arch. Dip.(Conservation) RIBA MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 21 August 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/24/3342536

8 Moat Side Anstey Buntingford SG9 0DD

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mr C Bullen against the decision of East Hertfordshire District
Council.

e The application Ref is 3/23/2214/HH.

e The development proposed is Removal of rear canopy roof. Proposed loft conversion
with 2 rear dormer windows and proposed bi-fold doors to rear elevation.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Preliminary Matter

2. The appeal site falls within a Conservation area and lies adjacent to a listed
building which is also a designated heritage asset. The Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 at section 66 imposes a general
duty to pay special regard to the desirability of preserving a listed building or
its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses. A similar duty exists in relation to Conservation Areas at Section 72.
Whilst I have noted the comments of the Council in that regard and the
character and appearance of Moatside is such that a small degree of change to
the appearance of the appeal site would likely preserve the Anstey
Conservation Area (ACA), it is not apparent that the Council have fully
addressed the impact of the proposal on the setting of the adjacent listed
building which, from my observation, must include the garden area which
surrounds it. It falls to the decision-taker to exercise these duties and
consequently I consider it necessary to also address these concerns in the
appeal.

Main Issue

3. The main issue is the effect of the development upon the setting of Red Stack,
the neighbouring property, which is a designated heritage asset and upon the
living conditions of its occupiers.

Reasons

4. No.8 Moatside (No.8) is a one-bedroomed semi-detached bungalow dating from
the mid-late twentieth century which sits within a group of 3 similar bungalow

Paggt@?/www.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3342536

pairst. These are arranged in an L-shape around a shared grass area which,
with three other houses of recent construction, are accessed off Moatside a
short access road which sits between a scheduled monument to the south-
west? and Red Stack to its north-east, a Grade II listed 17t century timber-
framed house that benefits from a large private garden which provides its
setting.

5. Anstey is a small village dating from the medieval period that despite
subsequent insertions of housing groups, largely retains a quiet rural character
with hedged boundaries and treed verges. Almost all of the village, including
Moatside and the surrounding properties fall within the Anstey Conservation
Area (ACA).

6. The proposal would incorporate the existing roof void of No.8 into the living
space, involving the introduction of two dormer windows into the rear roof
slope. No.8 lies (along with 6,7 and 9 Moatside) adjacent to the shared
boundary with the large garden of ‘Red Stack’.

7. Although there are a number of trees along this boundary, I noted from my
inspection of the adjacent garden of Red Stack that even in times of full leaf3,
the proposed dormers would very likely provide a view into the garden of this
listed house, potentially overlooking a well-used part of what is currently a
private, well enclosed garden not overlooked by neighbouring users.

8. Policies DES4 and VILL2* of the East Herts District Plan 2018 (EHDP)both refer
to the protection of neighbouring amenity as a consideration for development
proposals. In that regard the impacts of introducing new development and the
acceptability of overlooking will vary according to the circumstances in each
case.

9. Whilst, due to factors which include the density of development and
unavoidable proximity, in the majority of urban or suburban environments
outdoor amenity space cannot be private in the sense of it being secluded and
not overlooked. Mutually overlooked suburban gardens or tightly planned urban
settings are tolerated (or found acceptable) within the shared social reality and
choices made in pursuit of urban or suburban living®>. However these are not
factors which apply in this case. Red Stack is designated heritage asset
possessed of a highly secluded and private garden area within a Conservation
Area and these are factors which guide my assessment of the impacts of the
proposal.

10. Although the existing brown concrete pantile roof can be seen from the
adjoining garden of Red Stack, its subdued colour means it has little visual
impact within the treed setting along the shared boundary. I have noted the
appellant’s comments as to the impacts of the proposal as to distance and
positioning, however, the proposed flat-roofed dormer window(s) would
introduce an element of twentieth-century built form which would draw
attention to these insertions by colour, shape and potentially at night as a light
source in an otherwise dark environment. Even if rarely used there would be a

! numbered respectively 4&5; 6&7; 8&9 Moatside.

2 The site of a moated norman castle

3 As was the case at the time of site visit

+ At V(g)

5 This is particularly relevant where housing is arranged along parallel roads and narrow plot widths mean
intervening planting is absent.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2 Page 63


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3342536

perceived loss of the near-absolute seclusion and privacy currently enjoyed by
occupiers of Red Stack from an awareness that such a viewpoint exists. That
weighs against the proposal. I have noted the appellant’s suggestion as to a
condition to obscure-glaze the bedroom dormer as well as the bathroom. Whilst
that would prevent overlooking it would both detriment living conditions for
occupiers, by removing what would be a reasonable expectation of outlook
from a bedroom, and would not address my concerns on the other matters I
have identified.

11. Although the Council suggest that the works proposed would not affect the
setting of this listed building it is not clear how that conclusion was reached.
My observations are that the relatively separate nature of the setting of Red
Stack, particularly its rear garden, is an important contributor to its significance
as a historic building which the proposal would breach in the way I have
explained. I acknowledge that the appellant suggests the intervening distance
and vegetation points to the impact of the dormer not being significant
however that does not account for the intrusive impact of the proposal upon an
otherwise separate and secluded setting. I consider there would be a minor
degree of harm to the significance of this heritage asset by introducing an
awareness of more recent development within the Conservation Area that
would otherwise not be evident when experiencing this heritage asset in its
primary setting. Although altered, this is plainly a building with origins of
significant age, so whilst the harm identified is limited it, nevertheless, should
attract considerable importance and weight in the overall planning balance to
which I now turn.

12. The proposal would provide additional accommodation and make the existing
one-bedroom accommodation potentially more suitable for a small family
rather than one or two people. This stands as a benefit to be weighed in favour
of the proposal. However, having considered the comments of others, including
that of the Parish Council it is apparent that benefit could be achieved in other
ways without the introduction of dormers on the rear roof slope. Consequently,
although the matter is finely balanced as the harms I have identified might be
of little importance in other circumstances, overall the proposal would not meet
the objectives set out in Policy VILL2 at V(g) in that there would be significant
detriment to amenity for occupiers of Red Stack and, in addition, that the
objective of preserving or enhancing designated heritage assets set out in
Policy HA1 of EHDP would not be achieved.

13. For these reasons, having considered all matters raised, the appeal cannot
succeed.

Andrew Boughton
INSPECTOR

Paggt@ﬁ./www.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 3


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 22 August 2024

by Ian McHugh DipTP MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 20 September 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/24/3341046
Bluebell Cottage, Hare Street, Buntingford, SG9 ODY

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mr James Gladding against the decision of East Hertfordshire
District Council.

e The application Ref is 3/23/2260/HH.

e The development proposed is demolition of existing conservatory and chimney, erection
of part single/part two-storey rear extension incorporating roof lantern, rear roof lights
and terrace at first floor. Alterations to roof to include dormer windows to front and
rear, alterations and insertion of fenestration, construction of boundary walls, raised
rear patio, external steps, and landscaping.

Decision

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for demolition of
existing conservatory and chimney, erection of part single/part two-storey rear
extension incorporating roof lantern, rear roof lights and terrace at first floor.
Alterations to roof to include dormer windows to front and rear, alterations and
insertion of fenestration, construction of boundary walls, raised rear patio,
external steps and landscaping at Bluebell Cottage, Hare Street, Buntingford,
SG9 0DY, in accordance with the terms of the application Ref 3/23/2260/HH,
subject to the following conditions:

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than 3 years from
the date of this decision.

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans: PLOO1 rev A; PL010; PLO11; PLO12;
PLO20; PLO21; PL100 rev C; PL101 rev D; PLO2 rev C; PL200 rev D; and
PL201 rev E.

3) The materials to be used in the external surfaces of the development
hereby approved shall be as specified on the planning application form.

4) Notwithstanding the approved drawing and prior to the first use of the
first-floor terrace, the timber privacy screen as shown on drawing PL201
Rev E shall be installed to a height no less than 1.8m. The screen shall
then be retained as such at all times throughout the life of the
development.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate Page 65


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3341046

Main Issue

2.

The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of
both the existing dwelling and the surrounding area.

Reasons

3.

10.

The appeal property is a detached dwelling, which is situated facing Hare Street
within a rural location on the outskirts of Buntingford. The area is
characterised by a mixture of houses that adjoin open countryside. The
dwellings vary in terms of their age, scale and appearance and there is no
common architectural character.

The existing dwelling is relatively modest in scale and it includes previous
additions, including a glazed conservatory and an open-sided canopy, which
covers an existing terrace/patio area. I also observed during my site visit that
a relatively large rear extension has constructed on the neighbouring dwelling,
Lavender Cottage. The Council states that this was approved in 1977.

The proposal is for various alterations and extensions, as described in the
heading above. They would add significantly to the scale and volume of the
building, particularly at the rear. The Council argues that the proposed
single/two-storey rear extension would be out of scale with the existing
dwelling, because of its depth. It argues that it would not appear subservient
and it would be out of proportion in relation to the existing dwelling.

Policy GBR2 of the East Herts District Plan 2018 (DP) seeks to maintain the
rural area beyond the Green Belt and requires alterations and extensions to
buildings to be appropriate in size, scale, mass and form in relation to the
existing site and its surroundings. In addition, Policies DES4 and HOU11 of the
DP require the design of new development to be of a high standard and for
extensions to dwellings to appear as subservient additions.

I have stated above that the proposal would add significantly to the scale and
volume of the building and I accept that the rear extension, particularly the
single-storey element, would not appear as a subservient addition. In that
regard, the proposal would conflict with Policies GBR2 and HOU11 of the DP.

However, whilst there is a conflict with the LP, other material considerations
must also be considered. Although the extension at Lavender Cottage was
approved in 1977 and consequently determined under different planning
policies, the enlarged property remains part of the character and appearance of
the area, particularly given its close physical relationship with the appeal

property.

The appeal proposal would extend out at the rear a comparable distance with
the extension at the neighbouring dwelling, and it would also replace an area
that already includes the existing conservatory, covered canopy and hard
surfaces patio/terrace area. These currently detract from the property and
give it a somewhat disjointed appearance.

Furthermore, the proposed rear extension would not be highly visible from
public viewpoints, given that views from Hare Street are largely screened by
existing hedgerows or by Lavender Cottage. In addition, the proposal would
not encroach beyond the existing garden of the dwelling and, therefore, the
open countryside setting of the property would be retained. In my opinion,

Paggt@@www.gov.uk(planning-inspectorate 2


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3341046

these material considerations outweigh the conflict with the LP and I conclude
that the proposal would not have an unacceptably harmful effect on the
character or appearance of both the existing dwelling or the surrounding area.

11. I note that the Council has not objected to the remainder of the other works,
(including the proposed dormer windows) despite expressing some concerns
over the proposed boundary walls. I have no reason to disagree with the
Council’'s assessment of these other works, which I also find acceptable.

Conditions

12. The Council has suggested conditions in the event of the appeal being allowed.
I have imposed the standard conditions relating to the time period in which to
commence the development and the list of approved plans. To ensure a
satisfactory external appearance, a condition is also imposed requiring the use
of the external materials that have been specified on the planning application
form.

13. The Council has also suggested that a condition be imposed requiring the
installation and retention of privacy screening on the edge of the first-floor roof
terrace. I consider this to be reasonable and necessary in order to protect the
privacy of the occupants of the neighbouring dwelling.

Conclusion

14. For the reasons given above, it is concluded that the appeal be allowed.

Tan McHugh

INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3 Page 67


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 5 August 2024
by A Hickey MA MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 16" September 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/]J1915/D/24/3340988

9 High Street, Walkern, Hertfordshire SG2 7PD

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mr Iain Budge against the decision of East Hertfordshire District
Council.

e The application Ref is 3/23/2275/HH.

e The development proposed is erection of car port/storage incorporating electric charging
points.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters

2. At the time of my visit, there was a building to the front of the host property.
As this does not reflect the submitted plans, I have considered the appeal as a
proposed scheme and on the basis of the submitted drawings.

3. Reference to the proposed development being ‘part retrospective’ has been
removed in the banner above as this is not an act of development.

Main Issues
4. The main issues are the effect of the development on:

e the character and appearance of the area including the significance of 9 High
Street as a non-designated heritage asset (NDHA) and whether it would
preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the Walkern
Conservation Area (WCA); and

e protected trees.
Reasons
Character and appearance and heritage assets

5. The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) requires the effect of
an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset to be
taken into account when determining the application. A balanced judgement is
required regarding the scale of any harm and the significance of the heritage
asset.

6. 9 High Street (No 9) is a large, detached dwelling constructed of brick with
stone features and a slate roof. The property is set back from High Street by a
well-sized front garden and driveway, but it sits close to Church End. Despite

Paggt@&www.gov.uk(planning-inspectorate


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3340988

being set back from High Street the dwelling occupies a prominent position at
the junction on a main route through the village. The significance of No 9 as an
NDHA is largely derived from its prominent location within a large fairly open
plot to which its surviving historic fabric, pleasing architectural composition,
simple detailing and use of traditional materials all positively contribute.

7. The appeal site is located within the WCA. As such, I have had regard to the
statutory duty to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or
enhancing its character or appearance. The significance of the WCA,
particularly this part in which the appeal site is located, is derived from the
historic linear pattern of development along the High Street. Along this
route are many listed historic buildings along both sides of the road.
Dwellings in the area are commonly set back from the road and footway
behind gardens with traditional low front boundaries allowing visually
permeable public and private spaces. Consequently, the generally unaltered
historic layout and forms of dwellings and buildings in the area add to the
architectural interest and character of the WCA.

8. The building would be partially screened by well-established trees and planting
but would be visible from short and medium-range views. The carport would
not appear overlarge relative to the overall plot size. Nonetheless, the building
is of a size that would still be a significant addition in this location.

9. Although it would be set back from High Street, the overall scale and form of
the proposed building would be out of character with the established pattern of
development in the area. It would compromise the sense of undeveloped open-
front gardens within the area. The building's scale, height, and location would
result in an incongruous addition in front of the host dwelling. It would thereby
compete visually with the existing property, which would harm the setting of
No 9 as an NDHA.

10. Furthermore, the prominence of the building in this location would be further
emphasised by seasonal leaf fall, gaps and pruning. It therefore follows that
the development proposed would erode the contribution the host dwelling as an
NDHA makes to the WCA, and as a consequence harm to the significance of the
WCA as a designated heritage asset would result.

11. Other detailing, such as the proposed materials, can be found within the area,
such as at Manor Farm and Bridgefoot Farm Barns. They would also be
sympathetic to the character and appearance of the host dwelling as an NDHA.
However, this does not outweigh the harm identified above as a result of scale,
height and location of the building close to the host property in the fairly open
front garden.

12. While additional landscaping could provide further screening, this would take
some time to mature, and it would not be appropriate to condition it. In any
event, should additional landscaping be removed, die or become diseased, the
building would be highly exposed, resulting in harm to the NDHA and the WCA.
Any replacement planting would also take time to mature.

13. For the purposes of the Framework, the WCA is a designated heritage asset.
The proposal would lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of the
WCA. The Framework indicates that such harm is to be weighed against the
public benefits of a proposal. However, great weight should be given to an
asset’s conservation.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2 Page 69


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3340988

14. The appellant is seeking to create a carport and storage space for the occupiers
of No 9. My attention has been drawn to a carport allowed to the front
elevation of the appeal property. While I do not have full details, the evidence
indicates it was in a different location, had an alternative orientation and size
and is therefore materially different from the appeal scheme. Even if I were to
accept vehicles being shielded from view was a public benefit, given the scale
of the scheme, the benefit would be small, and as such, the public benefits do
not outweigh the identified harm in this case.

15. The appeal site is within the setting of several Grade II listed buildings.
Notwithstanding the harm I have already found, the carport would be a
sensitive form of development to these surrounding heritage assets, given its
size and location away from them. This would match the findings of the Council
who have not objected on these grounds.

16. In view of the above, the proposal would have a harmful effect on the
significance of No 9 as an NDHA and would not preserve the character and
appearance of the WCA or the surrounding area. The development would,
therefore, be contrary to East Herts District Plan (DP) Policies HOU11, DES4,
GBR2, HA1 and HA4. Amongst other things, these policies seek to ensure new
development reflects local distinctiveness, including the character and
appearance of the existing dwelling and surrounding area while preserving the
historic environment. The proposal would also conflict with the provisions of the
Framework in regard to conserving and enhancing the historic environment.

Protected trees

17. DP Policy DES3 requires, amongst other things, proposals to demonstrate how
they will retain, protect and enhance existing landscape features which are of
amenity and/or biodiversity value in order to ensure that there is no net loss of
such features.

18. There are mature trees within the appeal site close to the appeal building that
positively contribute to the area's verdant, somewhat rural character. Due to
the trees' substantial size, they likely have an extensive root system. However,
no arboricultural survey report or other appropriate form of evidence has been
submitted, to determine the root protection areas and any associated
mitigation which may be required.

19. During my site visit, I observed that close to the partially constructed building
onsite, the roots of a nearby tree were exposed close to the foundations. I also
observed what appeared to be lopping to branches on the same tree above the
building.

20. Given the proximity of the tree to the appeal scheme, it is not possible for me
to conclude that the proposal would not cause damage to the tree roots.
Furthermore, the loss of, or work detrimental to, the appearance of this
protected tree, which makes a substantial positive contribution, would, in my
view, result in harm to this existing landscape feature.

21. In reaching this view, I have taken the appellant’s comments into
consideration, stating that there has been no adverse impact on the overall
root protection area of surrounding trees given the building erected on site.
However, I cannot be sure there would be no longer lasting effects on the
health of the tree given the exposed roots I observed. Moreover, the proximity

Paggt@@/www.qov.uk/planninq-inspectorate 3


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3340988

of the appeal scheme may place future pressure on regularly or extensively
pruning the nearby trees or having them removed altogether.

22. As there is a degree of uncertainty around the effects of the proposal on the
protected trees, the use of conditions would not be appropriate in this case. I
therefore conclude that insufficient information has been provided to
demonstrate that the proposed development would not cause harm to the
protected trees. Accordingly, the proposal would conflict with DP Policy DES3.

Other Matters

23. The proposal is considered acceptable by the Local Planning Authority
regarding the lack of harm upon neighbouring properties and nearby listed
buildings. The appellant has also stated they have received compliments on the
design of the building. Nonetheless, these matters do not outweigh the harms I
have found above.

24. My attention has been drawn to a development on the opposite side of High
Street from the site. However, these buildings would be located close to and
share a similar building line to development found alongside this side of the
road.

Conclusion

25. The proposal conflicts with the development plan when taken as a whole and
there are no material considerations, either individually or in combination, that
outweigh the identified harm and associated development plan conflict.

26. Therefore, I conclude the appeal should be dismissed.

A Hickey
INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 4 Page 71


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 19 July 2024

by J L Cheesley BA(Hons) DipTP MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 6 August 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/24/3339742
4 Thorley High, Thorley, Bishops Stortford, Hertfordshire CM23 4AR

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

The appeal is made by Mr Michael Fisher against the decision of East Herts Council.

The application Ref is 3/23/2276/HH.

The development proposed is demolish existing PC garage and replace with two-storey side
extension at same overall width. Demolish existing brick-built utility annexe to rear of existing house.
Construct full width rear single-storey extension with extents and sloping roof in plane of similar
extension to adjacent adjoining property (semi-detached).

Decision

1.

The appeal is dismissed.

Main Issues

2.

| consider the main issues to be:

whether the proposal would amount to inappropriate development in the Green
Belt, having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework)
and any relevant development plan policies, and if so, whether the harm by reason
of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other
considerations, so as to amount to the very special circumstances necessary to
justify the proposal; and

the effect of the proposal on the openness of the Green Belt.

Reasons

3.

The Framework explains that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent
urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open and that the essential
characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. The
construction of new buildings in the Green Belt is inappropriate unless in
accordance with exceptions in the Framework. One exception is the extension or
alteration to a building providing it does not result in disproportionate additions over
and above the size of the original building.

A proposal should be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. Policy GBR1 in The East Herts District
Plan (2018) (District Plan) states that planning applications within the Green Belt
will be considered in line with provisions of the Framework.

Paggt@Z/www.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/24/3339742

The appeal property lies within a group of detached and semi-detached dwellings
where some have been extended to the side and rear. The appeal property is a
semi-detached two-storey dwelling. The proposal includes a two-storey side
extension expanding the main two-storey gable end section of the existing dwelling
across its full depth. A single-storey rear extension would extend across the whole
of the rear in line with the adjoining extension to the neighbouring property. A
garage, utility annexe and rear conservatory would be demolished. Whilst the
Council considers all these to have been extensions to the original dwelling, it was
not clear at my site visit whether the garage and possibly the utility annexe were
part of the original property, although the conservatory does appear to be an
addition.

From my observations, due to the scale of the proposed extension in comparison to
the scale of the original property, even if the garage and utility annexe were original
developments, and taking into account the demolition of the conservatory, |
consider that it would be such a significant increase in floor area as to be a
disproportionate addition. This would constitute inappropriate development in the
Green Belt.

Added to the harm of being inappropriate development is the impact that the
proposal would have in diminishing the sense of openness of this part of the Green
Belt. The garage, utility annexe and conservatory are lightweight structures. Due
to their designs and positions, they have little impact on the openness of the Green
Belt. Whereas the proposed extension to the property, due to its design and scale
would exacerbate the presence of the residential property in the streetscene,
significantly increasing the footprint and bulk of built form at the property.
Therefore, | consider that the proposed addition of domestic built form would
diminish the sense of openness of this part of the Green Belt, both in spatial and
visual terms.

Drawing the above factors together, | consider that the development would harm
the openness and visual amenity of the Green Belt and would have a greater
impact on the purpose of including land within it than the existing condition of the
appeal site. The proposal thus conflicts with the Framework and with District Plan
Policy GBR1.

Other considerations

9.

10.

I note that there have been extensions to other dwellings in this group of properties,
particularly to the adjoining property. None are directly comparable to the proposal
before me. In particular, on the adjoining property there is a less intrusive hip,
rather than gable end, roof structure. These are material considerations, and |
have attributed some weight to the presence of other extensions in the vicinity in
my determination of this appeal.

Conversely, it appears that these extensions were permitted prior to the adoption of
the current development plan. This factor limits the weight | can attribute to these
permissions. | accept that the Council has raised no objection to the proposal in
terms of the character and appearance of the area. However, as set out above, the
main issues in this case are the effects of the proposal on the Green Belt, and |
have considered the appeal on this basis. In any event, | have determined the
proposal before me on its individual merits.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2 Pag e 73


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/24/3339742

Conclusion

11. In reaching my conclusion, | have had regard to all matters raised. It is necessary
to determine whether there are other considerations which clearly outweigh the
harm to the Green Belt, and any other harm, hereby justifying the proposal on the
basis of very special circumstances. For the reasons stated above, in my opinion
the considerations advanced in support of the proposal do not clearly outweigh the
harm it would cause to the Green Belt. In conclusion, | am of the opinion that there
are no material factors that would amount to the very special circumstances
needed to clearly outweigh the presumption against inappropriate development in
the Green Belt. Thus, the proposal would be contrary to District Plan Policy GBR1
and policy in the Framework.

12. For the reasons given above the appeal should be dismissed.

J L Cheesley

INSPECTOR

Pag elgilﬂ(ww.qov.uk/planninq-inspectorate 3


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 27 August 2024

by Peter D. Biggers BSc Hons MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 20" September 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/24/3342885
Major Barclay Farms, Beeches Manor, Brent Pelham, Buntingford SG9 OHJ

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mr Ross Mayger (Sworders) against the decision of East Herts
District Council.

e The application Ref is 3/23/2284/FUL

e The development proposed is erection of an agricultural straw barn and associated
development.

Decision

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for erection of an
agricultural straw barn and associated development at Major Barclay Farms,
Beeches Manor, Brent Pelham, Buntingford, SG9 OHJ in accordance with the
terms of the application, Ref 3/23/2284/FUL, and the plans submitted with it,
subject to the conditions in the attached schedule.

Application for costs

2. An application for costs was made by Mr Ross Mayger (Sworders) against East
Herts District Council and this is the subject of a separate decision.

Main Issues

3. The main issues are whether the proposed development would amount to an
agricultural use justified in the countryside location and whether there would be
an adverse effect of the proposed barn on the character and appearance of the
rural area.

Reasons

4. The appeal site sits approximately 130 metres at the closest point to the north
of the main farm buildings at Beeches Manor Farm on the east side of Beeches
Woodland. The site is currently gravelled hardstand with straw bales stored in
the open.

5. Beeches Manor is an arable farm extending to 571 hectares with the farm
buildings sited together on the north side of Pump Road (B1038) and
principally used for cereal and machinery storage. The farm complex has a
biomass-fed heating system for heating the farm offices which is intended to be
used for grain drying on the farm. The boiler is straw fed and the proposal is to
develop a barn to store straw from cereals grown on the farm for this purpose.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate Page 75


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3342885

6. Policy GBR2 of the East Herts District Plan (EHDP) at Policy GBR2 allows
agricultural buildings in the area beyond the green belt provided there is no
adverse impact on the character and appearance of the rural area.

7. It has been put to me that there is insufficient evidence to demonstrate the
need for the building and whether the straw barn actually constitutes an
agricultural use and therefore that the countryside location is appropriate.
Whilst I understand why the council might wish to be assured about the need, I
note that neither Policy GBR2 nor the supporting text requires need to be
demonstrated. Nevertheless, I consider the matter below.

8. Given that the farm business is growing cereals, a major output from that
operation will be straw and it was evident from my visit at a time when
harvesting was underway that a considerable amount of straw had already
been harvested and was stored on the appeal site. Straw constitutes a side
product of the principal agricultural operation — growing cereals and it is
entirely justified that it is stored on the farm. As stated above the intention is
that the straw will be used to feed the biomass boiler used to provide heat for
the farm and for grain drying and for that purpose it needs to be dry straw.
Currently the evidence before me suggests that 40% of the straw, if stored
externally, is too wet to use and therefore the need for the straw barn to
protect it from the elements. As dry grain is an essential requirement of an
arable farm’s cereal output and dry straw is to be used as an on-farm sourced
sustainable supply of biomass for the boiler I am satisfied that the straw barn
is needed and would be agricultural in its use.

9. In that regard the principle of the barn is not in conflict with EHDP Policy GBR2
and what remains to be determined is whether the barn could be located
elsewhere and if not its impact on character and appearance.

10. It has been put to me that the straw could be stored in one of the permitted
buildings adjacent to the main steading area but not yet constructed. There are
two reasons why this would not be an option. First it is the stated intention of
the applicant that the, as yet, unbuilt barns on the steading are still required
for grain storage. I have no evidence to suggest otherwise. Secondly, and more
importantly, as a highly flammable commodity, if straw is stored in the main
steading and goes on fire it is highly likely to result in significant damage to the
rest of the steading, machinery and any crops stored within it. This is borne out
by the appellant’s evidence from the NFU and insurers advising that hay and
straw should be stored away from other buildings. For these reasons I am
satisfied the use of the buildings already permitted would not be possible and a
location outside the steading buildings would be justified.

11. It has been put to me that the appeal site would be unnecessarily far removed
from the steading and that a location closer to the steading could meet the NFU
and the insurer’s advice, and would be better in terms of impact on the rural
area. However, in the chosen location the barn would be utilising an area of
broken hardstanding already in use for straw storage in large ricks and the
barn would be screened in part by Beeches Wood to the west and the hedgeline
to the north. If the barn were to be moved further south towards the steading
the barn would be in more open ground, more likely to be visible in views from
the B1038.

12. The barn in the proposed location, subject to appropriate materials and
colourings, would not be overly intrusive and this could be controlled by an

Paggtg@www.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 2


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3342885

appropriately worded materials condition. Moreover, it is worth bearing in mind
that an open sided, appropriately coloured barn would have little greater visual
impact than the current practice of covering the large straw ricks on the appeal
site with white tarpaulins shown in the photos submitted with the appeal.

13. In terms of visibility in the countryside, as already stated the barn is partially
screened by woodland and hedgerow planting. It would not be widely viewed
from the B1038 approaching from the west due to distance and topography nor
from the road in the approach from the east although a glimpsed view would
be possible on the bend at the start of the public footpath just west of Grays
Cottages. Open views of it would be seen from this footpath (FP27) but the
barn would be seen against the woodland of Beeches Wood.

14. I am not therefore persuaded by the Council’s argument that the barn would be
particularly prominent in the wider landscape. As such, and for the reasons
above, and subject to condition the proposed barn would be compatible with
the character and appearance of the rural area, the test in Policy GBR2.

Other Matters

15. Section 66 of the Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990 requires
that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or
enhancing the character or appearance of the listed building. Beeches
Farmhouse is a grade II* listed building. However, the appeal site is separated
from the listed building by the present farm steading and its substantial barns
and structures. The proposed straw barn would not be viewed together with the
listed building and given this context, the proposal would not harm the setting
or significance of the listed building and would therefore not conflict with EHDP
Policy HA1 and Policy HA7 on heritage assets.

16. A Scheduled Ancient Monument (Shonks Moat), a medieval moated site and an
area of archaeological significance, lies to the east of the appeal site. Given the
distance from the monument and the fact that the asset is screened by
woodland from the appeal site any visual impact would be limited. It is clear
from the appeal documents that no finds of archaeological interest are known
from the appeal site. Applying a precautionary approach however, as the site
has the potential to include remains, a condition requiring archaeological
investigation would be justified.

Conclusions and Conditions

17. For the reasons above I am satisfied that the straw barn would constitute an
agricultural use and that its provision on the farm is needed. Its location at a
distance to the steading would be justified and given the partial screening by
Beeches Wood and the hedgerow and provided materials and colouring are
appropriately controlled the barn would not have an adverse impact on the
character and appearance of the rural area. The appeal is allowed and planning
permission is granted for the straw barn.

18. The Council has proposed a number of conditions in its appeal questionnaire. I
have considered these in the light of the advice in the National Planning Policy
Framework and Planning Practice Guidance. A condition requiring development
to be carried out in accordance with the submitted plans is necessary in the
interest of certainty.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3 Page 77


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3342885

19. In order to safeguard the character and appearance of the countryside two

conditions need to be added requiring details of external materials including
their colour to be submitted to and approved by the Council and the submission
of a landscaping scheme. The Council wording of the materials condition merely
requires materials to be in accordance with the plans but it is important that
the Council is given control over the proposed materials and their colouring. I
have therefore proposed an amended wording. In view of this the parties have
been consulted on the revised condition. No concerns have been raised.

20. As stated above, in view of the Scheduled Ancient Monument in the vicinity, the

21.

site has the potential to include archaeological remains and a condition is
necessary requiring archaeological assessment to be carried out in advance of
any construction to ensure any archaeological interest is understood and
remains recorded and protected as appropriate.

Finally, the development has the potential to deliver biodiversity net gain and a
condition is necessary to require a biodiversity improvement plan to ensure this
is delivered.

P. D. Biggers

INSPECTOR

Schedule of conditions

1.

The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years from
the date of this decision.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
submitted documents and the following approved plans: 223404 PL100;
223404 PL300.

No development above floor slab level shall take place until details (including
colour) of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces
of the barn hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved details.

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, details of additional
landscaping shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. This shall include full details of both hard and soft landscape
proposals, hard surfacing materials, retained landscape features, planting
plans, schedules of plants, species, planting sizes, density of planting and an
implementation timetable. Thereafter, the development should be implemented
in accordance with the approved details.

No development shall take place within the proposed development site until the
applicant, (or their agents, or their successors in title), has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a
written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted to the Local
Planning Authority and approved in writing. This condition will only be
considered to be discharged when the planning authority has received and
approved an archaeological report on all the required archaeological works, and
if appropriate, a commitment to publication has been made.

Paggtggwww.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 4


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3342885

6. Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, details of a
biodiversity improvement plan shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority, the details shall include:

a) full details of native species planting, schedules of plants, species, planting
sizes, density of planting and implementation timetable;

b) full details of measures to demonstrate a Biodiversity Net Gain.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme
and retained as such thereafter.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 5 Page 79


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 22 August 2024

by Ian McHugh DipTP MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 20 September 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/24/3339922
High Trees, Great Hormead, Buntingford, SG9 ONR

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mr Dale Stacey against the decision of East Hertfordshire
Council.

e The application Ref is 3/23/2409/HH.

e The development proposed is construction of single-storey side extension, two-storey
rear extension, two-storey front porch addition to first floor windows and gable roof
feature, one new first floor side window and alteration to one first floor side window,
new rear patio, external steps and retaining wall.

Decision

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for construction of
single-storey side extension, two-storey rear extension, two-storey front porch
addition to first floor windows and gable roof feature, one new first floor side
window and alteration to one first floor side window, new rear patio, external
steps and retaining wall at High Trees, Great Hormead, Buntingford, SG9 ONR
in accordance with the terms of the application Ref 3/23/2409/HH, subject to
the following conditions:

1)  The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than 3 years from
the date of this decision.

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans: PLO1; PLO2 Rev A; PLO3 Rev B and
PLO4 Rev B.

3) The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of
the development hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing
building.

4) No development or groundworks shall take place until the applicant, or
their agents, or their successors in title, has secured the implementation
of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written
scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter
be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.

Main Issue

2. The main issue is the effect of the proposal on both the character and
appearance of the existing dwelling and the Great Hormead Conservation Area
(CA).

Paggt@‘a(www.gov.uk(planning-inspectorate


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]1915/D/24/3339922

Reasons

3.

10.

11.

The appeal property is a detached two-storey property, which is situated in a
spacious plot, accessed via a private drive. It is well set-back from the
highway and is partly screened by mature trees, which are positioned closer to
the road frontage.

The site is within the CA, which encompasses much of the settlement of Great
Hormead. Consequently, building styles, ages and layout vary. However, the
space around the appeal dwelling and the mature trees on the site frontage are
a distinctive characteristic. Nevertheless, in my opinion, the appeal dwelling
itself is of no particular architectural or historic interest.

Three recent proposals for extensions to the property were refused by the
Council with two subsequently dismissed at appeal. The current proposal is
materially different and these decisions do not create a precedent for the
current appeal.

The current appeal proposal is for extensive alterations and extensions to the
property as described in the heading above. I acknowledge that the proposal,
as a whole, could not be described as a subordinate or subservient when
compared to the original/ existing dwelling and, in that regard, there is a
conflict with Policy HOU11 of the East Herts District Plan 2018 (DP).

In addition, the Council considers that the proposal conflicts with Policies DES4,
VILL2 and HA4 of the DP. These policies seek to ensure (amongst other
things) that the design of new development is of a high standard; that it is in
keeping with the village; and it preserves or enhances the character or
appearance of the CA.

As with most planning decisions, whether a proposal is acceptable or not is a
subjective matter. In this case, whilst I have accepted that there would be a
conflict with Policy HOU11 because of the overall size of the additions, this does
not make the proposal unacceptable. Other material considerations must be
taken into account.

The existing dwelling is of no merit in terms of its design and appearance and
the building itself does not make a positive contribution to the significance of
the CA. Whilst the proposed works would be extensive, the single -storey side
extension would have little visual impact and the two-storey front porch would
add some relief and interest to the property. Furthermore, whilst the two-
storey rear addition would be large, it would be mostly screened by the front
elevation of the dwelling and it would have little effect on the spacious setting
of the property. Therefore, it would not have an adverse impact on the
character or appearance of the CA.

The Council has also expressed concerns regarding the arrangement, spacing
and number of windows that are proposed. Although the proposed glazing
would be a dominant feature on the dwelling, I consider that arrangement to
be balanced and of a scale that would not be at odds with the age and style of
the property.

Therefore, I find that the proposal would not conflict with Policies DES4, VILL2
or HA4 of the DP, as referred to above.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2 Page 81


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]1915/D/24/3339922

Conditions

12. The Council has suggested conditions in the event of the appeal being allowed.
I have imposed the standard conditions relating to the time period in which to
commence the development and the list of approved plans. To ensure a
satisfactory external appearance, a condition is also imposed requiring the use
of external materials that match those on the existing dwelling.

13. The Council has also suggested two additional conditions in respect of
archaeology and tree protection. I have noted that the Historic Environment
Section at the County Council did not respond to the consultation. However,
the evidence before me is that the appeal site lies within an area of
‘Archaeological Significance’ and for that reason, I consider that the Council’s
suggested condition is both reasonable and necessary.

14. The Council has also suggested that a condition be imposed requiring the
retention and protection of existing trees and hedges. However, the proposed
extensions would be unlikely to impact on any trees within the site.
Consequently, I am not persuaded that the suggested condition is necessary.

Conclusion

15. For the reasons given above, it is concluded that the appeal be allowed.

Tan McHugh

INSPECTOR

Paggt@Q/www.qov.uk/planninq-inspectorate 3


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decisions

Site visit made on 3 September 2024

by A James BSc (Hons) MA MSc MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 19 September 2024
Appeal A: APP/J1915/W/24/3344777
56 St Andrew Street, Hertford, Hertfordshire SG14 1JA

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 (as amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mr Andre Rideout against the decision of East
Hertfordshire District Council.

e The application reference is 3/23/2427/HH.

e The development proposed is single storey rear extension with internal
alterations.

Appeal B: APP/311915/Y/24/3344778
56 St Andrew Street, Hertford, Hertfordshire SG14 1JA

e The appeal is made under section 20 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) against a refusal to grant listed
building consent.

e The appeal is made by Mr Andre Rideout against the decision of East
Hertfordshire District Council.

e The application reference is 3/23/2428/LBC.

e The works proposed relate to single storey rear extension with internal
alterations.

Decisions

1. Appeal A is dismissed.
2. Appeal B is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters

3. As the appeal site lies within a conservation area (CA) and relates to a listed
building, I have had special regard to sections 16(2), 66(1) and 72(1) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the Act).

4. The Council raises no objections to the replacement of the existing windows
in the single storey rear projection with new double glazed windows. Based
on the evidence before me and my site visit, I find no reason to reach a
contrary conclusion to the Council on this matter.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate P
Appeal A: APP/J1915/W/24/3344777 & Appeal B: APP/11915/Y/24/3344778 age 83


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

5. To the west of the appeal site is ‘58 and 60, St Andrew Street’ (Ref:
1268747), which is a late 16™ century, Grade II listed building. To the east is
‘54, St Andrew Street’ (Ref: 1268745), which dates back to the late
18™/early 19% century and is also Grade II listed. Opposite the site is a
Grade II listed building, known as ‘Cawthorne’ (Ref: 1268743), which dates
back to the late 16%/early 17™ century. The ‘Church of St Andrew’ (Ref:
1268748), with associated features/structures! lies on the opposite side of
the road and are Grade II listed. I have had special regard to the desirability
of preserving the setting of these listed buildings and other listed buildings
within the locality in the determination of these appeals and I am satisfied
that there would be no harm to the special interest of nearby listed buildings
through changes to their setting.

Main Issue

6. The main issue is whether the proposal would preserve a Grade II listed
building, known as ‘56, St Andrew Street’ (Ref: 1268746) and any features
of special architectural or historic interest that it possesses.

Reasons

7. 56, St Andrew Street is a two storey townhouse, with attic accommodation,
which dates back to the early/mid-18t™" century and contains 20" century
alterations. It is constructed of red brick, with some grey headers. The rear
elevation is plastered. The listed building has a distinctive double gabled ‘M’
roof form. It also has a two storey rear projection, which the listing
description refers to as Victorian, although the appellant considers that it
could be Edwardian. The two storey rear projection contains traditional,
timber framed sash windows on the ground and first floor, which feature
historic ironmongery. The building also has a single storey rear projection,
which is finished in white weatherboarding. The Council advises that the
single storey rear projection was formerly a detached outbuilding, which was
linked to the dwelling in the 20 century.

8. Based on my site visit and the evidence before me, I find that the listed
building’s special interest and significance insofar as is relevant to these
appeals is derived from its historic and architectural interest as an illustration
of 18 century, Georgian, domestic architecture. The building’s historic
fabric, its pitched roofs, the symmetricity of the two storey rear projection,
use of traditional materials, the legibility of its historic plan form and its
pleasing architectural style make important contributions in these regards.

9. The property has evolved over time and this has led to a variety of
structures and forms on the rear elevation. The two storey rear projection
forms part of the historic evolution of the property and its symmetrical form
and large, timber sash windows contribute to the special interest of the listed
building.

10. The proposal seeks to erect a 'L’ shaped, contemporary, single storey
extension, which would wrap around two sides of the two storey rear
projection and infill the gap between the single storey and two storey rear
projections. While the proposed extension would be set in from the side

1 *‘Boundary Railings to St Andrews Churchyard’ (Ref: 1268982), ‘Churchyard Wall to Church of St Andrew’
(Ref: 1268749) and ‘War Memorial in North Churchyard, Church of St Andrew’ (Ref: 1268750).

P httpsy /f www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
a A: APP/]J1915/W/24/3344777 & Appeal B: APP/11915/Y/24/3344778


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

elevations of the property and not extend as far rearwards as the existing
single storey rear projection, it would be wider and out of scale with the two
storey rear projection in which it would be attached.

11. The appellant’s Heritage Consultant considers that the windows within the
two storey rear projection are over-sized and appear awkward. The extent of
glazing proposed on the rear of the extension would be larger and out of
proportion with the existing fenestration on the property. I appreciate that
the use of render and cast iron downpipes would complement the existing
building and that the roof could be tied in with the surrounding flashings. I
also acknowledge that matters of aesthetic can be highly subjective.
However, I find that the proposed extension, by reason of its box like
structure, shallow pitched roof and the size and siting of the fenestration
would fail to respect the architectural integrity of the listed building. The
proposed roof design would also harmfully jar with the generally more
traditional roof forms found on the listed building and the proposal would
erode the sense of symmetry that the existing two storey projection
currently exhibits.

12. Furthermore, I find that the use of powder coated aluminium for the French
doors by reason of its use of modern materials would harmfully discord with
the more traditional materials found on the listed building.

13. To facilitate access to the new extension, the proposal would result in the
loss of the ground floor timber framed, sash windows, which contains historic
fabric, including historic ironmongery. The proposal would also require the
removal of a number of brick courses below the existing ground floor
windows, which would result in the loss of further historic fabric. I appreciate
that the appellant intends that the proposal is carried out sensitively, in
accordance with conservation good practice. The works would also not
impact any Georgian interior features. However, the proposal would result in
the loss of historic fabric, which would be harmful to the special interest of
the listed building.

14. The proposed extension would obscure part of the historic rear elevation and
two storey rear projection. The proposal would result in further incremental
extension to the rear of the property, which would erode the legibility and
architectural integrity of the listed building.

15. I appreciate that the proposal is modest in size and would be subservient to
the listed building. It would also be sited to the rear of the property and not
visible in public views. Nevertheless, listed buildings are safeguarded for
their inherent architectural and historic interest irrespective of whether or
not public views of the building can be gained.

16. For the reasons given above, I find that the proposal would fail to preserve
the special interest of the listed building and would harm the significance of
this designated heritage asset.

17. Paragraph 205 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (the
Framework) advises that when considering the impact of development on the
significance of designated heritage assets, great weight should be given to
the asset’s conservation. Paragraph 206 advises that significance can be
harmed or lost through the alteration or destruction of those assets and that

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate P
Appeal A: APP/J1915/W/24/3344777 & Appeal B: APP/11915/Y/24/3344778 age 85


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

any such harm should require clear and convincing justification. Given the
nature and extent of the proposal, I find the harm to be less than substantial
in this instance but nevertheless of considerable importance and weight.

Where a proposal would lead to less than substantial harm to the significance
of a designated heritage asset, paragraph 208 of the Framework advises that
this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal,
including, where appropriate, securing the asset’s optimum viable use.

The proposal would provide enhanced and more modern living
accommodation. It would also improve the circulation space within the
building. However, these are solely private, as opposed to public benefits.

The proposal would result in investment into the property, which would have
a small economic benefit. The proposal would also improve the energy
efficiency of the dwelling, which would be an environmental benefit. These
factors carry limited weight in favour of the proposal as public benefits.

There is no compelling evidence before me to suggest that the use of the
building as a residential dwelling would cease in the absence of the proposal.
Consequently, I do not find the proposal necessary to secure the viability
and long-term conservation of the building. There is also no substantive
evidence before me that the proposal is necessary in order to secure the
optimum viable use of the asset.

Overall, there would be limited public benefits from the proposal.
Consequently, in attributing considerable importance and weight to the
identified harm to the significance of the designated heritage asset, I find
that there would be insufficient public benefits arising from the proposal to
outweigh this harm.

Given the above, I conclude that, on balance, the proposal would fail to
preserve the special interest and significance of the listed building and would
fail to satisfy the requirements of the Act and the historic environment
protection policies of the Framework. The proposal would also conflict with
Policies HA1, HA7, HOU11 and DES4 of the East Herts District Plan October
2018. These policies among other things require that development proposals
preserve and where appropriate enhance the historic environment; sustain
and enhance the significance of listed buildings; not have any adverse effect
on the architectural and historic character or appearance of the building; and
are of a high standard of design, which is appropriate to the character and
appearance of the dwelling.

Other Matters

24,

The appeal site lies within the Hertford Conservation Area (CA). Both parties
agree that the proposal would not harm the significance of the CA.
Nevertheless, I have had special regard to the desirability of preserving or
enhancing the character or appearance of the CA in my decision. Despite the
harm that would be caused to the listed building, I do not find that the
proposal would be detrimental to the character or appearance of the CA. This
is because the proposal would not be visible from the public domain and
would only have limited prominence from the private domain. Under such

P httpsy Hwww.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
agégg\@k APP/J1915/W/24/3344777 & Appeal B: APP/11915/Y/24/3344778


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

circumstances case law? has established that proposals must be judged
according to their effect on a CA as a whole and must therefore have a
moderate degree of prominence. Given the above, I find that the proposal
would not be detrimental to the CA and thus preserve its significance.

25. The appellant refers to extensions and alterations to listed buildings and
contemporary developments in the locality. However, there are limited
details before me of the other schemes. Nevertheless, I am required to
determine these appeals on their own merits.

Conclusion

26. For the above reasons and having regard to all other matters raised, I
conclude that both Appeal A and Appeal B should be dismissed.

A James

INSPECTOR

2 South Oxfordshire DC v SSE & J Donaldson [1991] CO/1440/89

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate P 7
Appeal A: APP/J1915/W/24/3344777 & Appeal B: APP/11915/Y/24/3344778 age 8


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decisions

Site visit made on 3 September 2024

by A James BSc (Hons) MA MSc MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 12 September 2024

Appeal A: APP/J1915/W/24/3343771
59 High Street, Ware SG12 9AB

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 (as amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Marlborough Opportunities Ltd against the decision of
East Hertfordshire District Council.

e The application reference is 3/23/2460/FUL.

e The development is described as ‘replacement windows and doors to front
elevation - part retrospective.’

Appeal B: APP/J1915/Y/24/3343765
59 High Street, Ware SG12 9AB

e The appeal is made under section 20 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) against a refusal to grant listed
building consent.

e The appeal is made by Marlborough Opportunities Ltd against the decision of
East Hertfordshire District Council.

e The application reference is 3/23/2461/LBC.

e The works are described as ‘replacement windows and doors to front
elevation - part retrospective.’

Decisions

1. Appeal A is dismissed.
2. Appeal B is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters

3. As the appeal site lies within a conservation area (CA) and relates to a listed
building, I have had special regard to sections 16(2), 66(1) and 72(1) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the Act).

4. The appeal scheme is described as ‘part retrospective’. However, the doors
and windows have already been installed. Appeal A is therefore
retrospective. It is not possible to apply retrospectively for works to a listed
building. Appeal B therefore seeks retention of the works. The windows do

P httpsy Ewww.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
agé_ggQDecision - Appeal A: APP/J1915/W/24/3343771 & Appeal B: APP/11915/Y/24/3343765


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

not require listed building consent, as 59 The High Street (No 59) is not a
listed building.

Main Issues

5. The main issues are whether the retention of the windows and doors
preserve a Grade II* listed building, known as ‘Numbers 61, 61A, 61B and
63 including doorway to Number 59 (not included), 61 61A 61B 63, High
Street’ (the listed building) (Ref: 1237718) and any of the features of special
architectural or historic interest that it possesses; and, whether the appeal
scheme preserves or enhances the character or appearance of the Ware
Conservation Area (CA).

Reasons

6. The listed building comprises of a small complex of buildings, which include 2
former inn sites, with interlocked subdivisions. The listed building is part
early 15% century, with 17%, 18™" and 19 century alterations. It is two
storeys high and has a timber frame, jettied first floor, tiled roof and plaster
finish. The ground floor of No 61 contains a carriageway, which has a mid-
20t century infill and forms the entrance to the appeal property. While the
doorway to No 59 does not form part of the listed building, it is attached to
the listed building; hence the requirement for listed building consent.

7. Based on my site visit and the evidence before me, I find that the listed
building’s special interest, insofar as is relevant to these appeals is derived
from its historic and architectural interest, as an illustration of 15th century
architecture. The building’s timber frame, jettied first floor, surviving historic
fabric, use of traditional materials and its pleasing architectural style and
design all make important contributions in these regards.

8. The appeal property is a three storey building. It has recently been
converted from a bank into residential and office use. While the Council
refers to No 59 as a non-designated heritage asset, the appeal site lies
within the CA, which is a designated heritage asset.

9. The CA covers a large part of the town, including its commercial centre and a
section of the River Lea. The significance of the CA insofar as is relevant to
these appeals is derived from its diverse range of high quality historic
buildings, which include commercial, residential and industrial architecture
and historic marketplaces, which signify the town’s evolution as a historic
market town. The appeal property by reason of its architectural design and
detailing is of historic interest and makes a positive contribution to the
character and appearance of the CA. This contribution is recognised by the
designation of No 59 as an ‘unlisted building to be protected from demolition’
within the Ware Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan
July 2016.

10. The appeal property occupies a prominent position on the High Street and its
front elevation, including its windows and doors are highly visible from the
public realm. The former windows by reason of their traditional character,
high quality materials, intricate detailing and the depth of the reveals made
a positive contribution to the significance of the CA. The former door was of

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
Appeal Decision — Appeal A: APP/J1915/W/24/3343771 & Appeal B: APP/11915/Y/24/334376%a0€ 89


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

no architectural significance and detracted from the character and
appearance of the CA and the special interest of the listed building.

11. The appeal scheme seeks to retain the recently installed windows and doors.
The appellant advises that the windows are a replica of the previous
windows. However, it is clear from the evidence before me that the
replacement windows are chunkier in appearance and this changes the
proportions of the frames and harmfully erodes the intricate detailing, which
was present on the former windows. The windows also lack the depth of
reveals that the previous windows exhibited. The replacement windows by
reason of their use of modern materials, chunkier profile and relatively flush
appearance have a far more modern appearance than the historic windows
and are out of keeping in the historic environment.

12. The appellant advises it would be possible to replicate the previous recessed
appearance of the fixed lights and casements by adding planted on beading
in hardwood. Based on the information before me, I do not find that this
would adequately address the proportions of the windows, neither would it
replicate the previous window material.

13. The previous doors had a steel frame and concrete surround and were
heavily glazed. Given the extent of glazing, they appeared relatively
lightweight and were not a prominent feature within the CA. The previous
doors were also not dissimilar from other doors that I observed on
commercial properties within the CA.

14. The replacement doors are 3 panel doors, with raised and fielded panels and
a fanlight above, which is divided into 3 by non-structural glazing bars. The
doors have been spray painted with a matt colour, which is not dissimilar to
the colour of the joinery on the listed building. Nevertheless, the
replacement doors are far more solid in appearance than the previous doors
and utilise modern materials, which appear harmfully discordant within the
historic environment. The provision of stuck on glazing bars also fails to
respect the historic environment and the special interest of the Grade II*
listed building.

15. I acknowledge that the Council considers that the replacement doors are an
improvement over the previous doors. However, I find the replacement
doors, by reason of their more prominent appearance and starkly modern
materials fail to preserve the special interest of the listed building and the
significance of the CA.

16. Consequently, the scheme fails to preserve the special interest of the Grade
IT* listed building and the significance of the CA, which derives much of its
significance from the traditional architectural detail of the buildings within it.

Public Benefits

17. Paragraph 205 of the Framework advises that when considering the impact
of development on the significance of designated heritage assets, great
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. Paragraph 206 advises
that significance can be harmed or lost through the alteration or destruction
of those assets and that any such harm requires clear and convincing
justification. Given the nature and extent of the scheme, I find the harm to

P httpse A Www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
a WDecision - Appeal A: APP/]J1915/W/24/3343771 & Appeal B: APP/]1915/Y/24/3343765


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

be less than substantial in this instance but nevertheless of considerable
importance and weight.

18. Where a scheme leads to less than substantial harm to the significance of a
designated heritage asset, paragraph 208 of the Framework advises that this
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the scheme, including,
where appropriate, securing the asset’s optimum viable use.

19. The investment into the property has a small economic benefit, which carries
limited weight in favour of the scheme as a public benefit. The scheme
improves the energy efficiency of the building, which is an environmental
benefit. The appellant also considers the scheme provides improved office
accommodation and more secure living accommodation. However, there is
no compelling evidence before me why similar benefits could not be achieved
through an alternative, less harmful scheme that better respects the historic
environment. There is also no substantive evidence before me that the
scheme is necessary in order to secure the optimum viable use of the asset.

20. Overall, I give limited weight to the public benefits of the scheme.
Consequently, in attributing considerable importance and weight to the
identified harm to the significance of the designated heritage assets, I find
that there would be insufficient public benefits arising from the scheme to
outweigh this harm.

21. Given the above, I conclude that, on balance, the scheme fails to preserve
the special historic interest and significance of the Grade II* listed building
and the significance of the CA. The scheme fails to satisfy the requirements
of the Act and paragraph 203 of the Framework. The scheme also conflicts
with Policies DES4, HA1, HA4 and HA7 of the East Herts District Plan October
2018 (the District Plan) and Policy W3 of the Ware Neighbourhood Plan.
These policies among other things require that schemes: are of a high
standard of design; preserve and where appropriate enhance the historic
environment; preserve or enhance the special interest, character and
appearance of the CA; use materials and adopt design details which
reinforce local character and are traditional to the area; retain historic
features, including windows; and sustain and enhance the significance of
listed buildings.

22. As No 59 lies within the CA (which is a designated heritage asset), I do not
find that Policy HA2 of the District Plan, which refers to non-designated
heritage assets is applicable to this appeal.

Other Matters

23. Any subsequent enforcement action is a matter for the Council and not under
consideration as part of these appeals.

Conclusion

24. For the above reasons and having regard to all other matters raised, I
conclude that both Appeal A and Appeal B should be dismissed.

A James

INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 1
Appeal Decision — Appeal A: APP/11915/W/24/3343771 & Appeal B: APP/11915/Y/24/334376%a0€ 9


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 3 July 2024

by Ian McHugh DipTP MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 1 August 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/24/3342357
56 Fanhams Road, Ware, Hertfordshire, SG12 7DL

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mr Stuart Bailes against the decision of East Herts Council.

e The application Ref is 3/23/2482/HH.

e The development proposed is extension over single-storey side/rear extension and
erection of front porch.

Decision

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for an extension over
single-storey side/rear extension and erection of front porch at 56 Fanhams
Road, Ware, Hertfordshire, SG12 7DL in accordance with the terms of the
application, Ref 3/23/2482/HH, subject to the following conditions:

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than 3 years from
the date of this decision.

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans: Drawing No:080/CAR/QOS; and
Drawing No:56/FAN/001 Rev A.

3) The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of
the development hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing
building.

Main Issue

2. The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of
both the existing dwelling and the streetscene.

Reasons

3. The appeal property is a semi-detached two-storey dwelling, which is situated
within a residential estate. Most of the properties date from the 1950’s and the
surrounding area contains a mix of semi-detached and terraced housing.
Several properties have been altered and extended since they were originally
built.

4. The appeal property has a staggered flat roofed single-storey side/rear section,
which is set-back behind the front wall of the dwelling. The proposal is to build
above this part of the building to create an additional bedroom and shower
room. In addition, a small porch is proposed at the front. The roof of the first-

Paggtgz/www.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]1915/D/24/3342357

floor extension would have section of flat roof, this would not be readily visible
from ground level.

5. The Council considers that the first-floor extension would result in a
convoluted, bulky and dominant addition to the property. It concludes that this
part of the proposal would conflict with Policies DES4 and HOU11 of the East
Herts District Plan 2018 (DP). These policies seek (amongst other things) to
ensure that the design of new development is of high quality and that
alterations and extensions to dwellings are appropriate to the character,
appearance and setting of the existing property. Policy HOU11 also requires
extensions to be subservient to the existing dwelling.

6. The above policies are consistent with the provisions of paragraph 135 of the
National Planning Policy Framework 2023, which states (amongst other things)
that development should add to the quality of the area and be visually
attractive.

7. Whilst I acknowledge that the shape of the extension has meant that the roof
design is somewhat complex, the graphic material, that has been submitted as
part of the appeal, shows that the proposed first-floor addition would integrate
successfully with the existing dwelling. The highest part of the roof would
appear significantly lower that than the highest part of the main roof and its
hipped construction would match the existing dwelling. Furthermore, although
the first-floor extension would be clearly visible from Fanhams Road, it would
be set-back from the frontage, which would reduce the impact of the
development on the streetscene.

8. Regarding the proposed front porch, this would be a relatively minor addition to
the property. It would also reflect the characteristics of the existing dwelling in
terms of its roof design and external materials.

9. For the above reasons, I consider that the proposal would not have an adverse
effect on the character or appearance of either the existing dwelling or the
streetscene and it would not conflict with the relevant provisions of the DP, as
referred to above.

Conditions

10. The Council has suggested conditions in the event of the appeal being allowed.
In addition to the standard conditions relating to the time for commencement
and the listing of the approved plans, a condition is also imposed requiring the
use of matching external facing materials. This is necessary to ensure a
satisfactory external appearance.

Conclusion

11. For the reasons given above, it is concluded that the appeal be allowed.

Tan McHugh

INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2 Page 93


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]1915/D/24/3342357

Pagg:_t@ﬁljwww.qov.uk/planninq-inspectorate



https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 3 July 2024

by Ian McHugh DipTP MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 1 August 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/]J1915/D/24/3342761
25 Hampden Hill, Ware, SG12 73X

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

The appeal is made by Mr Rodrigo against the decision of East Herts Council.

The application Ref is 3/23/2486/HH.

The development proposed is a first-floor side extension above garage, single-storey
rear extension, garage conversion, replace garage door with new front window and
brickwork, and brick up side door.

Decision

1.

The appeal is dismissed.

Main Issue

2.

The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of
the streetscene.

Reasons

3.

The appeal property is a semi-detached two-storey dwelling, which is situated
in @ small residential cul-de-sac. In the vicinity of the site, the dwellings vary
in terms of their size and appearance. It is also clear that other properties have
been extended and altered. The extensions include two-storey/first-floor side
additions.

The proposal is to construct a first-floor flat-roofed extension above an existing
attached flat-roofed garage. In addition, the proposal includes a single-storey
rear extension that would be constructed across the full width of the dwelling
and garage. The garage would be converted into a kitchen and other works
include the replacing the garage door with a window and the bricking up of a
side door.

Policy DES4 of the East Herts District Plan 2018 seeks (amongst other things)
to ensure that the design of new development is of high quality. In addition,
Policy HOU11 states that flat -roofed extensions will be refused, other than in
exceptional circumstances. The Council refers to Policy W2 of the Ware
Neighbourhood Plan, which also requires high quality design and for
development to enhance local character.

The above policies are consistent with the provisions of paragraph 135 of the
National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (The Framework), which states

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate Page 95


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3342761

(amongst other things) that development should add to the quality of the area
and be visually attractive.

7. The appeal proposal has two main elements, the single-storey rear extension
and the first-floor addition above the garage. With regard to the single-storey
rear extension, I consider that this would be acceptable in terms of its scale
and design. It would only be visible from other rear gardens and there would
be no adverse impacts on the occupants of neighbouring properties.

8. However, although the first-floor extension would be set-back from the road
and its flat roof would contribute to the subordinate appearance of the
extension, I consider that it would be a discordant and incongruous addition to
the property, because of its roof design. The extension would also be clearly
visible from Hampden Hill and, therefore, it would have an adverse impact on
the streetscene.

9. The Council has stated that the proposal would create a terracing effect, which
would be harmful. However, there would still be a gap remaining at first-floor
level between the side wall of the extension and the side wall of the
neighbouring property. Consequently, the proposal would not create a terrace.
Nevertheless, that does not outweigh my concerns expressed above regarding
the flat-roofed design.

10. In reaching my decision, I have considered the fact that there are other
extensions visible along Hampden Hill, including at numbers 28, 31 and 35.
However, the design of these extensions, which include pitched-roofs do not
adversely affect the character or appearance of the host dwellings in the same
way.

11. Consequently, I consider that the first-floor extension would be unacceptably
harmful to the character and appearance of both the existing dwelling and the
streetscene. It would, therefore, conflict with the relevant Development Plan
policies and with The Framework, as referred to above.

12. I have given consideration as whether I could issue a split-decision. However,
as both the extensions involve the existing garage structure, I have decided
against this.

Conclusion

13. For the reasons given above, it is concluded that the appeal be dismissed.

Tan McHugh

INSPECTOR

Pagg:_t@@www.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 2


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 10 September 2024
By Terrence Kemmann-Lane JP DipTP FRTPI MCMI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 24 September 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/24/3345146

White Cottage, Aspenden Road, Buntingford, SG9 9PA

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Ms Emma Bennett against the decision of East Hertfordshire
District Council.

e The application Ref is 3/24/0043/HH.

e The development proposed is the demolition of garage and barn. Erection of two storey
rear extension and single storey side extension with 8 rooflights. External alterations
and alterations to driveway

Decision

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the demolition of
garage and barn. Erection of two storey rear extension and single storey side
extension with 8 rooflights. External alterations and alterations to driveway at
White Cottage, Aspenden Road, Buntingford, SG9 9PA, in accordance with the
terms of the application, Ref 3/24/0043/HH, subject to the following
conditions:

1)  The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years
from the date of this decision.

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved plans, drawing Nos. 0401 B, 0402 B, 0404 B, 0405 B,
0406 B, 0407 B and 403 B.

3) The exterior of the development hereby approved shall be constructed in
the materials specified on the submitted application form and plans.

Main Issues

2. The main issues in this case are: i) the effect of the proposal on the character
and appearance of the existing dwelling and streetscene; ii) the effect of the
proposed 2-storey rear extension on the neighbouring property at No.12
Fairfield on outlook from its rear windows, and in terms of a sense of
enclosure.

Reasons

3. White Cottage is a long building that has its main axis at right-angles to the
road, on an east-west orientation. The first and major part of the dwelling is 2-
storey, and it then drops down to a ‘barn’ which is single-storey. Beyond the
barn and to the south is a double garage. Both the barn and the garage would

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate Page 97


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3345146

be demolished. From Aspenden Road, the cottage has a tall narrow elevation,
under a gabled roof.

4. Immediately to the north of the dwelling is the garden amenity space of No.12
Fairfield and immediately to the east is the garden amenity space of No.14
Fairfield. To the south of the site is a dense hedgerow and trees, which border
the site and a new housing development known as ‘Keepers Chase’. There is a
large dwelling, that forms part of that development, within close proximity to
the site. Aspenden Road is predominantly bordered by trees and rear gardens
to the north and the Watermill industrial site to the west.

5. The policies of the East Herts District Plan, adopted in October 2018, that are
relevant to this case, are Policy HOU11 and Policy DES4. These policies will be
known to the parties, and therefore need not be set out in full. Policy HOU11
dealing with extensions and alterations to dwellings, etc, sets out criteria
against which proposals will be considered, dealing with size, scale, mass,
form, siting, design and materials in relation to the existing dwelling. First-floor
extensions should maintain appropriate space with the boundary with the
neighbour, generally a space of 1m should be the minimum. Dormers should
be limited in size and proportion so as not to dominate the roof.

6. Itis only the first part of Policy DES4 that is applicable here. This requires that
development must be of high standard of design and layout to reflect and
promote local distinctiveness, which should respect or improve upon the
character of the site and the surrounding area, in terms of its scale, height,
massing (volume, shape), orientation, siting, layout, density, building materials
(colour, texture), landscaping, etc.

7. I have already noted that the elevation of the existing cottage, facing the road,
is tall and narrow; as such it is something of an anomaly in the area. The
proposed single storey extension on its north side and the wider 2-storey
extension at the eastern end would both give the frontage a more balances
form. The fact that the 2-storey extension is set well back from the road and
has a lower ridge height ensures that it would be seen as subservient to the
existing cottage. The external finishes of white render with black composite
cladding and grey tiled roof, with a uPVC front door, black aluminium windows
and doors, would provide a satisfactory blend of traditional and modern
materials. I conclude that the proposals would not be harmful to the character
and appearance of the existing dwelling, or the streetscene.

8. Turning to the effect of the proposed 2-storey rear extension on the
neighbouring property at No.12 Fairfield, the respective ground levels are of
some importance. Ground level of No.12 is some 1.32m higher where its rear
extension sits on the other side of the property boundary with the proposed 2-
storey extension on the appeal site. The proposed 2-storey extension would be
about 1.3m from the boundary, whilst No.12’s rear extension is within close
proximity to this boundary. The pitch roof of No.12’s rear extension would be
slightly higher that the ridge of the proposed 2-storey extension, so that the
latter would have little greater effect on the outlook from the first floor rear
windows of No.12 than its own extension. The proposed single storey
extension, with a mono-pitched roofed would have no deleterious effect on the
private garden of No.12, nor would the totality of the proposed extensions to
White Cottage bring a harmful sense of enclosure to that garden. There would
be no overlooking or loss of privacy.

Pagg:_tggwww.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 2


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3345146

Conclusion

9. I have taken account of all other matters raised, including the concerns raised
about construction works in close proximity to the shared boundary, and
difficulty of clearing gutters and general maintenance. These are civil rather
than planning matters. I have concluded that the appeal proposals would not
be harmful to the character and appearance of the existing dwelling, or the
streetscene, and that there would be no substantial harmful effect of the
proposed 2-storey rear extension on the neighbouring property at No.12 in
respect of outlook from its rear windows, or through a sense of enclosure. For
these reasons I will allow the appeal.

Conditions

10. The statutory condition that provides a time limit on the start of development
must be imposed. In addition, the council has suggested 2 conditions in the
event that the appeal is upheld. These are that the development should be
carried out in accordance with the plans and that the materials should be as
specified on the application form and plans. These conditions are necessary for
certainty and the avoidance of doubt, and to ensure the satisfactory
appearance of the development.

Terrence Kemmann-Lane

INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3 Page 99


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 22 July 2024

by A. J. Boughton MA (IPSD) Dip.Arch. Dip.(Conservation) RIBA MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 23 August 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/24/3342719

8 Moat Side Anstey Buntingford SG9 ODD

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mr C Bullen against the decision of East Hertfordshire District
Council.

e The application Ref is 3/24/0155/HH.

e The development proposed is Removal of rear canopy roof and conversion of loft to
habitable space with 2 rear dormer windows and 2 front rooflights..

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Application for costs

2. 1. An application for costs was made by Mr C Bullen against East Hertfordshire
District Council and this is the subject of a separate Decision.

Main Issues

3. The main issue is the effect of the development on the living conditions of
future occupiers of the host dwelling and upon the Anstey Conservation Area
and Red Stack which are designated heritage assets.

Reasons

4. Anstey is a small village dating from the medieval period that, despite
subsequent insertions of housing groups, largely retains a quiet rural character
with hedged boundaries and treed verges. No.8 Moatside (No.8) is a one-
bedroomed semi-detached bungalow dating from the mid-late twentieth
century which sits within a group of 3 similar bungalow pairs . These are
arranged in an L-shape around a open grass area and abut the shared
boundary with Red Stack, a listed detached dwelling.

5. The proposal would incorporate the existing roof void of No.8 into the living
space; a bathroom and an additional bedroom, involving the introduction of
two dormer windows into the rear roof slope which abuts a shared boundary
with Red Stack. The proposal is similar to a previous refused proposal® but with
two main changes; the specification of hon-openable obscured glazing to both
of the proposed rear facing dormers to prevent overlooking of the neighbouring
garden and the insertion of two rooflights to the front roof slope to mitigate the
effect of that change.

1 3/23/2214/HH

Page {63} www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3342719

6. The rooflights, which were not proposed in the preceding application, would
provide ventilation to the bedroom and a view of (at least) sky overhead such
that the bedroom dormer need not have openable lights. Although obscured
glazing does not transmit light as efficiently as clear glass, there would
nevertheless be ample daylight and acceptable outlook available to users of the
bedroom.

7. In addition No.8 has two main rooms at ground level which enjoy adequate
outlook, and that would be improved by the insertion of full height opening
doors. As I have found there to be adequate provision in that regard there
would be no conflict with the development plan or national guidance; and living
conditions for occupiers would not be unacceptable.

8. Turning to the effect of the proposal on designated heritage assets, almost all
of the village, including Moatside and the surrounding properties fall within the
Anstey Conservation Area (ACA). However, the 2019 ACA character appraisal
does not express reasons for the inclusion of Moatside in the ACA. I consider
that the part of the ACA which includes the appeal site and its neighbours have
a character and appearance that is anomalous to, but well separated from, the
surrounding parts of the ACA notwithstanding its location between a scheduled
monument to the south-west and Red Stack to its north-east, a Grade II listed
17th century timber-framed private house with a large private garden.

9. The Council suggest that the flat-roofed design would have a harmful effect
upon the ACA and the setting of Red Stack. Whilst my observations of the
appeal site and its setting outlined above are that minor alterations such as
(but not necessarily limited to) those proposed would be unlikely to be harmful
to the overall character and appearance of the ACA, that is hot my conclusion
with regard to the effect of the proposals upon Red Stack. I noted from my
inspection that its spacious, well-enclosed garden provides a setting that tends
to isolate this heritage asset from the remainder of the village and conclude
that this sense of seclusion and separation is an important contributor to its
significance as a historic building.

10. Although the existing brown concrete pantile roof of No.8 can be seen from the
rear garden of Red Stack, the subdued colour means it has little visual impact
due to its position within the treed boundary, however, the proposed flat-
roofed dormer window(s) would introduce an intrusive architectural element,
by virtue of colour, shape and, at night, a potential light source in an otherwise
dark environment. I acknowledge that the appellant suggests the intervening
distance and vegetation points to the impact of the dormer not being significant
however that does not account for the intrusive impact of the proposal upon an
otherwise separate and secluded setting. Notwithstanding the measures to
prevent overlooking, the presence of windows themselves would generate a
perception of intrusion into the near-absolute seclusion of this historic building
which would undermine its appreciation as a remnant of rural settlement
patterns.

11. Although altered, Red Stack is plainly a building of significant age and evident
historic value which contributes to the understanding of a settlement pattern
with medieval origins. I consider, whilst the insertion of the dormers proposed
might be of little importance in other circumstances, in this case there would
be a minor degree of harm to the significance of this heritage asset by
introducing an awareness of more recent development within the Conservation

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2 Page 101


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3342719

Area that would otherwise not be evident when experiencing this heritage asset
in its primary setting. I therefore find conflict with Policy HA7 of the of the East
Herts District Plan 2018 (EHDP) which seeks that development proposals
should not have any adverse effect on the architectural and historic character
of a listed building or its setting.

12. Although I have found no planning harm arises in relation to the first part of
the refusal reason? nor have I found harm to the character and appearance of
the ACA, this does not outweigh the harm identified and the proposal would
conflict with the provisions of the development plan as a whole. The proposal
would provide additional accommodation and make the existing one-bedroom
accommodation potentially more suitable for a small family rather than one or
two people. This stands as a benefit to be weighed in favour of the proposal.
However, it is apparent that benefit could be achieved in other ways without
the introduction of dormers on the rear roof slope. Consequently, although the
matter is finely balanced I have identified that the proposal would cause less
than substantial harm to the setting of Red Stack which is a designated
heritage asset and in accordance with the general duties set out in the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 19903 this attracts considerable
importance and weight against the proposal that is not outweighed by any
public or other benefit. For these reasons, having considered all matters
raised, the appeal cannot succeed.

Andrew Boughton
INSPECTOR

2 Living conditions for occupiers of No.8
3 Specifically at Section 66

Page hj_g@Q/www.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 3


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Costs Decision
Site visit made on 22 July 2024

by A. J. Boughton MA (IPSD) Dip.Arch. Dip.(Conservation) RIBA MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 23 August 2024

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/24/3342719
8 Moat Side Anstey Buntingford SG9 ODD

e The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended),
sections 78, 322 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5).

e The application is made by Mr C Bullen for a full award of costs against East
Hertfordshire District Council.

e The appeal was against the refusal of planning permission for Removal of rear canopy
roof and conversion of loft to habitable space with 2 rear dormer windows and 2 front
rooflights.

Decision
1. The application for an award of costs is allowed in the terms set out below.
Reasons

2. The Planning Practice Guidance advises that costs may be awarded against a
party who has behaved unreasonably and thereby caused the party applying
for costs to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process.

3. The applicant for costs points to the behaviour of the Council in introducing a
reason for refusal which had not been given on a previous, near-identical
planning application. The Council have not submitted any rebuttal.

4. The appeal site lies within a Conservation Area and adjacent to a listed (Grade
IT) building, with a scheduled monument to the south of Moatside yet, despite
the presence of these three designated heritage assets and the general duties
consequent!, the previous decision was made and published without the benefit
of comment from the Council’s Conservation Officer, as the Council
acknowledge, such that the reason for refusal of that application were limited
to issues of impact on neighbour amenity.

5. The applicant for costs, not unreasonably, expected that a second planning
application which sought to address the previous reason for refusal by the use
of obscured glass, non-opening lights and additional rooflights to the front
elevation might be favourably received. However the Council refused this
application (Ref 3/24/0155HH) on the basis of new reasons including the
substantive impacts upon designated heritage assets as set out in the
Conservation Officer’s response.

6. The Courts direct that ‘unreasonable’ should have its ordinary meaning when
considering the behaviour of parties and in this case it was the not-

t In particular those set out in Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate Page 103


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Costs Decision APP/11915/D/24/3342719

unreasonable expectation by the applicant that the expense and trouble of a
second application should not be confounded by matters which the Council had
neglected to address adequately in their first consideration of the proposed
development, a proposal which was substantively identical to that which is the
subject of this costs application. The applicant was denied the opportunity to
consider (and possibly prepare) a design which sought to address legitimate
concerns as to the impact on heritage assets and thereby incurred wasted
expense in conducting this appeal.

7. In addition, whilst it was not unreasonable for the Council be additionally
concerned as to the effect of introducing obscured glazing to the dormer
window of the proposed bedroom, the officer report confusingly states: “Whilst
2no. front rooflights are proposed to provide natural light, due to the limited
number, size, scale and design they would not be able to provide sufficient
natural light compared to a normal window”. This fails to acknowledge that the
2 rooflights would be additional to the proposed dormer window (which would
itself admit light to a significant degree?) or demonstrate an understanding that
rooflights set in the plane of a sloping roof will admit significantly more daylight
that the equivalent area of glass in a vertical plane. The refusal reason refers to
the impact of obscured glazing on living conditions but the Council do not
explain what that effect is or how it arises. This part of the refusal reason is
inadequately justified.

8. Taking these together, I find that unreasonable behaviour resulting in
unnecessary or wasted expense, as described in the Planning Practice
Guidance, has been demonstrated and that a full award of costs is justified.

Costs Order

9. In exercise of the powers under section 250(5) of the Local Government Act
1972 and Schedule 6 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended,
and all other enabling powers in that behalf, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that East
Hertfordshire District Council shall pay to Mr C Bullen, the costs of the appeal
proceedings described in the heading of this decision; such costs to be
assessed in the Senior Courts Costs Office if not agreed.

10. The applicant is now invited to submit to East Hertfordshire District Council, to
whom a copy of this decision has been sent, details of those costs with a view
to reaching agreement as to the amount.

Andrew Boughton

INSPECTOR

2 notwithstanding their obscured glazing

Page hj_g@ﬂljwww.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 2


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision

Site visit made on 2 September 2024

by R C Shrimplin MA(Cantab) DipArch RIBA FRTPI FCIArb MCIL

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 23 September 2024

Appeal Reference: APP/J1915/D/24/3346475
‘Camps Hill Bungalow’, North Road, Hertford, Hertfordshire SG14 1NE

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mrs. G. McGrath against the decision of East Herts Council.

e The application reference is 3/24/0182/HH.

e The development proposed is described in the application form as follows: “rear
extension, loft conversion with increase of height and internal alteration”.

Decision

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for “rear extension,
loft conversion with increase of height and internal alteration”, at *Camps Hill
Bungalow’, North Road, Hertford, Hertfordshire SG14 1NE, in accordance with
the terms of the planning application (reference 3/24/0182/HH, dated
31 January 2024), subject to the conditions set out in the attached Schedule of
Conditions.

Preliminary points

2. A Written Ministerial Statement entitled “Building the homes we need” was
published on 30 July 2024, together with a consultation on “Proposed reforms
to the NPPF and other changes to the planning system”. In this case, however,
I am satisfied that they do not materially affect the considerations that have
led me to my decision. I am convinced, therefore, that there is no requirement
to seek further submissions on these publications and that no party would be
disadvantaged by such a course of action.

Main issue

3. The first main issue to be determined in this appeal is the effect of the
proposed development on the character and appearance of the host building
and its surroundings. The second is the effect of the proposed development on
the residential amenities of neighbours (whether unacceptable harm would be
caused by overbearing appearance or loss of light).

Reasons

4. The appeal site is located in a very closely built up area of Hertford, close to
North Road but reached by car more easily from a network of narrow roads at

http://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 105


http://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision: APP/J1915/D/24/3346475

Sele Road (which leads to Camps Hill). The area is essentially residential in
character but it exhibits a range of dwelling types and designs, including
bungalows or chalet bungalows in the vicinity of the appeal site.

5. The dwelling on the appeal site is a modest bungalow, ‘Camps Hill Bungalow’,
set back from its front boundary, with a parking area at the front of the
property and built up to its side boundary with ‘Hillside’ (to the west). It is not
closely aligned with its immediate neighbours at ‘Hillside’ and ‘Arrowhead’,
although these are also set back from the access lane. The appeal site also has
a good sized back garden that is at a lower level than the dwelling. There is a
terrace at the rear of the bungalow, but the remainder of the back garden is
mainly laid to grass, with children’s play equipment and other domestic
paraphernalia.

6. The bungalow at ‘Camps Hill Bungalow’ is rendered, with a pitched roof and is
somewhat smaller that its neighbour at ‘Hillside’ which has been extended at
both the front and rear of the basic structure. ‘Arrowhead’ is also rather larger
than the appeal building and the building is finished in a more contemporary
style.

7. Itis now proposed that a rear extension should be added to the ground floor of
‘Camps Hill Bungalow’, adding a first floor and carrying out a rearrangement of
the interior. The current design is a revised scheme following an earlier
proposal that was dismissed on appeal in September 2023.

8. The ‘National Planning Policy Framework’ emphasises the aim of “achieving well
designed places” in the broadest sense (notably at Section 12), while making
effective use of land and encouraging economic activity. It is aimed at
achieving good design standards generally, by adding to the overall quality of
the area and being visually attractive and sympathetic to local character and
history (while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or
change). Nevertheless, it is also recognised that appropriate change may
include increased densities. Of course, the aim of achieving good design
standards includes protecting existing residential amenities and providing good
standards of accommodation in new development.

9. These basic principles are also to be found in the ‘East Herts District Plan’
(dated October 2018). In particular, Policy DES4 is a general design policy,
concerned with “Design of Development”, including extensions to existing
buildings. It expects high standards of design, both making good use of land
and “respecting or improving upon the character of the site and the
surrounding area”. It specifically identifies the need to protect neighbours’
amenities.

10. Policy HOU11 deals more specifically with “"Extensions and Alterations to
Dwellings, Residential Outbuildings and Works Within Residential Curtilages”
and it identifies some design criteria, including a provision that “extensions
should generally appear as a subservient addition to the dwelling”. In this
case, however, the finished design would be very different from the existing
bungalow and the concept of architectural “subservience” is not helpful in
appraising the design.

Page 106



Appeal Decision: APP/J1915/D/24/3346475

11. Although the current scheme is similar in some respects to the scheme that
was refused planning permission on appeal in 2023, it has been pointed out
that there are clear differences between the proposals.

12. The proposed dwelling, when finished, would have a very distinctive character.
The building would be approximately square on its ground floor plan, with a
pitched roof on four sides, thus creating, in effect, a severely truncated
pyramid. The eaves height would be raised (by comparison with the existing
bungalow). Bedrooms and bathrooms would be accommodated at first floor
level, as a “loft”. A flat roof would be created above the first floor, with
projecting dormers on the front and rear elevations and rooflights on the side
elevations. The architectural detailing and the construction materials would
generally be traditional in style, however.

13. The resulting building would be similar in overall height to its immediate
neighbours and it apparent bulk in the streetscene would not be untoward in its
urban context. The design would be unconventional in some respects and the
raised eaves level would be somewhat awkward, but the design would not be
inherently unacceptable, nor so discordant that it ought not to be permitted.
The architectural character of the area is varied and the building would not be
out of place, nor visually intrusive. By contrast, the scheme that was
previously dismissed at appeal included unattractive and oppressive flank
elevations, as well as a prominent front gable extension, that no longer form
part of the design.

14. The redesigned roof structure would also have a much reduced impact on the
neighbouring property at ‘Hillside’. The flank wall would be topped by a
parapet on the boundary and, above that, a pitched roof sloping away from the
boundary. The length and height of the wall on the boundary would not be
excessive. I have also noted that rooflights on the side elevations would be
sited to avoid overlooking (in accordance with the drawings submitted with the
application and appeal). The effect on ‘Arrowhead’” would be even less and 1
am convinced that the residential amenities of neighbours would not be unduly
harmed, either as a result of the new extension having an overbearing
appearance or by its causing an unacceptable loss of light. Nor would it give
rise to significant overlooking, in the urban context.

15. Evidently, the appeal site lies within an established urban area, which is
“sustainable” in planning terms, and the finished project would enjoy the
benefit of a reasonable plot with a good sized back garden and adequate
parking space in front of the dwelling. The proposed extension would be a
useful addition to the accommodation at ‘Camps Hill Bungalow’ and the
contribution that the appeal scheme would make to the provision of residential
accommodation in the locality, even though it would be limited, weighs in
favour of the appeal.

16. In reaching my decision, I have had regard to the decision that was made in
the previous appeal, with which I concur. I accept, however, that significant
revisions have been made in the current design and I have considered this
appeal on its own merits.

17. I have concluded that the project would not be in conflict with the Development
Plan, in principle and I am persuaded that the scheme before me can properly

Page 107



Appeal Decision: APP/J1915/D/24/3346475

be permitted, subject to conditions. Although I have considered all the matters
that have been raised in the representations, I have found nothing to cause me
to alter my decision.

18. I have, however, also considered the need for conditions and, in imposing
conditions, I have taken account of the conditions suggested by the Council in
the usual way (without prejudice to their main arguments in the appeal),
subject to modifications necessary, in my opinion, in the interests of clarity and
enforceability. I have concluded that conditions are necessary, to define the
planning permission and to ensure that quality is maintained.

Roger C. Shrimplin
INSPECTOR

Page 108 !



Appeal Decision: APP/J1915/D/24/3346475

SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this decision.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved drawings:
drawing number 3856-23A1-01 (Existing Plans, Elevations and Section);
drawing number 3856-23A1-02 Rev E (Proposed Floor Plans);
drawing number 3856-23A1-03 Rev F (Proposed Elevations and Section);
drawing number 3856-23A4-04 Rev F (Location Plan);
drawing number 3856-23A4-05A (Site Plan);
drawing number 3856-23A1-103 Rev A (Proposed Elevations and Section).

3. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
development hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing building.

> Page 109



' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 10 September 2024
By Terrence Kemmann-Lane JP DipTP FRTPI MCMI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 24 September 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/24/3346232

Orchard House, Westmill, Buntingford, SG9 9LL

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mr D Goodson against the decision of East Hertfordshire District
Council.

e The application Ref is 3/24/0570/HH.

e The development proposed is the demolition of garage and erection of double garage.

Decision

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the demolition of
garage and erection of double garage at Orchard House, Westmill, Buntingford,
SG9 9LL in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 3/24/0570/HH,
and the plans submitted with it, subject to the conditions set out in the
schedule at the end of this decision.

Main Issues

2. The main issues in this case are: i) the effect of the proposal on the listed
building and the Westmill Conservation Area, and the effect on the character
and appearance of the site and that of the surrounding streetscene; and ii)
whether the proposal would retain existing landscape features of heritage,
amenity and/or biodiversity value, and protect and enhance these features.

Reasons

3. The site is occupied by a two-storey detached dwelling with white rendered
elevations, a clay tiled hipped roof having a number of dormers, white timber
windows and some exposed brick. The single detached garage follows the same
materials palette with a white metal garage door and a dual pitched roof. It is
on a generous plot, located within Westmill, in close proximity to the village
green. It has front landscaping and hardstanding and rear amenity space. The
land levels slope downwards from the highway towards the dwelling. The
garage adjoins the detached neighbouring garage at the Grade II Listed
Building ‘Old Thatch’. Generally the surrounding area is residential in character

4. The proposed garage would be positioned to the opposite side of the site to the
existing. It would be positioned forward of the dwelling, on the southern
boundary and set back from the front boundary by approximately 4.9 metres.
It would be a single-storey structure with a hipped roof with rear catslide. The

Pag @ hfpd/fww.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]1915/D/24/3346232

proposed garage would be constructed on a low brick plinth, with black feather
edge cladding, slate roof and a timber garage door.

5. The site is located within the Westmill Conservation Area. There is a statutory
duty under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990 (the Act) to ensure that development proposals preserve or enhance
the character or appearance of the Conservation Area. Policies HA1 and HA4 of
the East Herts District Plan carry these obligations at the local level. In addition
Section 66 of the Act states that the planning authority shall have "special
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses." The site
is adjacent to two Grade II Listed Buildings at Old Thatch and Archers Hall and
is opposite a Grade II Listed K6 Telephone Kiosk on Aspenden Lane.

6. Policy HA1 aims to preserve and where appropriate enhance the historic
environment of East Herts. Development proposals that would lead to
substantial harm to the significance of the heritage asset will not be permitted
unless it can be demonstrated that the harm or loss is necessary to achieve a
substantial public benefit that outweighs the loss.” Policy HA4 aims to preserve
and enhance the Conservation Area; proposals should be of a scale, proportion,
form, height, design and character that compliments the surrounding area and,
in the case of extensions, be complementary and sympathetic to the parent
building.

7. The Westmill Conservation Area Appraisal (CAA) describes the general
character of the Conservation Area: Westmill's character is particularly defined
by small scale open spaces that envelop the historic core and which are
separate from the open countryside beyond. Trees predominate with some
particularly fine rows and an avenue.’

The effect of the proposal on the listed building and the Westmill conservation
area, and the character and appearance of the site and that of the surrounding
streetscene.

8. Orchard House and its setting play an important role within the overall
landscape and visual character of the conservation area; its large front facade
is prominent within the street scene. Within the boundary of Orchard House,
the CAA identifies important trees to be protected. Immediately beyond the
south-eastern boundary of the site, there are views towards the adjoining
property at Minstrel Cottage, which is of a distinct traditional character and
again appears prominent within the conservation area.

9. The demolition of the existing garage would not impact upon the character and
appearance of the conservation area. Potentially it's demolition could open up
views of the attractive old clay tilling on the sizeable garage building of Old
Thatch and would reveal further portions of the listed building’s, elevations,
and therefore would enhance the character of the conservation area and the
setting of the listed building.

10. The proposed new garage would be positioned such that, although set at a
lower level, views towards the adjacent Minstrel Cottage would be obstructed
when looking across the paved forecourt of Orchard House. However, as
progressing south-east towards the open countryside, Minstrel Cottage would
immediately be revealed. The materials of the proposed garage would respect

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2 Page 111


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]1915/D/24/3346232

those of Minstrel Cottage, particularly the black brick plinth, slate roof and the
black feather edge cladding which would respond to the black exposed timbers
of the cottage.

11. Both Orchard House and Minstrel Cottage have no special status as shown on
the Westmill CAA. Whilst the garage would be set forward of the house, there
are other examples in the area of garages and other outbuildings having a
similar relationship to the building that they relate to, and as is quite common
in historic villages generally. It does not justify refusing planning permission.

12. Opposite Old Thatch is Sissons, a listed building and opposite Orchard House
are the non-listed, but protected from demolition, School Cottages. Between
these is the listed telephone kiosk. I consider that the proposed garage would
have a neutral effect on the listed buildings and kiosk and their setting, and on
the locally identified buildings. Furthermore, it would preserve or enhance the
character or appearance of the Conservation Area. There would be a loss of
some vegetation on the site, but a condition could require a scheme of planting
to offset this. I also consider that it would be seen as subservient to Orchard
House, and would soon settle into the streetscene. It would not be harmful to
the character and appearance of the site and that of the surrounding
streetscene.

Would the proposal retain existing landscape features of heritage, amenity and/or
biodiversity value, and protect and enhance these features.

13. The proposed garage would be constructed on an area of soft landscaping
where the boundary hedge is currently located. The plans indicate that a
section of the hedge would be removed to accommodate the garage. This
boundary hedge is an attractive green feature on the site boundary. I have not
been provided with any details of existing landscape features of heritage,
amenity and/or biodiversity value. I have already noted that a scheme of
planting could be required by way of a condition, which could increase
landscape and biodiversity value.

Conclusion

14. For the reasons that I have given, the proposed garage would have a neutral
effect on the listed buildings and their settings and the character or appearance
of Westmill Conservation Area would be preserved or enhanced. In addition,
there would be no harmful effect on the character and appearance of the site
and that of the surrounding streetscene, subject to a condition for landscape
planting. Whist I have not been provided with existing landscape features of
heritage, amenity and/or biodiversity value, I consider that this matter can be
dealt with by the condition mentioned. Indeed, the council has suggested
landscaping conditions should the appeal be allowed. Having taken account of
all matters raised, I conclude that the appeal proposal would be in accordance
with the policies that I have referred to above. The appeal will be allowed.

Conditions

15. The statutory condition that provides a time limit on the start of development
must be imposed. In addition, the council has suggested a humber of
conditions in the event that the appeal is upheld. I have considered these in
the light of Planning Practice Guidance. The conditions suggested are to control
the details of the materials to be used in the construction of the garage and to

Page hffod/fAww.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]1915/D/24/3346232

have a landscaping scheme and its implementation carried out. These are
necessary to ensure good design and to ensure the establishment and
maintenance of a reasonable standard of landscaping.

16. The suggested condition for materials is written in the form of a restriction that
only below ground construction works can be commenced before the materials
are approved. This is necessary because the details of the above ground
materials must be agreed before they begin to be used. This would not prevent
the earlier start on the demolition of the existing garage.

Terrence Kemmann-Lane

INSPECTOR

Schedule of Conditions

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years
from the date of this decision.

2) Prior to any above ground construction works being commenced, the
external materials of construction for the development hereby permitted
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority, and thereafter the development shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved details.

3) Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of
landscaping shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and
approved in writing and shall include full details of both hard and soft
landscape proposals, finished levels or contours, hard surfacing materials,
retained landscape features, planting plans, schedules of plants, species,
planting sizes, density of planting and implementation timetable and
thereafter the development should be implemented in accordance with
the approved details.

4)  All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details. Any trees or plants that, within a period of five
years after planting, are removed, die or become, in the opinion of the
Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of species, size
and number as originally approved, unless the Local Planning Authority
gives its written consent to any variation.

End of Schedule

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 4 Pag e 1 13


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 10 September 2024
By Terrence Kemmann-Lane JP DipTP FRTPI MCMI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 24 September 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3334648

Land to the rear of Nos.74, 75 and 76 Magnaville Road,

Bishops Stortford, CM23 4DW

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Ms Edmunds, Banks and Munro against the decision of East
Hertfordshire District Council.

e The application Ref is 3/23/0775/FUL.

e The development proposed is the change of use of land to residential curtilage and
erection of a 1.8 metre height fence (set in by 1.5 metre) and with managed peripheral
landscaping.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Main Issues

2. The main issues in this case are: i) the effect of the proposed development on
the character and appearance of the street scene and wider area; and ii)
whether it would retain, protect or enhance biodiversity and green
infrastructure.

Reasons

3. The appeal site is located within Thorley Park that was developed as a major
urban extension of Bishop's Stortford in the 1970's and 1980's. As a result, the
layout of the area includes routes and the provision of green spaces connecting
parts of the development to the town centre and to the Thorley District Centre.
The appeal parcel of land is bounded to the north and east by boundary fencing
of the rear gardens of detached and semidetached properties on Magnaville
Road which are set within well-proportioned if modest plots. To the west of the
site are three parking spaces and to the south is a public footpath that extends
in an east-west direction and links into a public right of way (Bishop’s Stortford
27), which is located to the west of the site. To the south of the site is a cluster
of two storey blocks of flats which are located within an open, spacious
landscaped setting.

4. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined
in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. The most important policies in relation to this proposal are
contained in the East Herts District Plan (EHDP), adopted in October 2018, and
the Bishop’s Stortford Town Council Neighbourhood Plan for All Saints, Central,

Page Hitds4/www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3334648

South and part of Thorley (First revision) 2021-2033 (NP). The most relevant
polices referred to in the representations are Policy HOU12, Policy DES3, Policy
DES4, Policy NE4 of the EHDP and Policy GIP5 of the NP. These policies are well
known to both parties, so that I need not set out the detail here.

5. For the appellants it is explained that the proposal has been led by one
individual (the resident of No.76) who took the view early on in the process
that she would seek planning permission in the first instance prior to spending
time on approaching all of the residents of 71 to 76. The red line is drawn
around the totality of the land for which the change of use is sought. The
garden extension would be a logical southern extension of each of the domestic
curtilages. It is also explained that the residents have had to assume some
form of informal control of the land and have paid for dead and diseased trees
to be felled and taken away and have spent a significant period of time clearing
up dumped rubbish and litter.

6. Itis argued that the benefits of larger rear gardens apply to the run of
properties from no. 71 to 76, which currently mainly have small front gardens
and postage stamp size rear gardens. An increase in size of the small rear
gardens would clearly be welcomed by those residents, and an improvement to
the quality of the dwellings is supported by planning policy. Whilst these are
private benefits, they apply to the whole run of properties: it is not a case of a
single isolated individual simply wanting a larger garden, and this should carry
weight.

7. Two previous appeal decisions, where land has been taken for development,
have been drawn to my attention (references PP/J1915/W/18/3199031 and
APP/J1915/W/22/3313455 ). However, I do not know the full background to
these decisions and, in any event, each proposal must be considered on its own
merits. Therefore I do not find these persuasive.

Conclusions

8. As I saw at my visit, the site includes a grass verge alongside the footpath,
with most of the area immediately adjacent to the garden fences being thickly
covered with a variety of low mature trees and hedging that would be
impenetrable by people and anything but small animals. The grassed area did
not show any substantial signs of litter or animal waste, and was attractive as
far as the amenity of the public footpath is concerned. The trees and hedging
on the site contribute to the landscape character and green infrastructure
network within the immediate and wider locality.

9. Although the trees and hedging do not directly connect to other planted areas
as would a series on interconnected hedgerows, this small area will be a
habitat for small birds and other creatures, which will benefit from the footpath
connections to other areas with a variety of habitats.

10. The proposal would result in the enclosure of a valuable area of open landscape
amenity space and green infrastructure within an established housing
development. The loss of the existing landscaping and erection of new fencing
would be harmful to the character and appearance of the streetscene and wider
locality. Such landscaped areas are an important characteristic of the Thorley
Park estate, often focused on pedestrian routes, parking areas and other
communal or public areas. These landscaped areas form part of the wider

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2 Page 115


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3334648

green infrastructure network and positively contribute to the landscape
character and general amenity of the wider area. The appeal site also provides
some habitat for wildlife and has intrinsic biodiversity value as an area of green
space within a built-up area.

11. I can appreciate that the proposal would benefit the appellant and her
neighbours by enlarging the relatively small rear gardens. But this would be a
private benefit, albeit to a number of individual households, that does not
outweigh the loss to an important characteristic of the public realm that was
part of the overall design of Thorley Park. The proposal would be contrary to
the policies referred to above. For these reasons the appeal will be dismissed.

Terrence Kemmann-Lane

INSPECTOR

Page @é@www.qov.uk/planninq-inspectorate 3


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 12 July 2024

by R J Redford MTCP MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 9 August 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3329668

Morley Hall, Wareside, Hertfordshire SG12 7QP

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Ms Anne Audibert against the decision of East Hertfordshire
District Council.

e The application Ref is 3/23/0803/FUL.

e The development proposed is described as subdivision of house to create 2 new flats
(whilst retaining the remainder of the property) and replace the garage door with
windows and a door, and the creation of new private gardens for the 2 new properties
and off-street car parking spaces.

Decision

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the subdivision of
the house to create 2 new flats (whilst retaining the remainder of the
property), and replace the garage door with windows and a door, and the
creation of new private gardens for the 2 new flats and off-street car parking
spaces at Morley Hall, Wareside, Hertfordshire SG12 7QP in accordance with
the terms of the application, Ref 3/23/0803/FUL, subject to the conditions in
the attached schedule.

Procedural Matters

2. Itis noted that within the first reason for refusal Policy INT of the East
Hertfordshire District Plan (DP) is referenced. This is considered a typographical
error as the officer report refers to DP Policy INT1. I have therefore taken the
latter into account.

Main Issues

3. Itis acknowledged that Listed Building Consents! (The LBCs) have been
granted for the specified works to the Grade II listed building known as “Morley
Hall and former stables attached on south” (Ref: 1077973) (Known as Morley
Hall from here on). Also, that within proximity of Morley Hall is another Grade
IT listed building known as “Icehouse at Morley Hall 40metres southwest of
house” (Ref: 1342254) (the LB2), and a scheduled monument known as
“Morley Ponds moated site, Ware” (Ref 1012332) (the SM).

4. Notwithstanding the existing LBCs, within this decision I am required to give
special regard to the impact on listed buildings in accordance with section
66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as
amended) (the Act); and the National Planning Policy Framework (the

1 3/22/2232/LBC and 3/23/0804/VAR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate Page 117


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3329668

Framework) requires great weight to be given to the conservation of scheduled
monuments.

5. Therefore, the main issues are:

e whether the proposal would preserve the significance of Morley Hall and
any of the features of special architectural or historic interest that it
possesses, and the setting of the LB2 and the SM;

e the effect of the proposed development on the character and appearance
of the area; and

e whether the appeal site is a suitable location for the proposed
development having regard to relevant policies relating to accessibility.

Reasons
Heritage assets

6. Morley Hall is a large 7 bedroomed residential hall set in extensive grounds.
The building is broadly T shaped with stables attached to the rear. This has
already been converted to provide additional living space, with only external
features of the stables left.

7. Itis understood from the appellant’s Heritage Statement that the building had
relatively modest roots as 2 conjoined 17% century cottages. Over time the
building has been expanded and remodelled to create a hall within substantial
grounds. Significantly the main part of the house was remodelled in the 1960s
by Raymond Erith, a classical architect most active between the late 1940s and
the 1970s. Therefore, Morley Hall’s significance is bedded in the historic fabric
of the building and the architectural features related to the 1960s remodel.

8. Within the formal gardens to one side of Morley Hall is the LB2 which dates to
the 18 century. Its significance lies in it being a good example of an icehouse
and, as part of its group value, how an icehouse represents the aggrandising of
Morley Hall’s status as a residential dwelling.

9. To the front of Morley Hall is the SM which has been designated due to being a
well-preserved example of a Hertfordshire moated site. Limited information is
known about the SM, but such structures were often used for domestic or
religious buildings and so are important for understanding the distribution of
wealth and status in the Medieval countryside. This SM appears to have been
largely unaffected by later land uses and so there is a high potential that
archaeological remains would be preserved.

10. The proposal would constitute internal works and some minor external works to
the stables and rear portion of Morley Hall. It would retain the main part of the
house as a 5-bedroom dwelling and convert the stables and rear portion into 2
smaller apartments, one with 1 bedroom and one with 2 bedrooms.

11. The proposed internal alterations would be limited to closing off various
doorways and archways and could be reversable. The existing garage doors,
which would be replaced by a new door and windows, are not historic and the
replacements would be sympathetic to the style of this part of the building.
Room sizes and layouts would be retained, and the proposal would only alter
the potential use of those rooms. The proposal would not impact the main
rooms of the house most obviously altered by Erith. Nevertheless, the works

Page @é&www.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 2


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3329668

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

would require a small amount of historic fabric to be removed and this would
constitute less then substantial harm, at the lower end.

Due to the very limited impact the proposal would have on the form or use of
Morley Hall, in my mind it would not alter the relationship of Morley Hall with

the LB2 and the SM. Therefore, the proposal would have a neutral impact on

the setting of these 2 heritage assets.

Nevertheless, the lack of impact on the LB2 and the SM does not overcome the
less than substantial harm to Morley Hall. Hence, in accordance with paragraph
208 of the Framework, this harm must be weighed against the public benefits
of the scheme.

The optimal use of Morley Hall is residential, and the proposal would retain this.
However, due to the large size of Morley Hall as a singular family residence
there is potential that this use may no longer be viable in the long run.
Therefore, to create 2 further residential units whilst still retaining a large well-
proportioned dwelling within the main body of Morley Hall, could secure the
future optimisation of use and so would constitute a public benefit.

Considering the very low level of less than substantial harm the proposal would
have, in this case, it would therefore be outweighed by the public benefits. It is
noted a similar conclusion was drawn by the Council in consideration of the
LBCs.

Therefore, in compliance with the Act and the Framework. the proposal would
conserve the significance of Morley Hall and the features of special architectural
or historic interest that it possesses, and would preserve the setting of the LB2
and the SM.

Character and appearance

17.

18.

19.

20.

The Morley Hall estate is located within the countryside but not within the
Green Belt. Depending on how you measure the distance Morley Hall is
between 0.6km and 0.8km, by country lane, from the village of Wareside.

Notwithstanding Wareside, the area beyond the estate is characterised by a
patchwork of fields interspersed with traditional farmsteads or small groupings
of 2 or sometimes 3 houses.

I noted during my site visit that several nearby farmsteads have had
outbuildings converted creating further small enclaves of dwellings within the
wider bucolic setting. Taking account that the proposal would not significantly
increase the capacity of Morley Hall to accommodate people, all be it as

3 separate units rather than 1 large home, the experiential impact such a
change would have on the overall character of the area would not be so
significant to constitute harm. This is especially relevant within an area where
singular large dwellings are less common than small groupings of houses, be
that as traditional worker cottages or converted farmsteads.

As much of the works would be internal and would represent only minor
external alterations, in my mind, the proposal would have no impact on the
appearance of the wider area.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3 Page 119


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3329668

21. Therefore, the proposed development would not harm the character and
appearance of the area and so comply with DP Policy DES4 insofar as it seeks
to protect character and appearance.

Location

22. DP Policy INT1 is a strategic policy which sets out the overarching presumption
in favour of sustainable development and that decisions will revert to the
Framework when there are no relevant policies. DP Policy DPS2 sets out the
development strategy for sustainable development in the district. It proposes a
hierarchy of delivery based around brownfield sites and existing towns and
villages. It does not refer to development in the countryside.

23. Nevertheless, DP Policy GBR2 is specifically written to guide development in
rural areas beyond the Green Belt. This policy provides a list of uses which will
be permitted and point e) provides for the limited infilling or the partial or
complete redevelopment of previously developed sites (brownfield land),
whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings) in
sustainable locations, where appropriate to the character, appearance and
setting of the site and/or surrounding area.

24. It has already been shown in the second main issue that the proposal is not
considered to harm the character and appearance of the area. Therefore, it is
necessary to consider if the appeal site is in a sustainable location. In this
instance this would relate to the accessibility of the site. DP Policy TRA1
promotes, amongst, other things that new development should be in places
which enable sustainable journeys to be made to key services and facilities.

25. The appeal site’s location is in proximity of Wareside. Notwithstanding that
access would be down narrow unlit country lanes, the services at Wareside are
limited and could not support day to day living requirements. Consequently, it
would be necessary for future occupants to travel further afield and this would,
in probability, require the use of private vehicles which are considered the least
sustainable method of undertaking journeys. The proposal thus fails to comply
with DP Policy TRA1 and by association also fails to comply with GBR2.

Other Matters

26. That the proposal is not considered to harm living conditions, highway safety or
the environment is noted. However, a lack of harm is considered neutrally so
cannot weigh for or against the proposal.

Planning Balance

27. The proposal would fail to comply with DP Policies TRA1 and GBR2 due to the
accessibility of the appeal site. However, accessibility is only one element of
sustainable development?. It is also recognised that by their very nature rural
areas require residents to rely more heavily on private vehicles and that
services are often spread over several villages or locations. By prohibiting any
new residential development in such locations, this could ultimately have a
detrimental effect on the vitality of rural communities. Therefore, even small
numbers of new dwellings can provide economic and social benefits to sporadic
rural communities in relation to supporting services and facilities.

2 As described in chapter 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework

Page ﬂg@@/www.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 4


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3329668

28. The provision of 2 new dwellings via the repurposing of an existing building
already in residential use, would also have a much-reduced environmental
impact in relation to construction or implementation costs to new build homes.

29. Therefore, in combination with the effect the proposal would have on ensuring
the continued optimal use of the listed building, I find these benefits would
outweigh the limited harm identified in relation to accessibility of the site. The
proposal would comply with the ethos of the Framework in terms of providing
new homes and sustainable development, and DP Policy INT1.

Conditions

30. The Council has suggested several conditions. These have been considered
against the appellants comments and the advice in the Framework and
Planning Practice Guidance. As a result, I have amended them for consistency
and clarity.

31. In addition to the standard time limit condition, I have imposed a condition
requiring the development to be carried out in accordance with the approved
plans as this provides certainty.

32. Condition 3 and 4 have been imposed to ensure the external development
accords with the character and appearance of the building and its immediate
setting. Details are not required for approval within condition 3 as the
information on the plans is adequate for the external works on the building and
details relating to both the internal and external works have been dealt within
the extant LBCs.

33. Although it is not necessary to duplicate regulatory requirements in relation to
the provision of electric vehicle charge points for new dwellings, condition 5 has
been imposed in relation to character and appearance. This is due to the
charge points location within the setting of Morley Hall. Condition 6 confirms
the necessity for optional Building Regulation standards to be met in
accordance with DP policies. However again compliance would be dealt with
under that separate regulatory mechanism so not required within the condition
in this instance.

Conclusion

34. For the reasons given above the appeal scheme would comply with the
development plan when read as a whole and there are no sufficiently weighted
material considerations, including the Framework, which would indicate a
decision otherwise. The appeal is, therefore, allowed.

R.J Redford

INSPECTOR

SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years
from the date of this decision.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 5 Page 121


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3329668

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with drawing nos: L-01; L-02a; L-05a; L-06; L-07 and L-08.

3) The external surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall be
constructed in the materials shown on the approved plans and where not
specified shall match those used in the existing building.

4) Prior to occupation of the 2 new dwellings hereby permitted, hard and
soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with details that
have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. These details shall include but are not limited to:

e Means of enclosure;
e Planting plans;

e Schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed
numbers/densities where appropriate;

e Details of hard surfacing, noting materials; and
e Details of biodiversity improvements.

If, within a period of 5 years from the date of planting, a tree or,
specified plant within the landscaping details, (or any trees or plants
planted in replacement for it) is removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies or
becomes seriously damaged or defective, another tree or plant of the
same size and species as that originally planted shall be planted at the
same place within the first planting season following the removal,
uprooting, destruction or death of the original tree or plant unless the
landscaping details state otherwise.

5) Prior to occupation of the 2 new dwellings hereby permitted, electric
vehicle charging points shall be installed in accordance with siting, design
and external finish details that have first been submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority.

6) The 2 new dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the
Building Regulation optional requirement of a water consumption rate of
no more than 110 litres per person per day has been complied with.

END OF SCHEDULE

Page 2 2/ www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 6


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 5 August 2024
by A Hickey MA MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State

Decision date: 24" September 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3334643

Land opposite 44-58 Chapel Lane, Letty Green, Hertford SG14 2PA
The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Ms Vivienne Naylor against the decision of East Hertfordshire
District Council.

e The application Ref is 3/23/0958/FUL.

e The development proposed is construction of a new house, garage and driveway with
new landscape planting.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters

2. Since the application was determined the National Planning Policy Framework
(the Framework) has been revised. Both the main parties have had the
opportunity to comment during the appeal process.

3. As part of this appeal, the Council has provided evidence! it can now
demonstrate a 5-year supply of housing land. This has not been contested by
the appellant and I have proceeded on this basis.

4. An updated Ecological Impact Assessment (EIA) dated November 2023 has
been submitted as part of the appeal. The Council has reviewed and
commented on the document, and so I have had regard to it in reaching my
decision.

Background and Main Issues

5. There is no dispute between the main parties that the appeal scheme would
result in limited infilling inside the village. Therefore, it is not necessary to
consider the effect of the proposed development on Green Belt openness or the
demonstration of very special circumstances. On the evidence before me,
including the decisions? by the previous Inspectors (the previous schemes), I
have little reason to disagree with the main parties on this matter.

6. Therefore, the main issues of this appeal are the effect of the development on:
e the character and appearance of the area; and

e protected species and biodiversity.

! East Herts Five Year Land Supply Position Statement dated March 2024
2 Appeal refs: APP/J1915/W/18/3207743 and APP/J1915/W/20/3247686

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate Page 123


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3334643

Reasons
Character and appearance

7. The appeal site is an elongated irregular shaped parcel of land located between
Chapel Lane and Cole Green Way. A short narrow public footpath runs between
the site and the new property allowed on appeal® (No 27). The site at the time
of my visit was covered with vegetation, with trees, hedging and some fencing
to the boundaries of the site. Within the appeal site was a modestly sized
stable building and small shed with most of the site undeveloped.

8. Opposite the appeal site are detached dwellings located in well-sized plots, set
back from the road, with generous front and rear gardens. These nearby
dwellings are positioned in an orderly arrangement fronting the road. This
arrangement gives a distinct sense of spaciousness and ordered pattern of
development on this section of Chapel Lane closest the appeal site.

9. The size, position and layout of the surrounding dwellings results in a notable
rhythm of development, which contributes positively to the character and
appearance of the surrounding area. As identified by the previous inspectors’
decisions and matching my observations properties along Chapel Lane towards
the junction with Letty Green comprise of single-storey, 1.5 storey and two-
storey dwellings of varying designs.

10. East Herts District Plan (DP) Policy VILL3, amongst other things, seeks
development to be well designed and in keeping with the character of the
village it is located. The appeal site is located close to No 27, a contemporary-
designed dwelling. Subject to its overall design and location being acceptable, a
further contemporary-designed dwelling would not be an alien addition to this
part of the village.

11. I acknowledge that the appellant has sought to address the concerns of the
Inspectors on the previous irritations. In doing so the evidence before me
indicates that the proposed dwelling is now located in a narrower section of the
site than the previous schemes.

12. The positioning of the dwelling in this location would be at odds with the more
spacious plots with dwellings set back from the road in the immediate vicinity.
The proposal would therefore appear as a cramped development within a
constrained narrow plot, thereby harmfully diminishing the spaciousness and
character of the area.

13. Moreover, the large expanse of flat roof would be visible along parts of Chapel
Lane and more so from Cole Green Way, given the changes in topography. As a
result, the appeal scheme would be distinctly at odds with the prevailing
character of neighbouring dwellings particularly with regards to its massing and
low-level flat roof form.

14. I acknowledge the appellant’s comments that flat roof features on the appeal
site for the previous schemes and at the development at No 27 have not drawn
significant concerns from Inspectors. However, the scheme at No 27 was found
to be harmful to the character and appearance of the area. Additionally, the
two previous design iterations on the site are materially different to the current

3 Appeal ref: APP/J1915/W/17/3174337

Page 52 4/www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3334643

proposal and therefore I cannot draw any direct comparisons that weigh in
favour of the proposal.

15. With the exception of views to the east, windows would be constrained given
the short boundary separation distances and the height and location of existing
and proposed boundary treatments. As a result, future occupiers may seek to
remove this vegetation to reduce the sense of being enclosed opening up
external space around the property. In this instance, I do not consider that the
proposed landscaping scheme would provide sufficient mitigation against the
identified harm, nor do I consider that a suitably worded condition could be
imposed to ensure that otherwise unacceptable development could be made
acceptable.

16. Additionally, having seen the appeal site from a number of viewpoints, there is
nothing before me to suggest that the landscaping scheme proposed would
greatly improve the character of Chapel Lane.

17. For the above reasons, the proposed development would be harmful to the
character and appearance of the appeal site and surrounding area. It would
therefore conflict with DP Policies VILL3 and DES4. These require amongst
other things, a high standard of design and layout to reflect and promote local
distinctiveness and be in keeping with the village it is located in. It would also
conflict with the Framework in so far as it seeks development to be
sympathetic to local character.

Protected species and biodiversity

18. Bats, all of which are protected species under the Wildlife and Countryside Act
and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations, as amended. The
updated EIA identifies building one as having a low value for roosting bats. The
updated EIA does note that butterfly wings found on the southwestern side of
the stables could indicate feeding behaviour from bats or birds. However, no
full internal assessment has been undertaken within building one so evidence
of bats using the building may not have been seen.

19. The appeal scheme would see the demolition of building one. No clear evidence
is available before me to satisfactorily conclude that the appeal scheme would
not result in the destruction of bat roosts or cause disturbance, injury, or death
to any bats. This is particularly notable as potential evidence of feeding bats in
proximity to building one has been indicated. As a result, it is not possible for
me to conclude that harm to protected species would be avoided. This is a
matter which requires certainty for the decision-taker that the proposal can
avoid harm which is currently not clear.

20. The updated EIA identifies the existing habitats present on site, which
include the existence of neutral grassland, scattered trees, bramble scrub
and mature trees. This is not disputed by the Council.

21. Notwithstanding the narrow and irregular shape of the appeal site, the built
form-to-plot ratio is limited in terms of the overall site area. Based on the
proposed plans submitted, there appears to be more than sufficient space
remaining to accommodate planting, hedgerows, and other methods that could
be employed to secure biodiversity net gain. A condition could be imposed that
would enable the required biodiversity net gain as sought by DP Policies NE2
and NE3.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3 Page 125


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3334643

22. However, in light of the above, I cannot be certain that there would not be
harm to protected species. As a result, it would fail to accord with DP Policy
NE3, which seeks to ensure that proposals have no adverse impact on
protected species. The proposal would also fail to accord with the Framework
insofar as it seeks to protect biodiversity.

Other Matters

23. As noted by the appellant, the land is currently unoccupied. However, no
substantive evidence has been put forward that there is no demand for a stable
and paddock in the surrounding area. As such, I am unconvinced that the
appeal site is in need of a new use.

24. As established above, the Council can nhow demonstrate a sufficient supply of
housing land. As such, paragraph 11.d) ii. of the Framework is not engaged.
Nonetheless, there would be benefits from the contribution of one modern,
sustainably built dwelling. This would be on a windfall site that could be
occupied by a wide variety of people and be adaptable to the changing needs of
future occupants.

25. There would also be social and economic benefits, including for the village,
arising from the construction and occupation of the dwelling. Environmental
benefits would also arise from BNG, as well as improving the health of trees
onsite. However, given the scale of the scheme, these benefits even when
combined, would not outweigh the harm I have identified.

Conclusion

26. The proposal would provide a biodiversity net gain on-site. However, this would
not outweigh the harm to the character and appearance of the area or the
potential harm to protected species, namely bats. As such, the proposal
conflicts with the development plan when taken as a whole and there are no
material considerations, either individually or in combination, that outweigh the
identified harm and associated development plan conflict. Therefore, the appeal
is dismissed.

A Hickey
INSPECTOR

Page ﬂ;@@/www.qov.uk/planninq-inspectorate 4


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Inquiry Held on 16-18, 23-24 and 30 July 2024
Site visit made on 25 July 2024

by K Ford MSc MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 22" August 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/]J1915/W/24 /3340497
Land east of A10, Buntingford, Hertfordshire

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant [outline] planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Countryside Partnerships Ltd and Wattsdown Developments Ltd
against the decision of East Hertfordshire District Council.

e The application Ref 3/23/1447/0UT, dated 25 July 2023, was refused by notice dated
15 February 2024.

e The development proposed is development of 350 dwellings, with up to 4,400 sq m of
commercial and services floorspace (Use Class E and B8) and up to 500 sq m of retail
floorspace (Use Class E) and other associated works including drainage, access into the
site from the A10 and Luynes Rise (but not access within the site), allotments, public
open space and landscaping.

Decision

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for an outline
planning application (with all matters reserved except for access) for up to 350
dwellings, up to 4400 sq m of commercial and services floorspace (Use Classes
E and B8) and up to 500 sq m of retail floorspace (Use Class E) and other
associated works including drainage, access into the site from the A10 and
Luynes Rise (but not access within the site), allotments, public open space and
landscaping at land east of the A10, Buntingford, Hertfordshire in accordance
with the terms of application reference 3/23/1447/0OUT and the conditions set
out in the schedule attached to this decision.

Procedural Matters

2. The proposal seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved
except for access. Matters of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are
reserved for future determination. However, plans to be approved at this
outline stage include a land use parameter plan, access and movement
parameter plan, green infrastructure parameter plan and density and building
heights parameter plan. The plans set the framework for matters that include
maximum building heights, residential densities and the level of green
infrastructure provision. The Council determined the application on this basis
and I have done the same.

3. The Council’s reasons for refusal initially included matters related to the impact
of the scheme on flood risk. This has now been resolved and this reason for
refusal is no longer being pursued by the Council.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate Page 127


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

Main Issues
4. The main issues in this appeal are:

e Whether the proposal would be a suitable location for residential
development having regard to the spatial strategy of the development plan.

e Accessibility of the development to services and facilities.

e The effect on the character and appearance of the area with specific
reference to landscape character and density.

e Whether the Council can demonstrate a deliverable housing land supply as
required by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

Reasons
Location of Development

5. Policy DPS2 of the East Hertfordshire District Plan (District Plan) sets out a
development strategy for the plan. The policy directs development in the first
instance to brownfield sites, then to sites within the urban areas of the
District’'s 5 market towns, followed by urban extensions to specific identified
settlements. Development in villages is limited.

6. The appeal site is located on the edge of but outside the urban area of
Buntingford, one of the 5 market towns. Buntingford is not included in the list
of settlements where urban extensions are supported and through policy
BUNT1 of the District Plan it does not seek to allocate any additional
development beyond that which already had planning permission at the time of
adoption of the development plan in 2018. As the appeal site is located outside
of the confines of Buntingford, for the purposes of the District Plan it is located
within the Rural Area Beyond the Green Belt. In such locations certain types of
development are permitted provided that they are compatible with the
character and appearance of the rural area. Such uses are identified in Policy
GBR2 of the District Plan. There is agreement between the parties that the
scheme when taken as a whole does not accord with the provisions of the

policy.

7. The location of the site outside the settlement boundary and the absence of
compliance with any of the identified exceptions in the policy means that there
is conflict with the development plan and the strategy that underpins it. The
proposal would conflict with Policies DSP2 and GRB2 of the District Plan, the
provisions of which are identified above, and Policy HD1 of the Neighbourhood
Plan which amongst other things restricts development outside settlement
boundaries to small infill development in defined locations, affordable housing
on rural exception sites and development for which there is a demonstrable
need for a location in the countryside.

Access to Services and Facilities

8. Buntingford is identified as being a small town located at the centre of a large
rural area in the northern half of the district. It functions as a rural service
centre for outlying villages in the north of the district. The District Plan
identifies that the town has an extensive range of services and facilities that
serve the day to day needs of residents. The Council accepts that the
development would be accessible to those services and facilities.

Page ﬂg@&www.qov.uk/planninq—inspectorate 2


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

9. Residents of the new development, along with existing residents of the town
however would be required to travel to larger nearby towns for comparison
shopping trips which is why Buntingford is regarded as a Minor Town Centre.

10. Buntingford is not served by a railway. Bus service connections to other
settlements are limited and as such there is a reliance on the private car to
access larger nearby settlements for employment and leisure. The Council
identified that in the 2021 census 34% of residents travel over 10km to work.
However, the extent to which the development of the proposed 350 dwellings
would exacerbate the mis-match between housing, employment, retail,
community facilities and infrastructure would be tempered to some extent by
the proposed employment and retail elements of the scheme.

11. The scheme also proposes a financial contribution to the Highways Authority
who has indicated that it would be used to upgrade an existing bus service
serving the town and wider area. This would supplement an on demand bus
service introduced in 2021 and extend the options available to residents to
travel via public transport to major towns and rail connections for onward
journeys.

12. Interested parties have raised concerns about the ability of services and
facilities such as doctors surgeries, dentists and schools to accommodate
additional development. The concern raised by residents is noted but it is for
the service providers to manage the provision and the scheme seeks to
manage the impact through the planning obligations. I return to this matter
later in my decision.

13. In conclusion, the development would conflict with Policies DPS2 and GRB2 of
the District Plan because it would not be in a location that aligns with the
spatial strategy of the District Plan in terms of accessibility. It would also
conflict with the part of Policy TRA1 of the District Plan that identifies that
development should primarily be located in places that enable sustainable
journeys to be made to key services and facilities. However, the conflict is
reduced because of the day to day services and facilities that are available in
the town and because some economic and retail opportunities are proposed as
part of the scheme and the proposed measures to improve public transport
provision. For those reasons I give conflict with the policies moderate weight.

Character and Appearance

14. The appeal site comprises some 28.9ha of arable land adjacent to the western
edge of Buntingford. The site is bounded by residential development, an
industrial estate and waste water treatment works. To the west of the site is
the A10 which cuts through part of the site. The site generally slopes north
west to south east. There are 2 public rights of way that cross the site.

15. The site falls within 2 landscape character areas. The northern part of the site
is within Area 141 Cherry Green Arable Plateau and the southern section within
Area 142 High Rib Valley. There is agreement between the parties that the site
is not a valued landscape for the purposes of paragraph 180(a) of the NPPF. It
is also agreed that the land has a rural character but that there are suburban
intrusions to the character of the site as a result of the surrounding residential
development, industrial estate and A10 road.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3 Page 129


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

There is little between the parties in terms of the existing value of the
landscape and its susceptibility to change. The appellant says the site has low-
medium landscape quality and value and medium susceptibility to change, the
Council say it has medium quality and value and medium susceptibility to
change. Both agree that the development would lead to a loss of landscape
features such as the open fields and that the development would represent a
significant change to what at present is largely an open agricultural landscape.
Development of the site would inevitably harm its contribution to the landscape
of the area by introducing built development where currently there is little.
There would also be a loss of its semi rural character.

I agree that the greatest landscape effects of the development would be
experienced during construction and during year one post development with
the greatest effects felt by those using the public rights of way that run
through the site and on the residents living on Longmead, Monks Walk, Oak
End and parts of Meadow View as well as parts of Peasmead, Knights Close and
Barleycroft. I also agree that the effects of the scheme would be restricted to a
local level and have a limited effect of incursion into the countryside.

The Council accepted in cross examination that the development would not
necessitate substantial modification of ground levels with the findings of the
appellant’s engineering consultant identifying that the ground is not particularly
steeply sloping and the development would not necessitate significant retaining
walls.

The areas of disagreement between the parties focus on the extent to which
the appeal site provides a transitional role and acts as a buffer between the
urban area of the settlement and the countryside. Whilst I accept the Council’s
point that the site does provide a gap between the edge of the settlement and
the countryside, there is no policy requirement requiring such a gap. The
existing western edge of Buntingford is not characterised by such a feature
with built development going up to the boundary of the A10 elsewhere on the
western edge of the settlement.

I am satisfied that the A10 would provide a buffer and defensible boundary
between the urban edge and the countryside and that the landscaping included
in the parameter plan demonstrates an ability to soften the urban edge
between the built development, the A10 and the countryside. Indeed, the
landscaping parameter plan demonstrates that post development it is possible
to create a buffering function greater than currently experienced elsewhere in
the vicinity.

Turning to density, the density and building height parameter plan for the
scheme identifies densities of up to 30 dwellings per hectare in part of the site
and up to 40 dwellings per hectare in other parts. There would be a net density
of 33.8 dwellings per hectare. The appellant demonstrated that the site would
have one of the lowest gross plot ratios in the vicinity.

I agree with the appellant and one of the Council witnesses that in the context
of Policy HOU1 of the District Plan that a medium density would be appropriate
given the location of the site on the edge of a town and that in the context a
density of 30-40 dwellings per hectare would constitute a medium density and
an efficient use of land. On this basis the proposed scale of development would
not be excessive.

Page hj_g@@/www.qov.uk/DIanninq-inspectorate 4


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

23. The Council has stated that the proposed density would not enable sufficient
open space, with the development relying on narrow strips of open space.
However, the scheme includes provision for children’s play, amenity green
space, allotments and natural green space. The total provision would exceed
the District Plan policy requirement of 4.18ha with 7.80ha. There would
therefore be a balance between development and open space. There is variety
in the width of the linear spaces identified in the green infrastructure
parameter plan with the appellant’s witness confirming that it would extend up
to 48m in width in places which would not be insignificant. There is little to
indicate that the development could not support a range of activities and
provide amenity value. It would therefore enable multifunctional use. In
addition, I note that there are outdoor community facilities that would enable
recreational opportunities within walking distance of the site.

24. The development would provide an opportunity to improve the current ragged
arrangement of back gardens that border the site and would strengthen the
urban edge of the settlement. The parameter plans demonstrate that
appropriate design, density and the use of landscaping, including the planted
bund would avoid a perceptible intrusion of the A10 on Buntingford that was
identified by the Council’s landscape witness and enable transition from the
urban edge of the settlement to the countryside. Conditions requiring a
masterplan and design principles document would ensure appropriate
consideration is given to design at the reserved matters stage.

25. Overall, I conclude that the development would not conflict with the District
Plan with regards the density of development. However, once planting has
matured, I consider the effect of the development on the landscape would be
moderately adverse. I therefore conclude that the development would cause
harm to the landscape and would therefore conflict with Policies DES2, DES3
and DES4 of the District Plan. These policies, amongst other things require
development to demonstrate that they will retain, protect or enhance the
character and distinctive features of the area. It would also conflict with the
parts of policies HD2, HD4 and BE2 of the Buntingford Community Area
Neighbourhood Plan (Neighbourhood Plan) that requires development to be
sensitive to the landscape, conserve, enhance or strengthen the character and
distinctive features of the area and respect the rural/ semi rural character of
the area.

Housing Requirement and Deliverable Land Supply

26. The District Plan was adopted in October 2018 and therefore is over 5 years old
and so the assessment of housing land supply is against local housing need
using Government’s standard methodology. This is not disputed by the parties.

27. The Council’s latest Housing Land Supply Position Statement covers the period
1 April 2023 to 31 March 2028. The statement uses a Local Housing Need
(LHN) figure of 1,041 dwellings per annum as at 1 April 2023. This incorporates
revised affordability ratios published in March 2024 and generates a
requirement of 5,205 dwellings over the 5 year period.

28. The appellant argues that the Council is wrong to use the results of the
Standard Method for the period 2024 to 2034 and the affordability ratio for
2023, published in 2024. Using the Council’s Housing Land Supply Statement
March 2023 which covers the 5 year period 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2028, it

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 5 Page 131


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

uses an LHN figure of 1,112 dwellings per year as at 1 April 2023 and a
housing requirement of 5,560 dwellings.

29. A third option has been presented which updates the 5 year supply to 2024-
2029. However, the analysis for the monitoring year 2023-2024 has not been
completed and so the evidence is not sufficiently robust to inform a position on
this 5 year time frame.

Housing Land Supply

30. The NPPF defines the meaning of deliverable. The site must be available now,
offer a suitable location for development now and be achievable with a
reasonable prospect of delivery over a 5 year period. Sites with detailed
planning permission are assumed to be deliverable unless there is evidence to
indicate otherwise. Sites with outline planning permission or allocated sites are
only considered deliverable where there is clear evidence that delivery will take
place within 5 years.

31. The Council’s case is that it can demonstrate a deliverable 5 year housing land
supply of 6,307 dwellings from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2028 which equates to
5.67 - 6.06 years, depending on the approach used. The appellant argues it is
closer to 3.86 — 3.93 years with a supply of 4,088 dwellings. In outlining their
cases I have noted the points raised by the parties in support of their
respective positions, along with the relevant planning appeals cited.

32. In considering the elements of supply that remain in dispute it should be noted
that my assessment is based on the evidence presented as part of the Inquiry.
It is therefore a snapshot in time, representing the situation as it stood at the
time of the Inquiry.

Sites
3/13/0804/0P ASR’s 1-4 Land at Bishop’s Stortford North

33. Forming part of a District Plan allocation, the site has had planning permission
since 2015 for 2,200 dwellings with 890 completed up to 2022/23. Build out
rates have varied 105-286 per year with an average of 202. Progress on site
has slowed due to Covid 19 and because construction is coming to an end on
recent phases. All remaining parcels are expected to commence by 2025 at a
rate of at least 260 per year with 5 developers on site. However, there is a lack
of evidence to substantiate the higher predicted delivery rate identified by the
Council and so I have reduced the anticipated completions to align with the
average delivery rate that has occurred on the site to date. This generates a
figure of 1,010 dwellings.

3/21/2339/REM 3/20/0683/REM ASR 5 Land at Bishop’s Stortford North

34. This site has had planning permission since 2016, with first completions taking
place in 2018. 272 were completed by 2022/23 with an average delivery rate
of 54 per year. There is little before me to indicate that the Council’s predicted
average delivery rate of 51 dwellings is not achievable, noting the reduced
completions in 2022/23 and 2023/24. I therefore concur with the Council’s
figure of 257 dwellings.

Page hj_g@Q/www.qov.uk/DIanninq-inspectorate 6


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

BISH6 Bishop’s Stortford High School

35. At the time of the Inquiry there was no signed S106 for the outline application
for this site and no Reserved Matters had been submitted. Whilst pre-
application discussions have commenced there is little before me to
demonstrate that the anticipated application will be submitted during the
summer of 2024. The predicted approval of planning permission and
expectation that the developer will be onsite in the timescales identified by the
Council are optimistic, even with a masterplan in place. I therefore share the
view of the appellant in this case.

BISH7 The Goods, Bishop’s Stortford

36. This allocated site is subject to a masterplan framework. 174 dwellings have
already been completed within the 5 year period. A hybrid planning application
for 423 dwellings (245 in detail and 178 in outline) has been submitted to the
Council and a decision is expected by the end of 2024. The application replaces
an extant planning permission on the site which the Council say will not be
implemented. At the time of the appeal a drainage scheme for the site has not
been approved by the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA). Whilst there has been
progress since the original planning application and discussions with the LLFA
are ongoing, the Council’s suggestion that the matter can be resolved through
a planning condition does not provide clear evidence of delivery. This is
particularly given that the extant permission was also subject to a drainage
condition that it was not possible to discharge. In the absence of clear
evidence to show delivery of the 423 dwellings in the hybrid application I have
only included the 174 already contributing to the 5 year supply.

BISH8 The Causeway

37. This District Plan allocation has been subject to delay in signing a Development
Agreement and as such no planning application has been submitted to date.
Pre-application discussions are not expected to commence until the autumn of
2024 with a masterplan and planning application expected to be prepared later
in the year. Whilst the Council expect 150 dwellings to be delivered in 2027/28
there is a lack of clear evidence of delivery within the 5 year period.

North-West Buntingford

38. An outline planning application was granted permission in March 2024 and
reserved matters are expected by the end of the year. Whilst no housebuilder
has been confirmed the promoter is engaged with multiple housebuilders,
which demonstrates interest in the site. The promoter expects the developer to
be onsite in 2025, although there is little before me to substantiate that.
Nevertheless, the site is subject to a masterplan and outline planning
permission. Even if there are delays in bringing the site forward 58 dwellings
could be delivered within the 5 years given that following the discharge of
planning conditions development could commence immediately.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 7 Page 133


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

HERT3 West of Hertford (North)

39. Outline planning permission was granted in April 2024 for 342 dwellings,
subject to a S106 agreement which has not yet been finalised. The Council
expects 200 of the approved dwellings to be delivered with the 5 year period.
Given the history of delays associated with the site and the fact that no
developer for the site has been confirmed, I am not able to agree with the
Council’s view that there will be delivery within the 5 year period.

HERT4 North of Hertford (North)

40. At the time of the Inquiry a full planning application for the site was expected
to be presented to planning committee in August/ September 2024 with a
recommendation to approve. The applicant is expected to start on site in 2025.
This site is an allocation in the District Plan and the proposal is in line with an
approved masterplan. There are no outstanding objections from statutory
consultees and the heads of terms for a S106 have been agreed. I am
therefore satisfied that there is clear evidence that the site could deliver 118
dwellings within the 5 year period.

WARE2 Land North and East of Ware

41. An outline planning application was submitted in 2023 for 1,800 homes with a
resubmission of a hybrid application expected in September 2024. It is
expected that this will be determined by March 2025. However, a further
reserved matters application will be required on the housing element of the
proposal. The Council has suggested that 75 dwellings will be delivered within
the 5 year period but this appears optimistic given the current status of the
application and the number of unresolved matters.

GA1 The Gilston Area (Villages 1-6)

42. This site is part of a large complex development plan site allocation. The
Council has resolved to grant planning permission for part of the site but it is
subject to a S106 that has not been signed. The Council say that viability and
other planning issues have been resolved and outline planning permission is
expected imminently. However, reserved matters and the discharge of
conditions will the required before works can start and given the complexity of
the site and delays to date there is a lack of clear evidence to demonstrate that
the site will come forward in line with current predictions.

GA1 Gilston Village 7 Land off Church Lane

43. This site is also part of a large complex site allocation. Although the Council
resolved to grant planning permission in March 2023, it is still subject to an
uncompleted S106 agreement. There is a lack of clear evidence to include this
site within the 5 year supply.

Page hj_g@4jwww.qov.uk/DIanninq-inspectorate 8


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

EWEL1 Land East of Welwyn GC

44. Outline planning permission for 2,650 dwellings across 2 Council areas, 1,350
of which are in East Hertfordshire is set to be subject to the resubmission of a
planning application at the end of 2024. This is expected to be an outline
planning application. Given that following this reserved matters and the
discharge of conditions will be required prior to commencement there is a lack
of clear evidence of delivery within the 5 year period. This is even with
confirmation that issues with the neighbouring authority land have been
overcome and that sand and gravel extraction in part of the site would not
affect the delivery of the housing in the 5 year housing supply.

WAS3 Walkern Road

45. The site is allocated in the Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood Plan. A full
application for 60 dwellings is subject to a resolution to grant planning
permission subject to conditions and a S106. Even if there was some delay
beyond the predicted August issue of a decision, delivery within the 5 years can
be anticipated given the lack of impediments to bringing the site forward within
the timescales identified.

Conclusion on 5 Year Supply

46. For the reasons outlined I am of the view that the Council can demonstrate
through clear evidence that it has sufficient housing land for the delivery of
4,671 dwellings within the 5 year period 2023-2028. The Council has a 4.20 -
4.49 year housing land supply. Whether using the approach favoured by the
Council or that favoured by the appellant, the Council cannot demonstrate a 5
year housing land supply and so the NPPF deems the policies which are most
important for determining the planning application to be out of date. Where
policies are out of date paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF is engaged. Paragraph
11(d) of the NPPF says that planning permission should be granted unless any
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies taken in the NPPF taken as a
whole. This is an important material consideration in the planning balance.

Other Matters

47. Concern has been raised that the development would be noise generating. It
would be possible to manage the generation of noise during construction
through an appropriately worded planning condition restricting the proposed
days and hours of construction. There is little to indicate that the development
when complete would generate noise in excess of what would be expected from
a residential area. In terms of the commercial uses, an appropriately worded
planning condition could require compliance with sound insulation and noise
reduction in the buildings to ensure an adequate level of amenity.

48. The issue of crime has been raised. Whilst I do not doubt that the concerns
raised by residents are genuine, I have no substantive evidence before me to

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 9 Page 135


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

show that the appeal scheme would result in an increase in crime. Without a
reasonable evidential basis for the concern the weight I can attach to it is
limited. Whilst concern has been raised about the impact of the development
on the quality of life of neighbouring residents, there is little before me to
support this.

49. A number of residents refer to concerns about a loss of value to their
properties. However, this is not a land use matter that can be taken into
account in the planning considerations. Similarly, I am aware that there are
boundary disputes with neighbouring properties that border onto the site.
However, such matters fall outside the scope of this appeal and I can only have
regard to the planning merits of the case.

50. Whilst it has been suggested that the waste water treatment works is unable to
support any further development Thames Water has suggested a planning
condition requiring completion of all water network upgrades required to
accommodate the additional development or the preparation of a development
and infrastructure phasing plan. This would ensure that adequate infrastructure
is in place to support the development and so I have no reason to take a
different view.

51. It has been suggested that the poor drainage on the site makes it unsuitable
for development. Whilst the LLFA did initially raise objection to the
development, the appellant has produced a further Outline Drainage Strategy
Addendum (May 2024) addressing the points of concern. The LLFA is now
satisfied that the matter can be addressed through an appropriately worded
planning condition. It would require at the reserved matters stage the
submission of detailed designs of a surface water drainage scheme to be
implemented prior to first occupation of the development. I am satisfied that
this would address the matter.

52. Residents have raised concerns about the effect of the development on wildlife.
The Hertfordshire County Council Ecology Advisor has not raised any ecology
objections, subject to appropriately worded planning conditions relating to the
undertaking of appropriate studies that include bat and reptile surveys, an
Ecological Impact Assessment and Biodiversity Net Gain Plan and the
requirement to undertake appropriate avoidance, mitigation, compensation and
enhancement measures. There is little before me to take a different view. The
evidence suggests the site has relatively modest ecological value and an
appropriately worded planning condition would ensure that measures are
implemented to secure biodiversity net gain on the site.

53. Whilst I note the highways concerns raised by interested parties, Hertfordshire
County Highways Authority support the proposal, subject to identified planning
conditions. The Authority is satisfied that a suitable sustainable transport
corridor can be achieved along Aspenden Road and Luynes Rise and they
consider that the proposed sustainable transport mitigation measures aimed at
encouraging modal shift are appropriate. There is no reason for me to take a
different view. As identified elsewhere in my Decision, there will be a change to
the way in which the Public Rights of Way which cross the site will be
experienced. However, walkways through the site would be maintained post
development and an appropriately worded planning condition would ensure
that the safety of public rights of way users would be maintained during the
construction of the development.

Page hj_g@@/www.qov.uk/planninq—inspectorate 10


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

54. The site contains open agricultural land falling within The Agricultural Land
Classification of Grades 2 and 3a which is classified as very good quality and
good quality. This carries some limited adverse impact in the planning balance.

Planning Obligations

55. The appeal is accompanied by 2 bilateral undertakings under section 106 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 that commits the appellant to a number
of planning obligations that are required in line with Policies DEL2, HOU3,
CFLR1, CFLR7 and CFLR9 within the District Plan. These policies seek to ensure
the facilities and services that are essential for development to take place or to
mitigate the impact of the development. It should be noted that one of the
obligations contains a ‘blue pencil’ clause in the event that I do not consider
the education contribution sought by Hertfordshire County Council would be
justified in terms of Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations (the CIL Regulations) and the policy tests in paragraph 57 of the
NPPF.

56. The obligations with the District Council secure the provision of at least 40% of
the dwellings as affordable of which 75% will be affordable rented units and
25% will be shared ownership. It also secures 1% self build and custom
housebuilding plots, a minimum of 1.37ha of open space (including 0.22ha of
equipped children’s play space and allotments, the establishment or
appointment of an open space management company, an open space scheme
and open space management scheme. In terms of financial contributions, it
would secure money towards bowls, tennis, playing pitches, studio space,
swimming pools, fitness gym, village and community centres infrastructure,
general medical services and general practitioner services, recycling and funds
for Council monitoring.

57. The obligation with Hertfordshire County Council would secure financial
contributions for libraries, first educational land, first, middle and upper
education, childcare services (0-2 and 5-11), special educational needs and
disabilities, waste transfer station, youth, sustainable transport, residential
travel plan evaluation and support and workplace travel plan evaluation and
support and Council monitoring.

58. In addition, the obligation with the County Council would secure provision of a
residential travel plan to include a travel pack and sustainable travel vouchers
to the dwellings and the provision of a workplace travel plan and the provision
of a childcare facility on the site.

59. There is dispute between the parties as to whether the contributions sought for
the number of first, middle and upper school pupils is appropriate. The
appellant agrees with the principle of the need to make contributions for
education provision and the cost per place set by the education authority.
However, they disagree with the number of places to be funded.

60. Buntingford falls within the Hertfordshire Education Authority which operate a 3
tier system of first, middle and upper in this area, alongside early years, post
16 and special educational needs and disabilities provision. The appellant
argues that a 3 tier education system approach artificially penalises developers
who seek to construct new dwellings within a 3 tier education area and the

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 11 Page 137


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

number of school places sought by the education authority is excessive.
Nevertheless, the fact remains that a 3 tier system is in operation and there
are costs associated with the delivery of that system that need to be met.

61. The appellant advocates the use of the Department of Education (DfE) model
which is based on a 2 tier system rather than the Hertfordshire model which
uses the 3 tier system operating in Buntingford. However, the DfE model is not
mandatory and the DfE’s pupil yield data may be considered a starting point or
baseline position which authorities can supplement or adjust according to local
circumstances and evidence. The DfE guidance on Estimating Pupil Yield from
Housing Developments 2023 states ‘The use of [Department for Education]
data is voluntary and [local authorities] can continue to rely solely on local
pupil yield evidence if this is considered appropriate, for instance due to the
local authority holding more detailed and representative data over a longer
period, or data showing significant recent deviation from historic trends’. This
appears to be exactly what the education authority has done. In the round
table discussion the appellant’s representative accepted that the model used by
the County Council is robust and in their evidence the education authority
demonstrated that there is no double counting in the approach taken.

62. The appellant has made comparisons with other charging authorities. However,
this only serves to further demonstrate that other authorities are also taking a
localised approach. Given that the examples cited are different developments in
different authority areas with different data sets, I therefore give limited weight
to the comparisons made.

63. On the evidence before me, I am satisfied that the education requirements of
the Education Authority meet the tests within the regulations and as such are
necessary, directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably
related in scale and kind to the development.

64. Overall, given the policy requirements and infrastructure needs arising from
the development I am satisfied that all of the obligations sought are necessary
to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly related to
the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the
development. They would accord with the tests set out in Regulation 122 of the
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 and the policy tests in the
NPPF.

65. Consequently, I can take all of the obligations into account as part of my
decision. The obligations that are necessary to mitigate the impacts of the
development are neutral in the planning balance. This applies in most cases.
Instances where there would be positive benefits arising from the obligations,
for example the improved bus service, need to be added to the planning
balance. The proposed obligations would not cause harm and as such there
would be no conflict with Policies DEL2, HOU3, CFLR1, CFLR7 and CFLR9 within
the District Plan.

Benefits

66. On a general note, I disagree with the Council’s view that a benefit should be
given less weight if it is policy compliant. A benefit should not be downgraded
just because it is delivering an objective identified in the District Plan. If it

Page hﬁ@&www.qov.uk/planninq—inspectorate 12


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

were, the ability to apply judgement that some policy compliant benefits are
more important than others due to the circumstances of the case would be
removed.

67. For the avoidance of doubt, in ascribing weight to the benefits I have used the
following scale; limited, moderate, significant and substantial.

68. The development is expected to deliver 200 - 240 dwellings within the 5 year
housing land supply period and as such would make an important contribution
in reducing the Council’s housing shortfall. Delivery would extend beyond the 5
year assessment and weight should be given to the longer term delivery. This
is particularly so given the Council is some years off adopting a new
development plan. For these reasons, I attach significant weight to the
proposed housing delivery.

69. The scheme also includes the delivery of 40% affordable housing. In the
context of a need of 3,784 affordable dwellings over the period 2021-2033, I
give this substantial weight.

70. In addition to the 40 affordable housing, the development would include 1%
self build and custom build which equates to 4 dwellings. Demand is notably
greater than delivery and the Council is not meeting its legal duty for provision.
I give this significant weight.

71. The development would include the provision of retail and employment
floorspace. These economic and social benefits would be accessible to people
beyond the development. I give this significant weight.

72. The proposed improvements to the bus service would improve the accessibility
of the site and the benefits secured would go beyond immediately mitigating
demand generated by the proposal and would secure a benefit to the wider
community in terms of access to improved services. This, along with the other
highway improvements proposed would generate a moderate benefit.

73. Similarly, I give the financial contributions to local facilities and the jobs
created during construction moderate weight.

Planning Balance

74. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. I have concluded that the development
would conflict with the spatial strategy of the plan and therefore Policies DSP2
and GRB2 of the District Plan as the scheme would be located outside the
settlement boundary of Buntingford and would not be appropriate development
in the countryside. I give this conflict moderate weight.

75. Accessibility to services and facilities is constrained and the development would
generate a notable proportion of trips by motor vehicles. I give this harm
moderate weight. The scheme would harm the character and appearance of the
landscape although the harm would be limited by the contained nature of the
site. I give this moderate weight. There would be a loss of agricultural land
which I give limited weight.

76. Set against this, there are a number of benefits that would result from the
scheme. These include the delivery of market housing, custom and self build

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 13 Page 139


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

housing and employment and retail opportunities which I give significant
weight. It would increase the delivery of affordable housing which I give
substantial weight and generate public transport and community facility
benefits which I give moderate weight.

77. In balancing the different considerations my approach is influenced by
paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF which is engaged. As the Council is unable to
demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply planning permission should be
granted unless any adverse impact of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the
NPPF taken as a whole.

78. There would be significant benefits from the scheme from the delivery of
market housing and substantial benefits in the delivery of affordable housing.
This is balanced against the harm caused to the strategy of the District Plan
that directs where new development should be located, accessibility to services
and facilities and the landscape. However, I have identified that in each case
only moderate harm would be generated by these conflicts. There would be a
limited harm from the loss of agricultural land.

79. As such, the adverse impacts of the development would not significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the substantial benefits of the proposal. The NPPF
therefore supports the grant of planning permission. The appeal should
therefore be allowed and planning permission granted subject to necessary
planning conditions.

Conditions

80. A schedule of proposed draft planning conditions was submitted prior to the
Inquiry event and there were some subsequent updates and revisions to the
schedule as the event progressed. The conditions were discussed at the round
table session. I have considered the suggested conditions having regard to the
Planning Practice Guidance and the NPPF which states that conditions should
only be imposed where they are necessary, relevant to planning and to the
development permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other
respects.

81. In addition to the standard time limit condition (1) for the submission of
reserved matters and commencement of the development, a condition (2)
defining the remaining reserved matters to be approved and a condition
requiring the development to be carried out in accordance with the approved
plans (3) are necessary in the interests of proper planning and for the
avoidance of doubt. Despite the description of what has been applied for and
the plans approved at this outline stage, a condition (3a) controlling the
quantum of housing, and Class B8 and Class E uses is also necessary for
similar reasons.

Phasing and Use

82. It is necessary for the development to be carried out in accordance with a
Phasing Plan (10) to ensure good design and the delivery of infrastructure. The
provision of the commercial and services uses and retail floorspace are an
important part of the scheme to facilitate sustainable development. It is
therefore necessary to restrict the scale of residential development on the site
until the provision of the buildings associated with these uses are erected (55).

Page M@/www.qov.uk/planninq—inspectorate 14


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

Uses outside of those approved is also restricted to protect vitality and viability
(58).

Design and Appearance

83. Good design is important and high urban design quality is expected in
development plan policy and national guidance. Conditions are therefore
necessary to require the preparation and implementation of a masterplan to
demonstrate how the development would achieve good place making and apply
the principles identified in the parameter plans approved (4). I consider this
scheme to be a significant development and as such this requirement would
comply with Policy DES1 of the District Plan.

84. A Design Principles Document is also necessary (5) to expand details contained
within the Design and Access Statement. This will ensure a more
comprehensive assessment of a wider range of matters than that covered in
the appellant’s Buntingford West Character Area Guidance. Also necessary for
good design is a condition requiring details of external materials (24) and an
Open Space Strategy identifying and detailing matters related to areas of
formal and informal open space, the local play space and distribution of play
areas within the development and the provision of allotments (12). Good
quality hard and soft landscaping will enhance the development and
appropriate planting schemes will also impact positively on the living conditions
of residents. Details of this provision and ensuring their maintenance during
the first 5 years are necessary for the success of the scheme (44 and 56).

85. Given the location of the development I have included a condition removing
permitted development rights relating to the construction of additional storeys
on dwelling houses and terrace buildings in commercial use within the
development but I have amended the Council’s wording for clarity (57).

Archaeology

86. The site is known to contain heritage assets of archaeological interest. To
mitigate the impact of the development on the archaeology a programme of
archaeological work is necessary (13).

Construction

87. The construction of the development would cause disruption to surrounding
roads and those living nearby. It is therefore necessary to mitigate the
negative effects as far as possible through a Construction Traffic Management
Plan (27), by restricting working hours on the site (29), storing materials and
waste in appropriate containers (54), and taking appropriate measures to
control dust emissions (30). To ensure that construction waste is treated in a
sustainable way a Site Waste Management Plan is also necessary (28).

Noise

88. It is necessary to ensure that future residents would not suffer from an adverse
noise environment within their homes. Residential units in close proximity to
commercial uses would be particularly at risk. It is therefore necessary to
control internal noise transmission. The conditions include measurable
parameters in accordance with the recommendations in BS
4142:2014+A1:2019 Methods for Rating and Assessing Industrial and

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 15 Page 141


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

Commercial Sound and BS 8233:2014 Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise
Reduction for Buildings (25, 48, 49).

89. A restriction on the noise rating level of air source heat pumps is also
necessary to protect residential amenity (50). Prior to any commercial
floorspace being used as a gymnasium details of sound insulation and a Noise
and Vibration Management Plan are necessary (52, 53). An acoustic bund and
fence are necessary to ensure future residents do not suffer an adverse noise
environment from the adjacent A10 road (47).

Air Quality

90. Implementation of the mitigation measures identified within the Air Quality
Assessment (July 2023) is necessary to ensure an adequate level of air quality
for the residents of the new development (35). As works are planned to the
nearby waste water treatment works prior to development, an updated odour
modelling assessment and compliance with any mitigation measures contained
within it is necessary to ensure an adequate level of air quality for residents of
the new dwellings (36).

Contamination

91. As the development will include residential development it is necessary to
investigate the potential for contamination and where necessary ensure
remediation is undertaken (14). An Intrusive Ground Investigation, Risk
Assessment and Method Statement is necessary prior to works involving
excavations (16). Measures are also necessary to ensure action is taken if
contamination not previously identified is found to be present during the
construction of the development (15).

92. To prevent contamination through surface water drainage a Surface Water
drainage Scheme is necessary (18) and only permitted drainage systems of the
infiltration of surface water on the ground should be implemented (19). Any
interim and temporary drainage measures required during site clearance and
construction will also require approval (17).

Water Infrastructure

93. Foul water network infrastructure works are likely to be required to
accommodate the proposed development. A condition requiring the necessary
works is therefore needed (34).

Flooding

94. To prevent flooding and to ensure the satisfactory management of sources of
flooding detailed designs of a surface water drainage scheme is necessary (9).
To ensure that the development achieves a high standard of sustainability and
that flood risk is adequately addressed for each new dwelling, any proposed
watercourse alterations are required to be identified and approved (10). A
verification report demonstrating compliance with the surface water drainage
scheme is necessary (33) along with a maintenance and management plan for
the entire surface water drainage system and any existing watercourses (51).

Ecology

Page il 2/www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 16


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

95. An Ecological Impact Assessment, Ecological Management Plan and
Construction Ecological Management Plan is necessary to ensure ecological
interests are protected (20 and 21). Whilst the appellant had suggested that
the necessary Biodiversity Net Gain Plan should be submitted for approval prior
to the commencement of development, I agree with the Council that it should
be timed prior to submission of the first Reserved Matters so that appropriate
consideration is given to securing biodiversity net gain early in the planning
process (22). Whilst the level of biodiversity net gain proposed is not
mandatory for the scheme, the delivery of the gain would be consistent with
Policy NE2 of the District Plan.

Lighting

96. It is necessary to control any external artificial lighting at the commercial
floorspace and at the residential dwellings in order to protect the living
conditions of the occupants of nearby properties (31 and 32).

Fire Safety

97. To ensure resident and visitor safety against fire, the installation of fire
hydrants is necessary (26).

Waste Storage

98. In the interests of protecting the living conditions of residents and a condition
is necessary to secure adequate areas of storage for waste and recycling (46).

Utilities and Media Infrastructure

99. A condition requiring the submission and implementation of the utilities and
media infrastructure to serve the Class E buildings commercial floorspace is
necessary to ensure delivery and good design (7).

Energy Efficiency and Water Efficiency

100. To adapt to climate change, reduce carbon emissions and efficiently use water
resources it will be necessary for the development to demonstrate how the
design, materials and operation of the scheme will minimise overheating in
summer and reduce the need for heating in winter (23).

101. Policy WAT4 and DES4 of the District Plan require water efficiency to respond
to the fact that East Hertfordshire is within one of the most water stressed
areas in the East of England. A condition requiring mains water consumption to
meet a target of 110 litres or less per person per day is necessary to protect
water resources in this water stressed area (45).

Highways

102. To ensure the suitable, safe and satisfactory delivery of transport measures
within the development it is necessary to require details of all hard surfaced
areas within the site, visibility at footways and carriageway accesses and
junctions and the ability for service and emergency vehicles to access and
travel around the site (8).

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 17 Page 143


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

103. To ensure highway safety and avoid extraneous material or surface water on
the highway, a condition is necessary to require compliance with the details/
specifications on the approved plan (7498-GA-0 Rev H) and that arrangements
are made for surface water to be intercepted and disposed of avoiding
discharge from or onto the highway (38). Also to ensure highway safety and
improve access and accessibility a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) enforcing a
20mph speed limits on Luynes Rise and Aspenden Road is necessary. Should
the TRO not be approved alternative means to manage speed limits along the
identified roads will be required (43).

104. To promote and facilitate the ability of people to make transport choices, plans
are necessary to demonstrate how an active travel corridor between the site
and London Road will be provided and how active travel design principles will
be included and implemented within the scheme (11). The submission and
implementation of a bus stop provision and a bus gate facility, cycle storage
(8), scheme for cycle parking (37), a Residential Travel Plan (39) and a
Workplace Travel Plan Statement (40) are all necessary along with the
provision of Electric Vehicle (EV) charging points and their energy sources and
a strategy/ management plan for their maintenance will also be required (41).
50% of the total car parking spaces serving the commercial development
should be served by passive EV and 20% of the total spaces make provision for
active EV charging (42).

K Ford

INSPECTOR

Page itk 4/ www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 18


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3a.

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS

. Application for approval in respect of all matters reserved in this permission shall

be made to the Local Planning Authority within a period of 3 years commencing on
the date of this notice. (b) The development to which this permission relates shall
be begun by not later than the expiration of a period of 2 years commencing on the
date upon which final approval is given by the Local Planning Authority or by the
Secretary of State, or in the case of approval given on different dates, the final
approval of the last such matter to be approved by the Local Planning Authority or
by the Secretary of State.

. Details of the (i) means of access within the site, (ii) appearance, (iii) layout, (iv)

scale and (v) landscaping defined by the Town and Country Planning (General
Development Procedure) Order 1995 (as amended) (hereinafter called "the
Reserved Matters") shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority before any development commences. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the Reserved Matters as approved, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the

following approved plans:

Application site boundary: 10537-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-A-1001 Rev. P02

Development Framework: 10537-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-A-1002 REV P07

Land Use parameter plan 1: 10537-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-A-1003 Rev. P05

Access & Movement parameter plan 2: 10537-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-A-1004 Rev. P07
Green Infrastructure parameter plan 3: 10537-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-A-1005 REV P05
Density & Building Heights parameter plan 4: 10537-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-A-1006 Rev.
PO5

Public Open Space: 10537-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-A-1007 REV P03

Access to A10 and Luynes Rise Drawing 7498-GA-02 REV H

The land use content of the development hereby approved shall comprise not more
than 350 dwellings, a building or buildings with a commercial and services
floorspace (Use Class E and B8) of not more than 4,400 sgm and a building or
buildings with retail floorspace (Use Class E) of no more than 500 sgm.

Before the submission of any Reserved Matters, a Masterplan shall have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
Masterplan shall demonstrate how the development would achieve good place-
making principles, and comprehensively apply the principles established in the
parameter plans hereby approved. The reserved matters submissions shall
thereafter be in accordance with the approved Masterplan.

Before the submission of any reserved matters a Design Principles document shall
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The Design Principles document shall provide more details as to the vision and
concepts of the development across the site, as set out in the submitted Design
and Access Statement, and shall address issues including enhancement of the
public realm, use of external materials, approach to parking provision, community
safety, recycling and servicing and external lighting. The reserved matters
submissions shall thereafter be in accordance with the approved Design Principles
document.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 19 Page 145


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

6. Prior to or in conjunction with any reserved matters submission, a detailed design
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for
any proposed watercourse alteration. Details submitted for any proposed
watercourse alteration must demonstrate there is adequate space for each
watercourse to be naturalised and enhanced, how it is to be naturalised and
enhanced, that flood risk is suitably managed for all storms up to and include the 1
in 100 (1%) AEP Annual Exceedance Probability plus climate change, that the
proposed works do not increase flood risk to the surrounding area, that exceedance
events of the channels do not impact the proposed development and that they are
easily maintainable and accessible. The details shall include long sections and,
cross sections of the proposed watercourses including details of any proposed
crossings. The development shall then be constructed in accordance with the
approved plans.

7. At the same time as the submission of the reserved matters application for
development of the up to 4,400 sgm of commercial and services floorspace (Use
Class E and B8), and up to 500 sgm of retail floorspace (Use Classes E)
(“Commercial Floorspace”), a scheme for the proposed provision of utilities and
media infrastructure to serve the Class E buildings Commercial Floorspace shall be
submitted to the local planning authority for its approval. The scheme shall include
details of how the service infrastructure provision will be connected to the proposed
buildings and the programme of provision. The approved scheme shall be
implemented in full in accordance with the approved timetable and shall thereafter
be maintained in accordance with the approved details.

8. The detailed plans submitted in connection with approval of the Reserved Matters
shall show to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority:

e The details of all hard surfaced areas within the site. This includes, but is not
limited to, all roads, footways, forecourts, driveways, parking and turning areas.

e The level of footway and carriageway visibility from each individual vehicle
access, and the level of visibility from and around each main junction within the
site, within which there shall be no obstruction to visibility between 600mm and
2 m above the carriageway level.

e That service vehicles, including refuse and emergency vehicles, can safely and
conveniently access and route through the site, to include the provision of
sufficient turning and operating areas.

e The provision of sufficient facilities for cycle storage.

e Bus stop provisions/designs within the site.

e Bus gate facility including its design, mechanism for opening and shutting and
on-going maintenance.

All these features shall be provided before first occupation and maintained in

perpetuity.

9. Prior to or in conjunction with the submission of each reserved matters application,
in accordance with the submitted Outline Drainage Strategy Addendum (10537-
WSP-SW-XX-RP-C-005 dated May 2024), detailed designs of a surface water
drainage scheme incorporating the following measures shall be submitted to and
agreed with the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme will be
implemented prior to the first occupation of the development. The scheme shall
address the following matters:

i. Surface water runoff rates will be attenuated to 1.52 |/s/ha of hardstanding, as
stated within section 2.4 of the Drainage Strategy.

Page ﬂgzqs@www.qov.uk/planninq—inspectorate 20


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

ii. Provision of surface water source control features and attenuation storage, sized
and designed to accommodate the volume of water generated in all rainfall events
up to and including the critical storm duration for the 3.33% AEP (1 in 30 year)
and 1% AEP (1 in 100) rainfall events (both including allowances for climate
change). An allowance of 10% urban creep shall be incorporated with the
attenuation volumes for each phase.

iii. Detailed designs, modelling calculations and plans of the of the drainage

conveyance network in the:

e 3.33% AEP (1 in 30 year) critical rainfall event plus climate change to show no
flooding outside the drainage features on any part of the site.

e 1% AEP (1 in 100 year) critical rainfall and the 1% AEP (1 in 100 year) critical
rainfall plus climate change event to show, if any, the depth, volume and
storage location of any flooding outside the drainage features, ensuring that
flooding does not occur in any part of a building or any utility plant susceptible
to water (e.g. pumping station or electricity substation) within the development.
It will also show that no runoff during these events will leave the site
uncontrolled (including a 24hr pump failure) and remains safe.

iv. Finished ground floor levels of properties are a minimum of 300mm above

expected flood levels of all sources of flooding (including the ordinary

watercourses, SuDS features and within any proposed drainage scheme) or
150mm above ground level, whichever is the more precautionary.

v. Details of how all surface water management features to be designed in

accordance with The SuDS Manual (CIRIA C753, 2015), including appropriate

treatment stages for water quality prior to discharge.

10. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with a
Phasing Plan which shall be submitted to and approved in writing before
development commences on site. The Phasing Plan shall include details and a
timetable for when the access road serving the proposed bus route, the
employment floorspace and the local centre will be provided on the site. The
provision of the access road, employment floorspace and the local centre shall be
in full in accordance with the approved Phasing Plan and timetable.

11. Before any works above slab level take place on site, additional plans and details of
improvement works to the existing highway on and off the site shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The submitted plans
and details shall include details to show how an active travel corridor between the
site and London Road will be provided, and how active design principles have been
included into the works, which shall be broadly in accordance with the submitted
WSP Technical Note 1 (“Offsite Active Travel Route”) dated 14 December
2023. The approved highway improvement works and the approved provision of
the active travel corridor shall be implemented in full before the occupation of the
first dwelling on the site and shall be retained as such thereafter.

12. No development shall commence until an Open Space Strategy has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The Open Space
Strategy shall be in accordance with the Masterplan approved under condition 4
and shall:

e Demonstrate the quantum of open space to be provided on site as set out in the
Public Open Space Drawing 10537-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-A-1007 Rev. P03

e Identify the approximate location of the main areas of formal and informal open
space to be provided within the development and set out a proposed
programme for its delivery linked to the development phases;

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 21 Page 147


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

e Outline the local play space and the distribution of play areas within the
development and set out a proposed sequence for its delivery linked to the
development phases;

e Set out (i) a proposed programme for delivery of the area of allotments linked
to the development phases and (ii) proposals for future management of the
allotment area.

Development and delivery of open spaces shall be carried out in accordance with

the approved Open Space Strategy.

13. No development shall take place within the proposed development site until the
applicant, or their agents, or their successors in title, has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a
written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted to the planning
authority and approved in writing. This condition will only be considered to be
discharged when the planning authority has received and approved an
archaeological report of all the required archaeological works, and if appropriate, a
commitment to publication has been made.

14. The development hereby permitted shall not begin until a scheme to deal with
contamination of land/ground gas/controlled waters has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall include all of
the following measures, unless the local planning authority dispenses with any such
requirement specifically in writing:

1. A Phase II intrusive investigation report detailing all investigative works and
sampling on site, together with the results of the analysis, undertaken in
accordance with BS 10175:2011 Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites -
Code of Practice. The report shall include a detailed quantitative human health and
environmental risk assessment.

2. A remediation scheme detailing how the remediation will be undertaken, what
methods will be used and what is to be achieved. A clear end point of the
remediation shall be stated, and how this will be validated. Any ongoing monitoring
shall also be determined.

3. If during the works contamination is encountered which has not previously been
identified, then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed in an
appropriate remediation scheme which shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.

4. A validation report detailing the proposed remediation works and quality
assurance certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full
accordance with the approved methodology shall be submitted prior to first
occupation of the development/the development being brought into use. Details of
any post-remedial sampling and analysis to demonstrate that the site has achieved
the required clean-up criteria shall be included, together with the necessary
documentation detailing what waste materials have been removed from the site.

15. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be
present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing
with the local planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer has
submitted a remediation strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written approval from
the local planning authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as
approved.

Page M&www.qov.uk/planninq—inspectorate 22


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

16. Prior to the commencement of the development, no works involving excavations

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

(e.g. piling or the implementation of a geothermal open/closed loop system) shall
be carried until the following has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority:

i) An Intrusive Ground Investigation to identify the current state of the site and
appropriate techniques to avoid displacing any shallow contamination to a greater
depth.

i) A Risk Assessment identifying both the aquifer and the abstraction point(s) as
potential receptor(s) of contamination.

iiil) A Method Statement detailing the depth and type of excavations (e.g. piling) to
be undertaken including mitigation measures (e.g. appropriate piling design, off
site monitoring boreholes etc.) to prevent and/or minimise any potential migration
of pollutants to public water supply. Any excavations must be undertaken in
accordance with the terms of the approved method statement.

Development shall not commence until details and a method statement for any
interim and temporary drainage measures during the site clearance and
construction phases have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. This information shall provide full details of who will be
responsible for maintaining such temporary systems and demonstrate how the site
will be drained to ensure there is no increase in the off-site flows, nor any
pollution, debris and sediment to any receiving watercourse or sewer system.
Where temporary discharges to a sewer are proposed, written confirmation from
the sewer owner that these have been accepted shall be provided. The site works
and construction phase shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with approved
method statement unless alternative measures have been subsequently approved
by the Local Planning Authority.

Prior to the commencement of development, details of a Surface Water Drainage
Scheme based on both the WSP Flood Risk Assessment and Outline Drainage
Strategy 10537-WSP-SW-XX-RP-C-0002 dated July 2023 and the WSP Outline
Drainage Strategy Addendum (10537-WSP-SW-XX-RP-C-005 dated May 2024),
should be provided that prevents contamination of any public water supply
abstractions present. This shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water to the ground are
permitted other than with the written consent of the local planning authority. Any
proposals for such systems must be supported by an assessment of the risks to
controlled waters. The provision of the drainage systems shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details and retained as such thereafter.

No development shall commence until an Ecological Impact Assessment shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
development shall then be implemented in accordance with the approved details
and retained as such.

No development shall commence until a full Landscape Ecological Management
Plan and a Construction Ecological Management Plan shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall then be
implemented in accordance with the approved details.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 23 Page 149


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

Before or at the same time as the submission of the first Reserved Matters
application, a Biodiversity Net Gain Plan for the whole site, which shall include a
timetable for its implementation, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority
for its approval. This Plan shall describe how the predicted net gain for habitats and
hedgerows respectively will be delivered on the site and maintained for a minimum
period of 30 years. Once approved, the Plan shall be implemented in full.

The development hereby approved shall not progress beyond foundation level
until, details of the design and construction of the development demonstrating how
the design, materials and operation of the development minimises overheating in
summer and reduces the need for heating in the winter to reduce energy demand
and reduces water demand, have been submitted to, and approved in writing by,
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be implemented in
accordance with the approved details.

Prior to any above ground construction works being commenced, details of the
external materials of construction for the development hereby permitted shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and
thereafter the development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
details.

Prior to the commencement of the development, a noise impact assessment shall
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority which demonstrates
that the potential adverse impacts resulting from external noise emitted from all
fixed plant and equipment at the development hereby approved shall be mitigated
and reduced to a minimum. The measurements, calculations and assessment shall
be made according to BS 4142:2014+A1:2019 ‘Methods for rating and assessing
industrial and commercial sound” at 1 metre from the facade of the nearest and /
or most affected noise sensitive premises, with all plant / equipment operating
together at maximum capacity, inclusive of any penalty for tonal, impulsive or
other distinctive acoustic characteristics and taking context into consideration.

No development shall take place until a scheme has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for the provision of fire
hydrants at the development. No part of the development shall be occupied until
the fire hydrants have been installed as approved. Thereafter the fire hydrants
shall be retained in their approved form.

No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic Management Plan

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried out in

accordance with the approved Plan: The Construction Traffic Management Plan

shall include details of:

e the phasing of construction and proposed construction programme.

e the methods for accessing the site, including wider construction vehicle routing.

e the numbers of daily construction vehicles including details of their sizes, at
each phase of the development.

e the hours of operation and construction vehicle movements.

e details of any highway works necessary to enable construction to take place.

e details of construction vehicle parking, turning and loading/unloading
arrangements clear of the public highway.

Page hj_gﬁ@/www.qov.uk/DIanninq-inspectorate 24


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

e details of any hoardings.

e details of how the safety of existing public highway users and existing public
right of way users will be maintained.

¢ management of traffic to reduce congestion.

control of dirt and dust on the public highway, including details of the location

and methods to wash construction vehicle wheels.

the provision for addressing any abnormal wear and tear to the highway.

the details of consultation with local businesses or neighbours.

the details of any other Construction Sites in the local area.

waste management proposals.

Before the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Site Waste
Management Plan (SWMP) for the approved development shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The SWMP should aim to
reduce the amount of waste produced on site and should contain information
including estimated types and County of opportunity quantities of waste to arise
from construction and waste management actions for each waste type during
construction and operation of the development hereby permitted.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved SWMP for
the duration of the development hereby permitted.

In connection with all site preparation, demolition, construction, conversion and
ancillary activities, working hours shall be restricted to 08:00 — 18:00 hours on
Monday to Friday, 08:00 - 13:00 hours on Saturdays, and not at all on Sundays or
Bank / Public Holidays. Vehicles arriving at and leaving the site must do so within
these working hours.

Best Practicable Means (BPM) shall be used in controlling dust emissions during all
site preparation, demolition, construction and ancillary activities. In times of
exceptionally dry weather, additional measures should be put in place to mitigate
against the spread of dust.

Any external artificial lighting at the Commercial Floorspace part of the
development hereby approved shall not exceed lux levels of vertical illumination at
neighbouring premises that are recommended by the Institution of Lighting
Professionals Guidance Note 01/20 ‘Guidance notes for the reduction of obtrusive
light’. Lighting should be minimised and glare and sky glow should be prevented by
correctly using, locating, aiming and shielding luminaires, in accordance with the
Guidance Note.

Any external artificial lighting to the residential dwellings part of the development
hereby approved shall not exceed lux levels of vertical illumination at neighbouring
premises that are recommended by the Institution of Lighting Professionals
Guidance Note 9/19 ‘Domestic exterior lighting: getting it right!’. Lighting should
be minimised, and glare and sky glow should be prevented by correctly using,
locating, aiming and shielding luminaires, in accordance with the Guidance Note.

Prior to the first use of each phase of development of the site, a detailed
verification report, (appended with substantiating evidence demonstrating the
approved construction details and specifications have been implemented in
accordance with the approved surface water drainage scheme) has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The verification report
shall include photographs of excavations and soil profiles/horizons, any installation

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 25 Page 151


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

of any surface water structure and control mechanism and shall be undertaken by
an independent surveyor. The verification report shall demonstrate that the surface
water drainage system has been constructed in accordance with the approved
details. Where necessary, details of corrective works to be carried out along with a
timetable for their completion, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Any corrective works required shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved timetable and subsequently re-surveyed by an
independent surveyor, with their findings submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.

The development shall not be occupied until confirmation has been provided that
either:-

1. All foul water network upgrades (including all sewage works upgrades) required
to accommodate the additional flows from the development have been completed;
or-

2. A development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with the Local
Authority to allow development to be occupied. Where a development and
infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation shall take place other than in
accordance with the agreed development and infrastructure phasing plan.

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the mitigation
measures identified within the WSP Air Quality Assessment dated July 2023 shall
be implemented in full and shall be retained in accordance with those details
thereafter.

No development shall commence on site until an updated odour modelling
assessment has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. Should the assessment identify a need for mitigation of odour impacts,
an odour mitigation measures strategy shall be submitted with this

assessment. The approved assessment including any mitigation identified shall be
implemented in full and retained as such thereafter.

Prior to the first commencement of the development hereby permitted, a scheme
for the parking of cycles including details of the design, level and siting shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved scheme shall be fully implemented before the development is first
occupied (or brought into use) and thereafter retained for this purpose.

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular
access shall be completed and thereafter retained as shown on drawing number
(7498-GA-0 Rev H) in accordance with details/specifications to be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the
highway authority. Prior to first use of the development, appropriate arrangements
shall be made for surface water from the proposed development to be intercepted
and disposed of separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway
carriageway.

At least 3 months prior to the first occupation of the approved development a
detailed Residential Travel Plan for the site shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Travel Plan shall be
implemented in accordance with the timetable and target contained in therein and
shall continue to be implemented as long as any part of the development is

Page hj_ggz/www.qov.uk/DIanninq-inspectorate 26


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

40.

41.

42.

43.

44,

45,

46

47.

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

occupied subject to approved modifications agreed by the Local Planning Authority
as part of the annual review.

At least 3 months prior to the first occupation of the approved Commercial
Floorspace part of the development a detailed Workplace Travel Plan for the
Commercial Floorspace shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The approved Travel Plan Statement shall be implemented in
accordance with the timetable and target contained in therein and shall continue to
be implemented as long as any part of the development is occupied subject to
approved modifications agreed by the Local Planning Authority as part of the
annual review.

The occupation of the development authorised by this permission shall not begin
until the details of the siting, type and specification of Electric vehicle charging
points (EVCPs) (with one EVCP provided per dwelling unless otherwise agreed), the
energy sources and the strategy/management plan for supply and maintenance of
the EVCPs have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority for that phase. All EVCPs shall be installed in accordance with the
approved details and permanently maintained and retained. No dwelling shall be
occupied until the EVCP serving that dwelling has been installed.

Once approved, the car parking spaces to serve the commercial development
hereby permitted shall make provision for 50% of the total number of spaces as
passive EV charging and 20% of the total number of spaces as active EV charging.

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a Traffic
Regulation Orders (TROs) to enforce a 20mph speed limits on Luynes Rise and
Aspenden Road that are required as part of improving access and accessibility to
the site must be secured in place and implemented. Should the TROs not be
approved under the provisions of the Highways Act, alternative means to manage
and/or mitigate speed limits along Luynes Rise and Aspenden Road and a timetable
for their provision shall be submitted to the local planning authority for its approval
and implemented in full in accordance with the approved timetable.

Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of
landscaping shall be submitted and approved in writing and shall include full details
of both hard and soft landscape proposals including roads, pavements, parking
areas, finished levels or contours, hard surfacing materials, retained landscape
features, planting plans, schedules of plants, species, planting sizes, density of
planting and implementation timetable and thereafter the development should be
implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Prior to the first occupation, measures shall be incorporated within the
development to ensure a water efficiency standard of 110 litres (or less) per
person per day is provided.

Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, full details of waste
and recycling storage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The development shall then be implemented in accordance with
the approved details which shall be retained as such thereafter.

No dwelling shall be occupied until details of the acoustic bund and fence have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 27 Page 153


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

approved details shall be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the
first dwelling and retained as such thereafter.

48. Prior to occupation of the development, an acoustic design scheme including
insulation and mitigation proposals recommended within RPS Report ref.
JAJ03857-REPT-01-R2 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority as necessary to achieve the ‘good’ internal room and external
space amenity noise standards in accordance with the criteria of BS 8233:2014
‘Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings’. This scheme shall
include recommendations made in the aforementioned report for good acoustic
design and take into account the ventilation strategy of the development. Approved
details shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the development and
thereafter be permanently retained.

The noise levels in habitable rooms (living rooms and bedrooms) and the external
amenity areas at the development hereby approved shall meet the amenity
standards in accordance with the criteria of BS 8233:2014 ‘Guidance on sound
insulation and noise reduction for buildings’ for internal rooms and external
amenity areas. Construction methods and materials to achieve this shall be
implemented prior to use of the development and thereafter be permanently
retained.

49. Prior to occupation of the development, a post-completion noise assessment shall
be carried out on a representative sample of dwellings prior agreed with the Local
Planning Authority and shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority to demonstrate that the building envelope achieves an adequate
level of protection in order to achieve the ‘good’ internal room and external space
amenity noise standards in accordance with the criteria of BS 8233:2014 ‘Guidance
on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings’. These levels must also be
met whilst taking any building services/ equipment into account.

50. The noise rating level of air source heat pumps shall not exceed 35dBA at any
neighbouring habitable room window when operating at maximum capacity and
inclusive of any penalty for tonal, impulsive or other distinctive acoustic
characteristics. Should it not be possible to demonstrate that no tonality is present,
a 6dB tonality penalty shall be applied to the specific noise level.

51. Prior to the first occupation of the site, a detailed maintenance and management
plan for the entire surface water drainage system and any existing watercourses
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
maintenance and management plan shall cover the following:

a. Who will be responsible for managing all aspects of the surface water drainage
system, including piped drains.

b. Incorporate the as-built layouts and designs of all features and components
including locations.

c. What the maintenance and inspection requirements are of all aspects of the
surface water system and ordinary watercourses and how these are to be carried
out.

d. Evidence of how these responsibility arrangements will remain in place
throughout the lifetime of the development.

The agreed maintenance and management plan shall thereafter remain in place for
the lifetime of the development.

Page hj£54jwww.qov.uk/planninq—inspectorate 28


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

52.

53.

54,

55.

56.

57.

58.

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

Prior to any of the Commercial Floorspace being used as a gymnasium, details
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority of the
sound insulation of the doors, windows, walls and roof structure. Details shall
demonstrate that the sound insulation value DnT,w is enhanced by at least 20dB
above the Building Regulations value and, where necessary, additional mitigation
measures are implemented to ensure that airborne and structure borne noise and
vibration from gym activities including the use of gym equipment, weight machines
/ free weights and amplified music / television or gym instructor voices are not
audible at noise sensitive premises. Approved details shall be implemented prior to
first use of the development and thereafter be permanently retained.

Prior to any of the Commercial Floorspace being used as a gymnasium, a Noise &
Vibration Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority. The Noise & Vibration Management Plan shall include but is not
limited to:

e Measures for the effective isolation of exercise equipment, loudspeakers and
plant with regards to vibration.

¢ Details of self-closing devices to all external doors and any further measures to
ensure that no external doors or windows are fixed in an open position while gym
activities are in progress. The Noise & Vibration Management Plan shall be fully
implemented as approved prior to first use and any approved details shall
thereafter be permanently retained.

All waste materials and rubbish associated with site preparation, demolition or
construction shall be contained on site in appropriate containers which, when full,
should be promptly removed to a licensed disposal site.

Prior to the occupation of the 262" dwelling (or 75% of the total number of
dwellings whichever is the sooner), the buildings proposed to accommodate at
least 4,000 sq m of commercial and services floorspace (Use Class E and B8) and
at least 400 sq m of retail floorspace (Use Class E) shall be erected in their
approved location with only internal works remaining to these buildings to enable
them to be occupied.

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details. Any trees or plants that, within a period of five years after
planting, are removed, die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning
Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced as soon as is
reasonably practicable with others of species, size and number as originally
approved, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any
variation.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification), no development permitted by
virtue of Classes (AA) and (AB) of Part 20 of Schedule 2 to the Order shall be
undertaken.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes)
Order 1987 (As Amended), or any amending Order, no works or development as
described in Class E (a), (b) and (c) of the Order shall not be undertaken without
prior written permission of the Local Authority.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 29 Page 155


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

APPEARANCES
FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY:

Josef Cannon

He called:

Bobby Browne
Jonathan Lee

Vic Hector

Neil Button
**Charlie Thompson

*Hannah Regis

FOR THE APPELLANT:

Zack Simons

Rebecca Sage

They called:

Roland G Bolton

Jon Etchells
Andy Williams
Mehmet Ahmet
Hannah Albans

*Heather Katherine Knowler

Of King’s Counsel instructed by East
Hertfordshire District Council

Wynne Williams Associates
Opinion Research Services

VLM Associates

East Hertfordshire District Council
Hertfordshire County Council

Hertfordshire County Council

of Counsel

of Counsel, both instructed by Hannah
Albans of DLP Planning Ltd

Senior Director of DLP Planning Ltd and
Head of the Strategic Planning
Research Unit

Director of Jon Etchells Consulting Ltd
Founding Director of Define

Technical Director at WSP

Director at DLP Planning Ltd

Educational Facilities Management
Partnership Ltd

Page hj_gﬁ@/www.qov.uk/planninq-inspectorate

30


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

INTERESTED PARTIES:

Chris Berry Planning Manager CPRE

Cllr Graham Bonner Buntingford Town Council

Cllr Sue Nicholls East Hertfordshire District Council Ward
Member

* Present at Education Round Table Session
** pPresent at Education Round Table Session and Planning Obligations Round Table
Session

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 31 Page 157


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED DURING INQUIRY

INQ1 Council Opening

INQ2 Appellant Opening

INQ3 Updated version of CD14.3 Housing Statement of Common Ground V2
INQ4 Updated Statement by Clir Nicholls

INQ5 Missing map from CD15.2

INQ6 Letter to Inspector from Mr C Hinchliff MP

INQ7 Appeal Decision app/v2255/w/23/3333811

INQ8 Revised Appearance List for Council

INQ9 Comparison Schedule of Draft Planning Conditions 16.7.24
INQ10 Draft Education Round Table Agenda 24.7.24

INQ11 386 Bus Timetable from 8 January 2024

INQ12 831 Bus Timetable from 4 September 2023

INQ13 18 and 331 Bus Timetable from 2 June 2024

INQ14 Possible Changes to the 18 and 831 Bus Timetable

INQ15 CD14.3 Housing Supply Statement of Common Ground V7
INQ16 Comparison Schedule of Draft Planning Conditions 23.7.24

INQ17 Summary of Obligations Contained in the Draft Section 106 Agreements as
at 23 July 2024

INQ18 Updated Calculation Summary Data Education Matters

INQ19 Schedule of Draft Planning Conditions 29.7.24

INQ20 Comparison Schedule of Draft Planning Conditions Following Round Table
INQ21 CIL Compliance Statement East Hertfordshire District Council

INQ22 Council Closing Submissions

INQ23 Council Closing Submissions Appendix: The Bolton Rules

INQ24 Appellant Closing Submission

INQ25 Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government v West Berkshire
District Council [2016] 1 W.L.R. 3923

Page hj_§58/www.qov.uk/planninq—inspectorate 32


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/W/24/3340497

INQ26 Gallagher Homes Ltd v Solihull MBC [2014] EWCA Civ 1610
INQ27 Letter from Hertfordshire County Council 6 August 2024

INQ28 Summary of Obligations Contained in the Section 106 Agreement 8 August
2024

INQ29 Certified copy of S106 Agreement (with District Council) dated 13 August
2024

INQ30 Certified copy of S106 Agreement (with County Council) dated 15 August
2024

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 33 Page 159


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decisions
Site visit made on 12 July 2024

by R J Redford MTCP MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 15t August 2024

Appeal A Ref: APP/J1915/W/24 /3336216

Elm Cottage, Gravesend, Albury, Hertfordshire SG11 2LW

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Ms Heather Brooks against the decision of East Hertfordshire
District Council.

e The application Ref is 3/23/1786/HH.

e The development proposed is described as a single storey side extension being added to
the south end of EIm Cottage to create a fourth ground floor bedroom and en-suite to
accommodate a growing family.

Appeal B Ref: APP/J1915/Y/24/3336213

Elm Cottage, Gravesend, Albury, Hertfordshire SG11 2LW

e The appeal is made under section 20 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) against a refusal to grant listed building consent.

e The appeal is made by Ms Heather Brooks against the decision of East Hertfordshire
District Council.
The application Ref is 3/23/1787/LBC.
The works proposed are described as a single storey side extension being added to the
south end of EIm Cottage to create a fourth ground floor bedroom and en-suite to
accommodate a growing family.

Decision

Appeal A Ref: APP/J1915/W/24/3336216
1. The appeal is dismissed.

Appeal B Ref: APP/J1915/Y/24/3336213
2. The appeal is dismissed.

Procedural Matters

3. For clarity both Appeal A and Appeal B refer to the same proposed scheme.
Therefore, in this decision I have referred to them jointly unless specified
otherwise.

Main Issues

4. The main issues are whether the proposal would preserve a Grade II listed
building known as “Elm Cottage” (Ref: 1347712) (the LB) and any of the
features of special architectural or historic interest that it possesses, and the

Page €3} www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/W/24/3336216, APP/11915/Y/24/3336213

extent to which it would preserve or enhance the character or appearance of
the Patmore Heath Conservation Area (the CA).

Reasons

5. As the proposal relates to a listed building and is in a conservation area, I have
had special regard to sections 16(2), 66(1) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) (the Act).

6. The LB is a timber-framed, thatched building which is considered to have been
originally constructed in the late 17t - early 18™ century. Its significance is
based on it being a good example of a rural vernacular house, but it is noted it
has been extended at both ends and to the rear. Nevertheless, the original
timber framing and central chimney stack are clearly visible internally and the
side extensions have been built sympathetically to the original core. The rear
extension is, however, obviously modern in form.

7. The CA is characterised by the broadly triangular heath at its heart and the
collection of rural dwellings which surround it. It was later extended to
incorporate part of the lane that links the heath and Gravesend. This was
because it was considered a good example of a sunken lane. The lane has a
verdant appearance which is instructed by the overhanging trees and mature
hedgerows, and in combination with the traditional properties along it,
including the LB, emphasises its character. A key view through the CA is along
the sunken lane from the southern corner of the appeal site towards the
Catherine Wheel public house and the narrow approach towards the heath.

8. The proposal would further extend the LB to the southern end. It would follow
the traditional rectilinear form of the cottage. However, the proposal would
overstep the rear elevation of the LB and require a complicated roof form to
ensure the upper floor windows in the existing side elevation are not obscured.
This would add complexity and create an awkward relationship between the
existing and proposed. In combination with the existing additions to the LB, the
proposal would therefore fail to preserve the simple form and vernacular
appearance of the LB.

9. Itis acknowledged a similar roof form was accepted on the rear extension.
However, this simply shows the awkwardness of the form and replication of this
does not automatically mean it is appropriate.

10. The proposed use of plain tiles and weatherboarding would delineate the
extension from the main house. This differentiation in materials between a
main house and extension is hot uncommon and can create a subservient
relationship with the host dwelling should that proposed be of a suitable size
and form. It is also noted that the proposal would only require the removal of
fabric related to a later extension. In both instances, these elements would
have a neutral impact on the LBs significance.

11. The Council has raised concerns in relation to the proposed fenestration in the
extension. Nevertheless, this would also be considered to have a neutral impact
as they would not be so dissimilar to the existing mix on the LB and would be
clearly within that the proposed extension.

12. The CA was expanded to include the LB because of how it instructs the historic
linkage between the heath and Gravesend, in effect its character. Therefore, as
the proposal would harm the significance of the LB it cannot be considered to

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2 Page 161


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/W/24/3336216, APP/11915/Y/24/3336213

preserve or enhance the character of the CA. Nevertheless, the combination of
the proposed single storey height of the extension, the boundary hedging and
the sunken nature of the lane ensure the proposal would not be visually
obvious when travelling through the CA or within the key views along the lane.
As such the proposal is unlikely to harm the appearance of the CA.

13. For the reasons given above I have found the proposal would harm the
significance of the LB and fail to preserve the character of the CA. This would
therefore constitute less than substantial harm, nevertheless this would be at
the lower end.

14. As I have identified less than substantial harm to the heritage assets,
paragraph 208 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework)
advises that it is weighed against the public benefits of the scheme.

15. The appellant does not consider the proposal harmful so has not referenced
any benefits of the scheme, beyond the private need for additional
accommodation. The appeal site is also already within residential use and so
the optimal viable use of the LB is secured and is not dependent on the
proposal being approved.

16. As there are no public benefits which would outweigh the less than substantial
harm identified. The proposal would therefore fail to satisfy the requirements of
the Act and the Framework. It would also conflict with East Hertfordshire
District Plan Policies DES4, HOU11, GBR2 and HA4 insofar as they require the
design of new extensions or alterations to be appropriate in relation to the
character and appearance of the host building and relevant historic assets.

Other Matters

17. A lack of harm in relation to the living conditions of neighbouring residents, on-
site parking, ecology, and archaeology is noted. However, a lack of harm is a
neutral factor and so does not weigh for or against the proposal.

18. It is also noted that the proposal was developed from a previously refused
scheme. Nonetheless, this does not alter my findings on the main issues.

Conclusion

19. For the reasons given above the proposal would conflict with the development
plan when read as a whole and there are no sufficiently weighted material
considerations, including the Framework, which would indicate a decision
otherwise. Appeal A and Appeal B are, therefore, dismissed.

R.J Redford

INSPECTOR

Page hj_gﬁz/www.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 3


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

' The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 16 July 2024

by J D Westbrook BSc (Hons) MSc MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 27 August 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/]J1915/D/24/3338448
48 Chapel Lane, Letty Green, Hertfordshire, SG14 2PA

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission.

e The appeal is made by Mrs Michelle White against the decision of East Hertfordshire
District Council.

e The application Ref is 3/23/2074/HH.

e The development proposed is described as the erection of a two-storey rear extension.

Decision

1. The appeal is dismissed.

Main issues

2. The main issues in this case are:

e Whether the proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt,
having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework December 2023
(NPPF) and any relevant development plan policies.

e The effect of the proposal on the openness of the Green Belt.

e If inappropriate, would the harm by reason of inappropriateness, and any
other harm, be clearly outweighed by other considerations so as to amount
to the very special circumstances required to justify the proposal.

Reasons

3. No 48 is a detached house situated on the south side of Chapel Lane. It is part
of a row of detached houses of varying design along this part of the road and,
in common with neighbouring properties, is set well back from the road. It
would appear that the properties in the vicinity of No 48 have long rear
gardens that back onto an area of open land between the houses and a large
commercial horticultural premises to the south. To the north and further to the
east of Chapel Lane is open countryside. The proposed development would
involve the construction of a two-storey extension across part of the rear
elevation of the house, and the insertion of new windows and doors.

Whether inappropriate?

4. The NPPF states that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to
the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special
circumstances. A local planning authority should regard the construction of new
buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt with certain exceptions, including

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate Page 163


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3338448

the extension of a building provided that it does not result in disproportionate
additions over and above the size of the original building. When considering
any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure that
substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt.

5. Policy GBR1 of the Council’s District Plan 2018 states that planning applications
within the Green Belt will be considered in line with the provisions of the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). In the explanation relating to
planning applications in the Green Belt, it reiterates that inappropriate
development in the Green Belt should not be approved except in ‘very special
circumstances’, and that ‘very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the
potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other
harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. In this respect the
development plan policy is consistent with the policy set out in the NPPF.

6. The appellant has referred to other examples of development granted
permission in the Green Belt close to the appeal site, where large increases in
size have been involved. However, it would appear that these examples are not
of similar circumstances to that of the current proposal, in terms of either type
of development, position in relation to the host building, or degree of change
with regard to the scale of the actual development proposed, and I have, in
any case, considered this case on its own merits.

7. In this case, the proposed development is an extension and as such, is to be
considered against potential exception (c¢) under paragraph 154 of the NPPF.
From the information before me, it would appear that the original dwelling has
been extended a number of times in the past, and that the existing dwelling
plus the proposed extension would have a floorspace some 97% larger than
the original. Whilst, in itself, the proposed extension would not be a large
addition, when considered cumulatively with previous additions I find that it
would represent a disproportionate addition over and above the size of the
original building. It would, therefore, be inappropriate development in the
Green Belt.

Openness

8. The proposed extension would partly infill a space at the rear of the house, but
would then extend beyond the rear building line by a small amount into the
rear garden. It would, therefore, have some impact on the openness of the
Green Belt, though the degree of harm would be minimal.

Other considerations

9. The appellant has referred to a Certificate of Lawful Development (CLD) that
was issued in 2013 relating to a two-storey rear extension at No 48 which
appears to be of a slightly smaller scale and a different design to that of the
current proposal. From the information before me, it is unclear as to whether
changes to the General Permitted Development Order since 2013 could
potentially invalidate the CLD. It is questionable, therefore, whether it could
constitute a realistic ‘fall-back’ position.

10. Even if the CLD were to be considered a fall-back position, the time that has
elapsed since the CLD was issued, during which time the development has not
been implemented, leads me to consider that there is only a small degree of
probability that it would be carried out.

Page hj_g@ﬂljwww.qov.uk/DIanninq-insDectorate 2


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Appeal Decision APP/]J1915/D/24/3338448

11. Finally, I note that the CLD scheme is smaller than that of the current proposal.
In addition, it would cause less harm than the current scheme in that would
retain the characteristic pitched roof design of the main body of the dwelling,
whereas the current scheme would introduce a flat-roofed element that would
be somewhat incongruous in the context of the design of the rest of the house.

12. In conclusion on the CLD issue, from the evidence before me, I find that there
is some doubt as to the validity of the CLD. Even if the CLD scheme were to be
considered a fall-back position, the time delay in implementing it indicates only
a limited probability of it being built. In any case, the current proposed scheme
would be larger and of a somewhat uncharacteristic design. For all of these
reasons I give the existence of the CLD scheme only limited weight

13. The appellant notes that planning permission was granted by the Council in
2014 for an almost identical development to that of the current proposal. The
2014 permission has, however, now lapsed and, although granted under a
similar policy from an earlier development plan, the assessment of that
proposal by the Council took place at a time when the CLD would have
remained valid. Moreover, it would appear that little detailed consideration was
given by the Council at that time to specific quantitative data relating to the
scale of the proposal. Given the actual figures available to me, I have found
that the 97% increase in floorspace would represent a disproportionate
addition over and above the size of the original building. The existence of the
much earlier permission does not alter my conclusion on this matter and, once
again, I afford it limited weight.

The Planning Balance

14. I find that the proposal would represent inappropriate development in the
Green Belt. In the light of my considerations given in paragraphs 9-12 above, I
afford the existence of the CLD scheme only limited weight. Similarly, for
reasons given in paragraph 13, the existence of a previous planning permission
for a similar proposal in 2014, should be afforded only limited weight. On
balance, therefore, I conclude that there are no other considerations which,
separately or cumulatively, clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt by way
both of inappropriateness and impact on openness, which must be afforded
substantial weight.

Conclusion

15. I find that the proposed extension would be inappropriate development in the
Green Belt, and the very special circumstances necessary to justify the
development would not exist. On this basis, the proposal would conflict with
Policy GBR1 of the LP and with national policy in the NPPF. Consequently, I
dismiss the appeal.

J D Westbrook.

INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3 Page 165


https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED AUGUST/SEPTEMBER 2024
Head of Planning and Building Control

Application
Number

Proposal

Address

3/23/1753/FUL  Erection of 1 residential dwelling, detached garage, new pond and creation of Land Adjacent To Duck Street

3/23/2016/FUL

3/23/2165/FUL

3/23/2362/0UT

3/23/2368/FUL

3/23/2414/0UT

3/24/0138/FUL

3/24/0344/ADV

3/24/0351/ADV

3/24/0554/FUL

3/24/0669/FUL

3/24/0749/HH

3/24/0774/HH

3/24/0880/FUL

3/24/1083/HH

3/24/1138/HH

3/24/1219/HH

new vehicle access.

Demolition of stable block and erection of replacement single storey, two
bedroom dwelling.

CottageThe StreetFurneux
PelhamBuntingford SG9
OLA

Hunsdonbury House
Hunsdonbury LaneHunsdon
SG12 8PW

Erection of two storey detached dwelling with associated access, parking and Land Adj To 66 Eastwick

landscaping

Outline Application for the demolition of the jolly waggoners PH and the
erection of three residential dwellings along with associated communal areas
and amenity space. All matters reserved except access.

Removal of single storey side projection. Construction of two storey side
extension and change of use from commercial to C3 use class for 4
residential units.

Outline application for the erection of up to 7 dwellings with associated
access, parking and landscaping. All matters reserved except access.

Demolition of the village shop. Erection of a replacement village shop with 2
roof dormer windows in the east facing flank roof slope.

Retrospective application for an internally illuminated window LCD display
Retention of 2 externally illuminated fascia signs.

Change of Use from Car Park to Car Wash (Sui Generis) with the erection of
two umbrella canopy's, two galvanized steel canopy's, storage and office
buildings with decking, screening and associated works.

Demolition of outbuildings and erection of 2, four bedroomed dwellings with
associated garages, parking, landscaping and vehicular access. Erection of
garage to serve Bluebell Cottage.

Alterations to the detached first floor granny annexe and ground floor
garage/storage outbuilding, including a single storey side storey extension,
convert the ground floor storage room and incorporate into the existing first
floor granny annexe. Change part of first floor granny annexe into ancillary
storage.

One and a half storey side extension with front dormer and rear Juliet
balcony

Erection of first floor side extension above garage to both Ash House and
Birch House.

Relocation and redesign of previously approved outbuilding comprising a
swimming pool and associated facilities

Erection of part single, part two storey rear extension. Single storey front
extension. Relocation of first floor rear balcony. Insertion of 4 rooflight
windows. Addition of pitched roof to front. Alterations to fenestration

Single storey side and front extensions. Two storey rear extension.
Alterations to fenestration and dormer window and erection of photovoltaic
panels. New patio and associated landscaping.

Page 166

RoadEastwick CM20 2QZ

The Jolly Waggoners Widford
RoadMuch Hadham SG10
6EZ

Wickham HouseStation
RoadBraughing SG11 2PB

Land East Of Albury RoadLittle
HadhamSG11 2DN

2 Datchworth
GreenDatchworth SG3 6TL

110 High StreetWare SG12
9AP

34 Amwell EndWare SG12
9HW

Van Hages Garden Centre
Amwell HillGreat Amwell
SG12 9RP

Bluebell CottageHare Street
SG9 0DY

Kingscote The StreetFurneux
Pelham SG9 0JZ

20 Buckwells FieldHertford
SG14 3FF

Ash House And Birch House
Stanstead
RoadHunsdonSG12 8FF
Lingfields Whempstead
RoadBenington SG2 7BX

60 The WickHertford SG14
3HR

The Heights Galloway
RoadBishops Stortford
CM23 2HS

Decision

Refused
Delegated

Refused
Delegated

Refused
Delegated

Refused
Delegated

Refused
Delegated

Refused
Delegated

Refused
Delegated

Refused
Delegated
Refused
Delegated
Refused
Delegated

Refused
Delegated

Refused
Delegated

Refused
Delegated
Refused
Delegated

Refused
Delegated

Refused

Delegated

Refused
Delegated

Appeal Start Appeal

Date
19/09/2024

06/08/2024

14/08/2024

18/09/2024

18/09/2024

18/09/2024

18/09/2024

03/09/2024

05/09/2024

02/09/2024

18/09/2024

12/09/2024

12/09/2024

16/09/2024

20/09/2024

13/09/2024

13/09/2024

Procedure
Written
Representation

Written
Representation

Written
Representation
Written
Representation
Written

Representation

Written
Representation

Written
Representation

Written
Representation
Fast Track
Written
Representation
Written

Representation

Fast Track

Fast Track

Written
Representation

Fast Track

Fast Track

Fast Track



Public Inquiry and Hearing Dates
All Hertford Council Chamber unless specified

Application Case Address Proposal Appeal Procedure Appeal Date
Officer Status Type
3/21/1451/FUL  |Diane Barn 2 Gregorys FarmDane Change of use of existing holiday letting accommodation building to single residential |INPROG [Hearing 09/07/2024
Verona EndHertfordshireSG12 OPH dwelling house
3/22/0714/FUL  |Diane The White HorseWare Change of use from public house (with ancillary accommodation) to single residential |INPROG [Hearing 25/06/2024
Verona RoadWaresideWareHertfordshireS dwelling.
G127QX
3/23/1447/OUT |Hannah |Land East Of The Outline planning application (with all matters reserved except for access) for up to INPROG |Public 16/07/2024
Weston |A10BuntingfordHertfordshire 350 dwellings, up to 4,400 sgm of commercial and services floorspace (Use Class E Inquiry
and B8), and up to 500 sqgm of retail floorspace (Use Classes E) and other associated
works including drainage, access into the site from the A10 and Luynes Rise (but not
access within the site), allotments, public open space and landscaping

/9T abed




89T abed

Major, Minor and Other Planning Applications

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL

Cumulative Performance
( calculated from April 2023 )

s3]l sl el 3]3ls]3]3s]8]%
L > . h o o ol > o J o) L
© S = P ©
£ | = 3 3 2 | &l 2|a| 8| & | =
Total Applications
Received 181 324 496 661 817 979
National
. Designation
Pergentage achieved 3 §. N < N N 3 N N 0 9 9 Targets (set
against Local and R > i o S S = é 8 L P L by
National Targets g = 3 3 2 A @) z a) S i = Government)
Major % 100% | 75%| 80%| 80%| 83%| 83% Major % 60%
Minor and Other % 88%| 90%| 91%| 91%| 91%| 91% Minor % 70%
38| 3133133888
. F c Y [e)] L c 0 a
< = 3 3 < o S z & S L =
Total number of
appeal decisions
(Monthly) 6 5 15 13 11 16
Number Allowed
against our refusal
(Monthly) 2 1 2 1 4 7
Total number of
appeal decisions
(Cumulative) 6 11 26 39 50 66
Number Allowed
against our refusal
(Cumulative) 2 3 5 6 10 17

d9 'ON N31l VANIOV



	Agenda
	4 Minutes - 18 September 2024
	5 Planning Applications for Consideration by the Committee
	East Herts Council Report
	Date of Meeting: 	23 October 2024
	Report by: 		Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building 				Control
	Report title:		Planning Applications for Consideration by the 				Committee
	Ward(s) affected:	All
	Summary
	RECOMMENDATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE:
	A recommendation is detailed separately for each application and determined by the Committee, as appropriate, or as set out for each agenda item.
	1.0	Proposal(s)
	2.0	Background
	3.0 	Reason(s)
	4.0 	Options
	5.0 	Risks
	6.0 	Implications/Consultations
	Community Safety
	Data Protection
	Equalities
	Environmental Sustainability
	Financial
	Health and Safety
	Human Resources
	Human Rights
	Legal
	Specific Wards

	7.0 	Background papers, appendices and other relevant material
	Contact Member	Councillor Vicky Glover-Ward, Executive Member for Planning and Growth
	vicky.glover-ward@eastherts.gov.uk
	Contact Officer  	Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building Control, Tel: 01992 531656
	Report Author		Peter Mannings, Committee Support Officer, 				Tel: 01279 502174





	5a 3/24/0824/HH - Rear Outhouse at 1 Mangrove Drive, Hertford, Hertfordshire, SG13 8AW
	1 Mangrove Drive 3240824HH - Plan

	6 Items for Reporting and Noting
	Appeals Decided - August-September Copies 2024.pdf
	3325473 Appeal Decision.pdf (p.1-8)
	Appeal Decision - 3341805.pdf (p.9-15)
	Appeal Decision  3329066.pdf (p.16-22)
	Appeal Decision 3331655.pdf (p.23-27)
	APPEAL DECISION 3342536.pdf (p.28-30)
	Decision - 3341046.pdf (p.31-33)
	3340988 - Decision.pdf (p.34-37)
	Decision - 3339742.pdf (p.38-40)
	Appeal Decision - 3342885.pdf (p.41-45)
	Decision - 3339922.pdf (p.46-48)
	APPEAL DECISIONS 3344777 & 3344778.pdf (p.49-53)
	3343771 & 3343765 Appeal Decision.pdf (p.54-57)
	3342357 Appeal Decision .pdf (p.58-60)
	3342761 Appeal Decision .pdf (p.61-62)
	Appeal Decision - 3345146.pdf (p.63-65)
	APPEAL DECISION 3342719.pdf (p.66-68)
	APPEAL COSTS DECISION 3342719.pdf (p.69-70)
	APPEAL DECISION 3346475.pdf (p.71-75)
	Appeal Decision - 3346232.pdf (p.76-79)
	Appeal Decision - 3334648.pdf (p.80-82)
	Appeal Decision - 3329668.pdf (p.83-88)
	3334643 - Appeal Decision.pdf (p.89-92)
	Decision
	1. The appeal is dismissed.
	Preliminary Matters

	2. Since the application was determined the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) has been revised. Both the main parties have had the opportunity to comment during the appeal process.
	3. As part of this appeal, the Council has provided evidence0F  it can now demonstrate a 5-year supply of housing land. This has not been contested by the appellant and I have proceeded on this basis.
	4. An updated Ecological Impact Assessment (EIA) dated November 2023 has been submitted as part of the appeal. The Council has reviewed and commented on the document, and so I have had regard to it in reaching my decision.
	Background and Main Issues

	5. There is no dispute between the main parties that the appeal scheme would result in limited infilling inside the village. Therefore, it is not necessary to consider the effect of the proposed development on Green Belt openness or the demonstration ...
	6. Therefore, the main issues of this appeal are the effect of the development on:
	 the character and appearance of the area; and
	 protected species and biodiversity.
	Reasons

	Character and appearance
	7. The appeal site is an elongated irregular shaped parcel of land located between Chapel Lane and Cole Green Way. A short narrow public footpath runs between the site and the new property allowed on appeal2F  (No 27). The site at the time of my visit...
	8. Opposite the appeal site are detached dwellings located in well-sized plots, set back from the road, with generous front and rear gardens. These nearby dwellings are positioned in an orderly arrangement fronting the road. This arrangement gives a d...
	9. The size, position and layout of the surrounding dwellings results in a notable rhythm of development, which contributes positively to the character and appearance of the surrounding area. As identified by the previous inspectors’ decisions and mat...
	10. East Herts District Plan (DP) Policy VILL3, amongst other things, seeks development to be well designed and in keeping with the character of the village it is located. The appeal site is located close to No 27, a contemporary-designed dwelling. Su...
	11. I acknowledge that the appellant has sought to address the concerns of the Inspectors on the previous irritations. In doing so the evidence before me indicates that the proposed dwelling is now located in a narrower section of the site than the pr...
	12. The positioning of the dwelling in this location would be at odds with the more spacious plots with dwellings set back from the road in the immediate vicinity. The proposal would therefore appear as a cramped development within a constrained narro...
	13. Moreover, the large expanse of flat roof would be visible along parts of Chapel Lane and more so from Cole Green Way, given the changes in topography. As a result, the appeal scheme would be distinctly at odds with the prevailing character of neig...
	14. I acknowledge the appellant’s comments that flat roof features on the appeal site for the previous schemes and at the development at No 27 have not drawn significant concerns from Inspectors. However, the scheme at No 27 was found to be harmful to...
	15. With the exception of views to the east, windows would be constrained given the short boundary separation distances and the height and location of existing and proposed boundary treatments.  As a result, future occupiers may seek to remove this ve...
	16. Additionally, having seen the appeal site from a number of viewpoints, there is nothing before me to suggest that the landscaping scheme proposed would greatly improve the character of Chapel Lane.
	17. For the above reasons, the proposed development would be harmful to the character and appearance of the appeal site and surrounding area. It would therefore conflict with DP Policies VILL3 and DES4. These require amongst other things, a high stand...
	Protected species and biodiversity
	18. Bats, all of which are protected species under the Wildlife and Countryside Act and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations, as amended. The updated EIA identifies building one as having a low value for roosting bats. The updated EIA ...
	19. The appeal scheme would see the demolition of building one. No clear evidence is available before me to satisfactorily conclude that the appeal scheme would not result in the destruction of bat roosts or cause disturbance, injury, or death to any ...
	20. The updated EIA identifies the existing habitats present on site, which include the existence of neutral grassland, scattered trees, bramble scrub and mature trees. This is not disputed by the Council.
	21. Notwithstanding the narrow and irregular shape of the appeal site, the built form-to-plot ratio is limited in terms of the overall site area. Based on the proposed plans submitted, there appears to be more than sufficient space remaining to accomm...
	22. However, in light of the above, I cannot be certain that there would not be harm to protected species. As a result, it would fail to accord with DP Policy NE3, which seeks to ensure that proposals have no adverse impact on protected species. The p...
	Other Matters

	23. As noted by the appellant, the land is currently unoccupied. However, no substantive evidence has been put forward that there is no demand for a stable and paddock in the surrounding area. As such, I am unconvinced that the appeal site is in need ...
	24. As established above, the Council can now demonstrate a sufficient supply of housing land. As such, paragraph 11.d) ii. of the Framework is not engaged. Nonetheless, there would be benefits from the contribution of one modern, sustainably built dw...
	25. There would also be social and economic benefits, including for the village, arising from the construction and occupation of the dwelling. Environmental benefits would also arise from BNG, as well as improving the health of trees onsite. However, ...
	Conclusion

	26. The proposal would provide a biodiversity net gain on-site. However, this would not outweigh the harm to the character and appearance of the area or the potential harm to protected species, namely bats. As such, the proposal conflicts with the dev...
	A Hickey
	INSPECTOR

	Appeal decision 3340497.pdf (p.93-125)
	3336213 3336216 - Appeal Decision.pdf (p.126-128)
	APPEAL DECISION 3338448.pdf (p.129-131)

	Appeals Lodged August-Sept 2024.pdf
	Appeal Hearing Dates (June 2024).pdf
	DMC Stats




